



RESEARCH ARTICLE

The global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups. II. Even Figuretoin series to Pessel periods

From Eisenstein series to Bessel periods

Raphaël Beuzart-Plessis¹ and Pierre-Henri Chaudouard²

Received: 2 March 2025; Accepted: 28 March 2025

2020 Mathematical Subject Classification: Primary - 11F70; Secondary - 11F72, 22E50

Abstract

We state and prove an extension of the global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture and the Ichino-Ikeda conjecture to the case of some Eisenstein series on unitary groups $U_n \times U_{n+1}$. Our theorems are based on a comparison of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formulas. A new point is the expression of some interesting spectral contributions in these formulas in terms of integrals of relative characters. As an application of our main theorems, we prove the global Gan-Gross-Prasad and the Ichino-Ikeda conjecture for Bessel periods of unitary groups.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	2		
	1.1	Arthur parameters and weak base change	2		
	1.2	An extension of the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture to some Eisenstein series	4		
	1.3	The case of Bessel periods	6		
	1.4	On some spectral contributions of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formulas	9		
	1.5	Organization of the paper	12		
2	Preliminaries				
	2.1	Algebraic and adelic groups	12		
	2.2	Space of functions	14		
	2.3	Around Arthur's partition	16		
3	On the spectral expansion of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula for unitary groups				
	3.1	Notations	19		
	3.2	Truncated kernel	21		
	3.3	Truncation operator and distributions J^U_{ν}	22		
	3.4	Proof of main theorems	25		
	3.5	The (U, U') -regular contribution in the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula	30		
4	The	(G,H)-regular contribution in the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula	37		
	4.1	Statement and proof	37		
	4.2	The relative character in terms of Whittaker functions	43		
5	Inte	rtwining periods and Whittaker functions	46		
	5.1	Notations	46		
	5.2	Epstein series and intertwining periods	47		

© The Author(s), 2025. Published by Cambridge University Press. This is an Open Access article, distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution licence (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted re-use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

¹ Aix Marseille Univ, CNRS, 12M Marseille, France; E-mail: raphael.beuzart-plessis@univ-amu.fr (corresponding author).

²Université Paris Cité, IMJ-PRG, Bâtiment Sophie Germain, 8 place Aurélie Nemours, F-75013 Paris CEDEX 13 France, Institut universitaire de France (IUF); E-mail: Pierre-Henri.Chaudouard@imj-prg.fr.

	5.3	Period of a pseudo-Eisenstein series: first computation	48	
	5.4	Period of a pseudo-Eisenstein series: computation in terms of the Whittaker functional	50	
	5.5	Final result	5.	
6	The	(G,H)-regular contribution to the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula: alternative proof	5	
	6.1	Statement	5'	
	6.2	Spectral decomposition of the Flicker-Rallis period for regular cuspidal data	5	
	6.3	Proof of Theorem 6.1.1.1	6	
7	Pro	of of Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture: Eisenstein case	6	
	7.1	Global comparison of relative characters	6	
	7.2	Proof of Theorem 1.2.3.1	6	
	7.3	Proof of Theorem 1.2.4.1	7	
8	Application to the Gan-Gross-Prasad and Ichino-Ikeda conjectures for Bessel periods			
	8.1	Groups	7	
	8.2	Measures	7	
	8.3	Global periods	7	
	8.4	Local Bessel periods	7	
	8.5	Relation between global periods	7	
	8.6	Relations between local periods	7	
	8.7	Unramified computation	8	
	8.8	Reduction to the corank one case	9	
A	Wey	l character formula for non-connected groups	9	
Re	ferenc	es	9	

1. Introduction

1.1. Arthur parameters and weak base change

1.1.1.

2

In some sense, this paper is a sequel of [BPCZ22], where we proved the global Gan-Gross-Prasad (see [GGP12, section 24]) and the Ichino-Ikeda conjectures for a product of unitary groups $U(n) \times U(n+1)$ (see [II10] and [Har14]). The goal of the present paper is two-fold: first, we state and prove an extension of these two conjectures to the case of some Eisenstein series. Second, we show that this extension, when applied to some specific Eisenstein series, implies the global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture and its refinement à la Ichino-Ikeda for general Bessel periods of unitary groups. To state our results, we first review the notion of Arthur parameter.

1.1.2. Hermitian Arthur parameter.

Let E/F be a quadratic extension of number fields and c be the nontrivial element of the Galois group Gal(E/F). Let \mathbb{A} be the ring of adèles of F. Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer. Let G_n be the group of automorphims of the E-vector space E^n . We view G_n as an F-group by Weil restriction. For an automorphic representation Π of $G_n(\mathbb{A})$, we denote by Π^* its conjugate-dual. Let us introduce some definitions. A discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter of G_n is an irreducible automorphic representation Π of $G_n(\mathbb{A})$ such that

- Π is isomorphic to the full induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_Q^{G_n}(\Pi_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_r)$, where Q is a parabolic subgroup of G_n with Levi factor $G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}$ where $n_1 + \ldots + n_r = n$;
- Π_i is a conjugate self-dual cuspidal automorphic representation of $G_{n_i}(\mathbb{A})$, and the Asai *L*-function $L(s, \Pi_i, \operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}})$ has a pole at s = 1 for $1 \le i \le r$.
- the representations Π_i are mutually non-isomorphic for $1 \le i \le r$;

The integer r and the representations $(\Pi_i)_{1 \le i \le r}$ are unique (up to a permutation). We set $S_{\Pi} = (\mathbb{Z}/2\mathbb{Z})^r$.

For our purpose, we need more general Arthur parameters of G_n , which we call regular Hermitian Arthur parameters and which are by definition the automorphic representations Π of G_n such that

- Π is isomorphic to the full induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_Q^{G_n}(\Pi_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_r \boxtimes \Pi_0 \boxtimes \Pi_r^* \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_1^*)$, where Q is a parabolic subgroup of G_n with Levi factor $M_Q = G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r} \times G_{n_0} \times G_{n_r} \times \ldots \times G_{n_1}$, where $n_0 + 2(n_1 + \ldots + n_r) = n$;
- Π_0 is a discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter of G_{n_0} ;
- Π_i is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $G_{n_i}(\mathbb{A})$ (with character central trivial on $A_{G_{n_i}}^{\infty}$) for $1 \leq i \leq r$;
- the representations $\Pi_1, \ldots, \Pi_r, \Pi_1^*, \ldots, \Pi_r^*$ are mutually non-isomorphic.

The representation Π_0 is uniquely determined by Π and is called the discrete component of Π . We set

$$S_{\Pi} = S_{\Pi_0}$$
.

The parabolic subgroup Q depends on the ordering on the representations $\Pi_1, \ldots, \Pi_r, \Pi_1^*, \ldots, \Pi_r^*$: we fix one.

Let $\mathfrak{a}_{Q,\mathbb{C}}^*$ be the complex vector space of unramified characters of $Q(\mathbb{A})$. We have the real subspaces \mathfrak{a}_Q^* and $i\mathfrak{a}_Q^*$, respectively, of real and unitary characters. Let w be the permutation that exchanges the two blocks G_{n_i} corresponding to Π_i and Π_i^* for all $1 \le i \le r$. We set

$$\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^* = \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{O,\mathbb{C}}^* \mid w\lambda = -\lambda\}.$$

For any $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we define Π_{λ} as the full induced representation

$$\operatorname{Ind}_{Q}^{G_n}\left((\Pi_1\boxtimes\ldots\boxtimes\Pi_r\boxtimes\Pi_0\boxtimes\Pi_r^*\boxtimes\ldots\boxtimes\Pi_1^*)\otimes\lambda\right).$$

If $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi}^* = \mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^* \cap i\mathfrak{a}_Q^*$, then Π_{λ} is irreducible.

1.1.3. Unitary groups and (weak) base change

For any integer $n \geqslant 1$, let \mathcal{H}_n be the set of isomorphism classes of nondegenerate c-Hermitian spaces h over E of rank n. We identify any $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$ with a representative, and we denote by U(h) its automorphism group. Let $h \in \mathcal{H}$ and $P \subset U(h)$ be a parabolic subgroup with Levi factor M_P . There exist a decomposition $n_0 + 2(n_1 + \ldots + n_r) = n$ and $h_{n_0} \in \mathcal{H}_{n_0}$ such that M_P is identified with $G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r} \times U(h_{n_0})$. Let σ be a cuspidal automorphic subrepresentation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ (with central character trivial on the central subgroup A_P^∞ defined in §2.1.6). Accordingly, we have $\sigma = \Pi_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_r \boxtimes \sigma_0$ with Π_i a cuspidal automorphic representation of G_{n_i} (with central character trivial on $A_{G_n}^\infty$).

We shall say that a regular Hermitian Arthur parameter Π of G_n is a *weak base-change* of (P, σ) if there exist a parabolic subgroup Q of G_n with Levi factor $M_Q = G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r} \times G_{n_0} \times G_{n_r} \times \ldots \times G_{n_1}$ and a discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter Π_0 of G_{n_0} such that

- 1. Π is isomorphic to the full induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_O^{G_n}(\Pi_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_r \boxtimes \Pi_0 \boxtimes \Pi_r^* \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_1^*);$
- 2. for almost all places of F that split in E, the local component $\Pi_{0,\nu}$ is the split local base change of $\sigma_{0,\nu}$.

Note that this implies that the representations $\Pi_1, \ldots, \Pi_r, \Pi_1^*, \ldots, \Pi_r^*$ are mutually non-isomorphic and that Π_0 is in fact the discrete component of Π . If condition 2 above is satisfied, we shall also say that Π_0 is the weak base change of σ_0 .

If Π is a weak base-change of (P, σ) , we can naturally identify the space $\mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$ of unramified characters of $P(\mathbb{A})$ with $\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^*$, and so we will not distinguish between the two spaces. Thus, for $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we can consider the full induced representation $\Sigma_{\lambda} = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{U_h}(\sigma \otimes \lambda)$.

1.1.4.

We can extend the notions above to the case of a product. Let $n,n'\geqslant 1$ be integers. A regular Hermitian Arthur parameter of $G_n\times G_{n'}$ is then an automorphic representation of the form $\Pi=\Pi_n\boxtimes \Pi_{n'}$, where Π_k is a regular Hermitian Arthur parameter of G_k for k=n,n'. Then we set $S_\Pi=S_{\Pi_n}\times S_{\Pi_{n'}}$ and $\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^*=\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi_n,\mathbb{C}}^*\times \mathfrak{a}_{\Pi_{n'},\mathbb{C}}^*$ etc. For $\lambda=(\lambda_n,\lambda_{n'})\in\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we set $\Pi_\lambda=\Pi_{n,\lambda_n}\boxtimes \Pi_{n',\lambda_{n'}}$. A parameter Π is discrete if both Π_n and $\Pi_{n'}$ are discrete.

Let $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$ and $h' \in \mathcal{H}_{n'}$. Let $P = P_n \times P_{n'}$ be a parabolic subgroup of $U(h) \times U(h')$. We say that a regular Hermitian Arthur parameter $\Pi = \Pi_n \boxtimes \Pi_{n'}$ of $G_n \times G_{n'}$ is a weak base-change of (P, σ) if Π_n and $\Pi_{n'}$ are, respectively, weak base-changes of (P_n, σ_n) and $(P_{n'}, \sigma_{n'})$, where $\sigma = \sigma_n \boxtimes \sigma_{n'}$.

1.2. An extension of the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture to some Eisenstein series

1.2.1. Corank 1 and regular Hermitian Arthur parameter

Let $n \ge 1$. Consider the 'corank 1' case $G = G_n \times G_{n+1}$. Let $\Pi = \Pi_n \boxtimes \Pi_{n+1}$ be a regular Hermitian Arthur parameter of G. We can write $\Pi_k = \operatorname{Ind}_{Q_k}^{G_k}(\Pi_{1,k} \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \Pi_{r_k,k})$ for some parabolic subgroup $Q_k \subset G_k$ for k = n, n+1 and some cuspidal automorphic representations of $G_{n_{i,k}}(\mathbb{A})$ with $n_{1,k} + \ldots + n_{r_k,k} = k$. We shall say that the parameter Π is H-regular if for all $1 \le i \le r_n$ and $1 \le j \le r_{n+1}$, the representation $\Pi_{i,n}$ is not isomorphic to the contragredient of $\Pi_{j,n+1}$.

Remark 1.2.1.1. In the core of the paper, H will stand for the diagonal subgroup G_n of G, and the term H-regular refers to the fact that H-regular Hermitian Arthur parameter features some particularly nice properties with respect to the (regularized) Rankin-Selberg period over that subgroup (roughly stemming from the fact that the Rankin-Selberg L-function of Π has no poles). A discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter is necessarily H-regular. Otherwise, we would get a self-conjugate cuspidal representation Π_i of G_{n_i} for some $n_i \ge 1$ such that both Asai L-functions $L(s, \Pi_i, As^+)$ and $L(s, \Pi_i, As^-)$ have a pole at s = 1: this is not possible.

On the unitary side, let $h_0 \in \mathcal{H}_1$ be the element of rank 1 given by the norm $N_{E/F}$. Then we attach to any $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$ the following algebraic groups over F:

- the product of unitary groups $U_h = U(h) \times U(h \oplus h_0)$, where $h \oplus h_0$ denotes the orthogonal sum;
- the unitary group U'_h of automorphisms of h viewed as a subgroup of U_h by the obvious diagonal embedding.

1.2.2.

Let $P = M_P N_P \subset U_h$ be a parabolic subgroup with Levi factor M_P and unipotent radical N_P . Let σ be a cuspidal automorphic subrepresentation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ with central character trivial on A_P^{∞} . Let $\mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_h)$ be the space of automorphic forms on the quotient $A_P^{\infty}M_P(F)N_P(\mathbb{A})\setminus U_h(\mathbb{A})$ such that for all $g\in U_h(\mathbb{A})$,

$$m \in M_P(\mathbb{A}) \mapsto \delta_P(m)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \varphi(mg)$$

belongs to the space of σ . Here, N_P is the unipotent radical of P and δ_P is the modular character of $P(\mathbb{A})$. The representation of $U_h(\mathbb{A})$ on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_h)$ is isomorphic to the induced representation $\Sigma = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{U_h}(\sigma)$. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_h)$. For $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{\Pi,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we introduce the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi,\lambda)$ and the Ichino-Yamana regularized period

$$\mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{[U_h']} \Lambda_u^T E(x,\varphi,\lambda) \, dx, \qquad (1.2.2.1)$$

where $[U'_h] = U'_h(F) \setminus U'_h(\mathbb{A})$ is equipped with the Tamagawa measure, Λ_u^T is the truncation operator introduced by Ichino-Yamana in [IY19] depending on an auxiliary parameter T whose definition is recalled in §3.3.2. The integral is absolutely convergent. Moreover, if the base change of Σ is a H-regular Arthur parameter (which will be our assumption), then the integral does not depend on T (see

proposition 3.5.3.1 below). In this case, $\mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\varphi,\lambda)$ is a meromorphic function, which is regular outside the singularities of the Eisenstein series. In particular, it is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi}^*$.

1.2.3. The Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for some Eisenstein series

Theorem 1.2.3.1. Let Π be a H-regular Hermitian Arthur parameter of G and let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi}^*$. The following two statements are equivalent:

1. The complete Rankin-Selberg L-function of Π_{λ} (including Archimedean places) satisfies

$$L\left(\frac{1}{2},\Pi_{\lambda}\right)\neq 0;$$

2. There exist $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$, a parabolic subgroup $P \subset U_h$ with Levi factor M_P and σ an irreducible cuspidal automorphic subrepresentation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ such that Π is a weak base change of (P, σ) and the period integral $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\varphi, \lambda)$ induces a nonzero linear form on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_h)$.

Remark 1.2.3.2. The Levi subgroup M_P is determined up to conjugation by the parameter Π . Moreover, we have $P = U_h$ if Π is discrete. In this case, the theorem is proved in [BLZZ21, Theorem 1.8] if Π is cuspidal and in [BPCZ22, Theorem 1.1.5.1] for a general discrete Hermitian parameter. The novelty of the theorem is to consider *non-discrete* Arthur parameters and thus periods of *proper* Eisenstein series on unitary groups.

1.2.4. Factorization of periods of some Eisenstein series à la Ichino-Ikeda

Let $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$. Let P be a parabolic subgroup of U_h with Levi factor M_P and let σ be an irreducible cuspidal automorphic subrepresentation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ such that the weak base change of (P,σ) is a regular Hermitian Arthur parameter Π . We have a restricted tensor product decomposition $\sigma = \bigotimes_{v \in V_F}' \sigma_v$ over the set V_F of places of F. We assume that σ is tempered – that is, for every place v, the local representation σ_v is tempered. Let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi}^*$. We define Π_{λ} and Σ_{λ} as above. Let $\Sigma_{\lambda,v} = \operatorname{Ind}_P^{U_h}(\sigma_v \otimes \lambda)$ and $\Pi_{\lambda,v}$ be their local components.

We set

$$\mathcal{L}(s, \Sigma_{\lambda}) = \left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi}^*)} \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} L(s + i - 1/2, \eta^i) \frac{L(s, \Pi_{\lambda})}{L(s + 1/2, \Pi_{\lambda}, \operatorname{As}')},$$

where η denotes the quadratic idele class character associated to the extension E/F, $L(s,\eta^i)$ is the completed Hecke L-function associated to η^i and $L(s,\Pi_\lambda, As')$ is the L-function associated to $As^{(-1)^n} \boxtimes As^{(-1)^{n+1}}$. Note that with our hypothesis, the function $L(s,\Pi_\lambda, As')$ has a pole of order $\dim(\mathfrak{a}_\Pi^*)$ at s=1. Thus, the function $(s-1)^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_\Pi^*)}L(s,\Pi_\lambda, As')$ is holomorphic and nonvanishing at s=1. In particular, the function $\mathcal{L}(s,\Sigma_\lambda)$ is holomorphic at $s=\frac{1}{2}$.

We denote by $\mathcal{L}(s, \Sigma_{\lambda, \nu})$ the corresponding quotient of local *L*-factors; namely, for *s* in some half-space, we have

$$\mathcal{L}(s, \Sigma_{\lambda}) = \left(s - \frac{1}{2}\right)^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{\Pi}^*)} \prod_{v \in V_F} \mathcal{L}(s, \Sigma_{\lambda, v}).$$

For each place v of F, we define a *local normalized period* $\mathcal{P}_{h,\sigma_v}^{\natural}: \Sigma_v \times \Sigma_v \to \mathbb{C}$ as follows:

$$\mathcal{P}^{\natural}_{h,\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}}(\varphi_{\nu},\varphi'_{\nu}) = \mathcal{L}\left(\frac{1}{2},\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}\right)^{-1} \int_{U'_{h}(F_{\nu})} (\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}(h_{\nu})\varphi_{\nu},\varphi'_{\nu})_{\nu} dh_{\nu}, \quad \varphi_{\nu},\varphi'_{\nu} \in \Sigma_{\nu}.$$

It depends on the choice of a Haar measure dh_{ν} on $U'_h(F_{\nu})$ as well as an invariant inner product on σ_{ν} which gives in the usual way an invariant product on Σ_{ν} denoted by $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\nu}$. By the temperedness

assumption, the integral is absolutely convergent [Har14, Proposition 2.1] and the local factor $\mathcal{L}(s, \Sigma_{\lambda, \nu})$ has neither zero nor pole at $s = \frac{1}{2}$.

We introduce on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_h)$ the Petersson inner product given by

$$(\varphi,\varphi)_{\mathrm{Pet}} = \int_{A_P^\infty M_P(F)N_P(\mathbb{A}) \backslash U_h(\mathbb{A})} |\varphi(g)|^2 dg, \ \ \varphi \in \sigma.$$

Recall that we have normalized the period integral $\mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\lambda)$ by choosing the invariant Tamagawa measures on $[U_h']$. We also normalize the Petersson product by using the quotient of Tamagawa measures. We assume that the local Haar measures dh_v on $U_h'(F_v)$ are such that the product $\prod_v dh_v$ gives the Tamagawa measure on $U_h'(\mathbb{A})$.

Theorem 1.2.4.1. Let Π and (P,σ) as above. For $\lambda \in \mathfrak{ia}_{\Pi}^*$ and every nonzero factorizable vector $\varphi = \otimes_{v}' \varphi_{v} \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_h) \simeq \otimes_{v \in V_F}' \Sigma_{v}$, we have

$$\frac{|\mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\varphi,\lambda)|^2}{(\varphi,\varphi)_{\text{Pet}}} = |S_{\Pi}|^{-1} \mathcal{L}\left(\frac{1}{2},\Sigma_{\lambda}\right) \prod_{\nu} \frac{\mathcal{P}_{h,\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}}^{\natural}(\varphi_{\nu},\varphi_{\nu})}{(\varphi_{\nu},\varphi_{\nu})_{\nu}}.$$
 (1.2.4.1)

Remark 1.2.4.2. By [Har14, Theorem 2.12] and our choice of measures, almost all factors in the right-hand side are equal to 1. As in remark 1.2.3.2, the statement reduces to [BPCZ22, Theorem 1.1.6.1] for a discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter Π and even to [BLZZ21, Theorem 1.10] if Π is moreover simple.

1.3. The case of Bessel periods

1.3.1.

Let $n \ge m \ge 0$ be two integers of the same parity. We have n = m + 2r for some $r \ge 0$. Recall that we denote by h_0 the 1-dimensional Hermitian space given by the norm $N_{E/F}$. Let $h_s \in \mathcal{H}_2$ be the orthogonal sum of h_0 and $-h_0$. For any $h \in \mathcal{H}_m$, we define $\tilde{h} \in \mathcal{H}_n$ to be the orthogonal sum of h and r copies of h_s denoted by h_s^1, \ldots, h_s^r . For each $1 \le i \le r$, let (x_i, y_i) be a hyperbolic basis of h_s^i ; that is, we have $h_s^i(x_i, x_i) = h_s^i(y_i, y_i) = 0$ and $h_s^i(x_i, y_i) = 1$. We consider also the orthogonal sum $h_{n+1} = \tilde{h} \oplus h_0 \in \mathcal{H}_{n+1}$. We denote by v_0 the vector of h_0 corresponding to $1 \in E$. We have a diagonal embedding

$$U(h) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}_h = U(h) \times U(h_{n+1})$$

for which the image of U(h) in $U(h_{n+1})$ is the subgroup which acts by the identity on $h_0 \oplus h_s^1 \oplus \ldots \oplus h_s^r$. Let $B \subset U(h_{n+1})$ be the stabilizer of the isotropic flag

$$(0) \subsetneq \text{vect}(x_1) \subsetneq \text{vect}(x_1, x_2) \subsetneq \dots \subsetneq \text{vect}(x_1, \dots, x_r). \tag{1.3.1.1}$$

Let N be the unipotent radical of B. Then the group U(h) normalizes N. Let $\mathcal{B}_h = U(h) \ltimes (\{1\} \times N)$: this is the so-called Bessel subgroup of \mathcal{G}_h .

1.3.2. Bessel periods

Let $\psi: \mathbb{A}/F \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be a nontrivial continuous character. We define a character $\psi_N: [N] \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ by

$$\psi_N(u) = \psi\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} h_{n+1}(ux_{i+1}, y_i) + h_{n+1}(uv_0, y_r)\right), \quad u \in [N].$$

This character extends uniquely to a character $\psi_{\mathcal{B}_h} : [\mathcal{B}_h] \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ that coincides with ψ_N on [N] and is trivial on [U(h)]. Let σ be a cuspidal automorphic subrepresentation of $\mathcal{G}_h(\mathbb{A})$. We define the *global*

Bessel period for $\varphi \in \sigma$ by the absolute convergent integral

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi}(\varphi) = \int_{[\mathcal{B}_h]} \varphi(g) \psi_{\mathcal{B}_h}(g) dg.$$

1.3.3. The Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for Bessel periods

Let $G^{\flat} = G_m \times G_{2n+1}$. We can now state our first theorem about Bessel periods.

Theorem 1.3.3.1. Let Π be a discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter of G^{\flat} . The following assertions are equivalent:

1. The complete Rankin-Selberg L-function of Π satisfies

$$L\left(\frac{1}{2},\Pi\right)\neq 0;$$

2. There exist a Hermitian form $h \in \mathcal{H}_m$ and an automorphic cuspidal subrepresentation σ of $\mathcal{G}_h(\mathbb{A})$ such that its weak base to G^{\flat} is Π and the Bessel period

$$\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi}(\varphi)$$

does not vanish identically on σ .

Remarks 1.3.3.2.

- The case r = 0 is just a particular case of Theorem 1.3.3.1.
- Assume m = 0. Then the *L*-function is the constant function of value 1. So the assertion 1 is automatically satisfied. However, the group \mathcal{G}_h is the quasi-split unitary group U_{2r+1} of rank 2r + 1. Moreover, the Bessel subgroup is a maximal unipotent subgroup of U_{2r+1} . Then the Bessel period is the so-called Fourier-Whittaker coefficient. The theorem is proved in the work of Ginzburg-Rallis-Soudry; see [GRS11].
- The direction $2 \Rightarrow 1$ is also proved by D. Jiang-L. Zhang; see [JZ20, Theorem 5.7].

1.3.4.

In our approach, Theorem 1.3.3.1 is a consequence of Theorem 1.2.3.1. To explain this, we may and shall assume r>0. We start with a discrete Hermitian Arthur parameter Π of G^b . It can be written $\Pi=\Pi_m\boxtimes\Pi_{n+1}$, where Π_m and Π_{n+1} are respective discrete parameters of G_m and G_{n+1} . Let α_1,\ldots,α_r be r characters of $E^\times\backslash\mathbb{A}^1_E$ such that the characters $\alpha_1,\ldots,\alpha_r,\alpha_1^*,\ldots,\alpha_r^*$ are two by two distinct (we recall that α_i^* denotes the conjugate-dual of α_i). Let $Q_n\subset G_n$ be a parabolic subgroup of Levi factor $G_1^r\times G_m\times G_1^r$. Then

$$\tilde{\Pi} = \operatorname{Ind}_{Q_n}^{G_n}(\alpha_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \alpha_r \boxtimes \Pi_m \boxtimes \alpha_1^* \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \alpha_r^*) \boxtimes \Pi_{n+1}$$

is a regular Hermitian Arthur parameter of $G = G_n \times G_{n+1}$. Even if $\tilde{\Pi}$ is not discrete, it is at least Hregular in the sense of §1.2.1: this is an obvious consequence of remark 1.2.1.1 and the assumption on
the characters α_i . We have an identification $\mathbb{C}^r \simeq \mathfrak{a}_{\tilde{\Pi},\mathbb{C}}^*$ such that if $\lambda_s \in \mathfrak{a}_{\tilde{\Pi},\mathbb{C}}^*$ is the image of (s,\ldots,s) with $s \in \mathbb{C}$, we have

$$\tilde{\Pi}_{\lambda_s} = \operatorname{Ind}_{O_n}^{G_n}(\alpha_1|\cdot|_E^s \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \alpha_r|\cdot|_E^s \boxtimes \Pi_m \boxtimes \alpha_1^*|\cdot|_E^{-s} \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \alpha_r^*|\cdot|_E^{-s}) \boxtimes \Pi_{n+1}.$$

For simplicity, we set $\tilde{\Pi}_s = \tilde{\Pi}_{\lambda_s}$. By elementary properties of Rankin-Selberg *L*-function, it is clear that assertion 1 of 1.3.3.1 is equivalent to 1':

1'. There exists $s \in i\mathbb{R}$ such that $L(\frac{1}{2}, \tilde{\Pi}_s) \neq 0$.

Let $h \in \mathcal{H}_m$ and σ be an automorphic cuspidal subrepresentation of \mathcal{G}_h whose weak base to G^{\flat} is Π . Let $P_n \subset U(\tilde{h})$ be the parabolic subgroup stabilizing the isotropic flag

$$0 \subseteq \text{vect}(x_r) \subseteq \text{vect}(x_r, x_{r-1}) \subseteq \ldots \subseteq \text{vect}(x_r, \ldots, x_1).$$

(Note that this flag is opposite position to (1.3.1.1).) and set $P=P_n\times U(h_{n+1})$; a parabolic subgroup of $U_{\tilde{h}}=U(\tilde{h})\times U(h_{n+1})$. Then $G_1'\times G_h$ is a Levi factor M_P of P. Set $\tilde{\sigma}=\alpha_1\boxtimes\ldots\boxtimes\alpha_r\boxtimes\sigma$. This is an automorphic cuspidal representation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$, and $\tilde{\Pi}$ is the weak base change of (P,σ) . Let $\varphi\in\mathcal{A}_{P,\tilde{\sigma}}(U_{\tilde{h}})$. As in subsection 1.2, we denote by $U_{\tilde{h}}'$ the 'diagonal' subgroup of $U_{\tilde{h}}$. In the case at hand, the restriction of the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi,\lambda)$ to $[U_{\tilde{h}}']$ is rapidly decreasing for any $\lambda\in\mathfrak{a}_{\tilde{\Pi},\mathbb{C}}$, where the Eisenstein series is regular, and for any such λ , we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{U_{\tilde{h}}'}(\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{[U_{h}']} E(x,\varphi,\lambda) \, dx$$

where the left-hand side is defined according to (1.2.2.1) and the right-hand side is absolutely convergent (see Proposition 3.5.3.1 assertion 3). Moreover, the map $s \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{U_{\tilde{h}}'}(\varphi, \lambda_s)$ is meromorphic and holomorphic on $i\mathbb{R}$. We prove in Proposition 8.8.2.1 that the map $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{\sigma}(\mathcal{G}_h) \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi}(\varphi)$ does not vanish identically if and only if there is $s \in \mathbb{C}$ such that the map $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{U_{\tilde{h}}'}(\varphi, \lambda_s)$ does not vanish identically on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\tilde{\sigma}}(U_{\tilde{h}})$. This last fact is eventually a consequence of some unfolding identity that roughly takes the following form:

$$\mathcal{P}_{U_{\tilde{h}}'}(\varphi,\lambda_s) = \int_{\mathcal{B}'(\mathbb{A})\setminus U_{\tilde{h}}'(\mathbb{A})} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi}(\varphi_s(h)) dh$$

for $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\tilde{\sigma}}(U_{\tilde{h}})$, where φ_s stands for the corresponding element of $\operatorname{Ind}_{P}^{U_{\tilde{h}}}(\tilde{\sigma} \otimes \lambda_s)$ (given through the choice of a suitable Iwasawa decomposition $U_{\tilde{h}}(\mathbb{A}) = P(\mathbb{A})K$ that is implicit in the definition of the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi, \lambda_s)$) and $\mathcal{B}' = U(h) \rtimes V$ with V the unipotent radical of the parabolic subgroup of $U(\tilde{h})$ stabilizing the isotropic subspace $\operatorname{vect}(x_1, \dots, x_r)$. It should be emphasized however that this identity does not make sense per se, as the Eulerian integral on the right-hand side is not absolutely convergent in general. More precisely, it has to be 'interpreted in the sense of L-functions', which requires some nontrivial unramified computations of local integrals involving Bessel functions. We refer the reader to Section 8 and, more specifically, 8.7 and 8.8 for details.

It follows that condition 2 of Theorem 1.3.3.1 holds for $h \in \mathcal{H}_m$ and σ if and only if the following assertion holds:

2'. There exists $s \in i\mathbb{R}$ such that $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{U'_{\tilde{h}}}(\varphi, \lambda_s)$ does not vanish identically on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma}(U_{\tilde{h}})$.

It is then straightforward to deduce Theorem 1.3.3.1 from Theorem 1.2.3.1.

1.3.5. Local Bessel periods

From now on, we fix $h \in \mathcal{H}_m$ and a decomposition of the character $\psi = \bigotimes_{v \in V_F} \psi_v$ from which we get a decomposition $\psi_{\mathcal{B}_h} = \bigotimes_{v \in V_F} \psi_{\mathcal{B}_h,v}$, where $\psi_{\mathcal{B}_h,v}$ is a character of $\mathcal{B}_h(F_v)$. Let v be a place of F. The integral

$$\int_{\mathcal{B}_h(F_v)} f_v(g_v) \psi_{\mathcal{B}_h,v}(g_v) dg_v$$

is well defined for a smooth and compactly supported function f_v on $\mathcal{G}_h(F_v)$ and extends to a continuous linear form $f_v \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi_v}(f_v)$ on the space of tempered functions; see subsection 8.4. It depends on the choice of a Haar measure on $\mathcal{B}_h(F_v)$.

Let σ_v be a tempered irreducible representation of $\mathcal{G}_h(F_v)$ equipped with an invariant inner product $(\cdot,\cdot)_v$. Let φ_v and φ_v' be vectors of σ_v . The associated matrix coefficient defined by $f_{\varphi_v,\varphi_v'}(g) = (\sigma_v(g)\varphi_v,\varphi_v')_v$ for all $g \in \mathcal{G}_h(F_v)$ belongs to this space and we set

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi_v}(\varphi_v,\varphi_v') = \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi_v}(f_{\varphi_v,\varphi_v'}).$$

1.3.6. The Ichino-Ikeda conjecture for Bessel periods

Let σ be a tempered automorphic cuspidal subrepresentation σ of $\mathcal{G}_h(\mathbb{A})$. Tempered means that we have a decomposition $\sigma = \otimes'_{v \in V_F} \sigma_v$ with σ_v tempered for all v. We also assume that the weak base change of σ to G^b is a discrete Hermitian parameter Π . As in §1.2.4, we define the ratio of L-functions $\mathcal{L}(s,\sigma)$ and its local counterparts $\mathcal{L}(s,\sigma_v)$ for $s \in \mathbb{C}$. Explicitly, we have

$$\mathcal{L}(s,\sigma_{v}) = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} L(s+i-1/2,\eta_{v}^{i}) \frac{L(s,\Pi_{v})}{L(s+1/2,\Pi_{v},As')},$$

where $As' = As^{(-1)^m} \otimes As^{(-1)^{n+1}}$ and $\mathcal{L}(s, \sigma)$ is the product of the local factors in some half-plane. We use the local factor to define the normalized local Bessel period

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi_v}^{\natural}(\varphi_v,\varphi_v') = \mathcal{L}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_v\right)^{-1}\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_h,\psi,v}(f_{\varphi_v,\varphi_v'}).$$

We assume that the product of local measures on $\mathcal{B}_h(F_v)$ gives the Tamagawa measure on $\mathcal{B}_h(\mathbb{A})$. On σ , we use the Petersson inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_{\text{Pet}}$ normalized by the Tamagawa measure on $\mathcal{G}_h(\mathbb{A})$.

Theorem 1.3.6.1. Let σ and Π as above. For every nonzero factorizable vector $\varphi = \otimes'_v \varphi_v \in \sigma$, we have

$$\frac{|\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_{h},\psi}(\varphi)|^{2}}{(\varphi,\varphi)_{\text{Pet}}} = |S_{\Pi}|^{-1} \mathcal{L}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma\right) \prod_{\nu} \frac{\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}_{h},\psi_{\nu}}^{\natural}(\varphi_{\nu},\varphi_{\nu})}{(\varphi_{\nu},\varphi_{\nu})_{\nu}}.$$
(1.3.6.1)

Remarks 1.3.6.2.

- 1. In the right-hand side, almost all factors are equal to 1; see [Liu16, Theorem 2.2].
- 2. The statement has been conjectured by Y. Liu in a more general context; see [Liu16, conjecture 2.5].
- 3. For m = 0, the group \mathcal{G}_h is the quasi-split unitary group U_{2r+1} of rank 2r + 1. The theorem has been conjectured by Lapid and Mao, [LM15, conjecture 1.1].
- 4. The proof we give is along the same lines as for Theorem 1.3.3.1; namely, it is eventually deduce it from Theorem 1.2.4.1 in a similar fashion.

1.4. On some spectral contributions of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formulas

1.4.1.

In this subsection, we explain some new ingredients that play a role in the proof of Theorems 1.2.3.1 and 1.2.4.1. As many other contributions on the subject (among them, see [Zha14b], [Zha14a], [Xue19], [Beu21], [BP21], [BLZZ21], [BPCZ22]), we follow the strategy of the seminal paper [JR11] of Jacquet and Rallis. More precisely, besides the local harmonic analysis performed in the mentioned papers, our work is based on the geometric comparison, fully established in [CZ21], of the *relative trace formulas* constructed in [Zyd20] of the unitary groups U_h for $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$ and the corresponding group G. However, to be able to exploit this comparison, we need to obtain more tractable expressions for the spectral contributions we are interested in.

1.4.2.

Let us first explain our result in the unitary case namely for the group $U = U_h$ and its subgroup $U' = U'_h$. Let $\mathfrak{X}(U)$ be the set of cuspidal data of U. According to the work of Zydor (see [Zyd20, section 4]), the contribution of $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ to the relative trace formula for the group U is built upon the absolutely convergent integral

$$\int_{[U']\times[U']} K_{f,\chi}^T(x,y) \, dx dy.$$

Here, $K_{f,\chi}^T$ is a suitably modified version à la Arthur of the χ -part $K_{f,\chi}$ of the automorphic kernel $K_f(x,y) = \sum_{\gamma \in U(F)} f(x^{-1}\gamma y)$ associated to a Schwartz function f on $U(\mathbb{A})$; see (3.2.2.1) below for the precise definition. It depends on a truncation parameter T. It turns out that the integral above is an exponential-polynomial function in T whose purely polynomial part is constant and gives by definition the χ -contribution denoted by $J_{\chi}^U(f)$ of the relative trace formula; see Theorem 3.2.3.1 for this slight extension of Zydor's work to Schwartz test functions. The problem, however, is to get an expression for $J_{\chi}(f)$ that reflects the Langlands spectral decomposition of $K_{f,\chi}$ and that is related to the periods (1.2.2.1) we are interested in. The starting point is the following new independent characterization of $J_{\nu}^U(f)$: the integral

$$\int_{[U']\times[U']} (K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^T)(x,y) \, dx dy \tag{1.4.2.1}$$

is absolutely convergent and is asymptotic to an polynomial exponential in the variable T whose purely polynomial term is constant and equal to $J_{\chi}^{U}(f)$; see Corollary 3.3.5.2. Here, $K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_{u}^{T}$ means that we have applied the Ichino-Yamana truncation operator Λ_{u}^{T} already mentioned in §1.2.2 to the right variable of the kernel $K_{f,\chi}$. Let us now assume that the cuspidal datum χ is (U,U')-regular in the sense of §3.5.2. Then the expression (1.4.2.1) does not depend on T and thus is equal to $J_{\chi}^{U}(f)$. To state our result, we fix a representative (M_{P},σ) where M_{P} is a Levi factor of a parabolic subgroup $P=M_{P}N_{P}$ of U and σ is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $M_{P}(\mathbb{A})$. Let $A_{P,\sigma,\text{cusp}}(U_{h})$ be the space of automorphic forms on the quotient $A_{P}^{\infty}M_{P}(F)N_{P}(\mathbb{A})\backslash U(\mathbb{A})$ such that for all $g\in U(\mathbb{A})$,

$$m \in M_P(\mathbb{A}) \mapsto \delta_P(m)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \varphi(mg)$$

belongs to the σ -isotypic component of the space of cuspidal automorphic forms on the quotient $A_P^{\infty}M_P(F)\backslash M_P(\mathbb{A})$. Working throughout Langlands spectral decomposition of $K_{f,\chi}$, we get (see Theorem 3.5.7.1):

$$J_{\chi}^{U}(f) = \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{*}} J_{P,\sigma}^{U}(\lambda, f) d\lambda, \qquad (1.4.2.2)$$

where the right-hand side is the absolutely convergent integral of the relative character defined by

$$J^{U}_{P,\sigma}(\lambda,f) = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\sigma}} \mathcal{P}_{U'}(I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda) \overline{\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\varphi,\lambda)}.$$

Here, the periods $\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\cdot,\lambda)$ are those defined in (1.2.2.1), and $I_P(\lambda,f)$ denotes the induced action of f twisted by λ . The sum is over some orthonormal basis $\mathcal{B}_{P,\sigma}$ of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\sigma,\text{cusp}}(U)$; see §3.5.5 for the Petersson inner product.

1.4.3.

Let us turn to the linear case – namely, $G = G_n \times G_{n+1}$. In this case, we have to consider two subgroups – namely, $H = G_n$ diagonally embedded in G and $G' = G'_n \times G'_{n+1}$, where $G'_n = GL(n, F)$ is naturally

embedded in $G_n = GL(n, E)$. Let χ be a cuspidal datum of G and let f be a Schwartz function on $G(\mathbb{A})$. As before, we denote by $K_{f,\chi}$ the χ -part of the automorphic kernel. According to [BPCZ22, Theorem 1.2.4.1], the contribution $I_{\chi}(f)$, as defined by Zydor in [Zyd20], is also the constant term of the polynomial exponential (in the variable T) which is asymptotic to the absolutely convergent integral

$$\int_{[H]} \int_{[G']} \Lambda_r^T K_{\chi}(h,g) \, \eta_{G'}(g) dg dh.$$

Here, $\eta_{G'}$ is the quadratic character defined in §4.1.1 and Λ_r^T is a truncation operator (in the parameter T) introduced by Ichino-Yamana and well-suited for the study of Rankin-Selberg period. Assume that χ is represented by a pair (M, π) , where M is the Levi factor of a parabolic subgroup P of G. We assume also that χ is (G, H)-regular and Hermitian in the sense of §4.1.3. Then we have (see Theorem 4.1.8.1)

$$I_{\chi}(f) = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, f) \, d\lambda.$$

Here, L is a Levi subgroup of G containing M and determined by π (see §4.1.4). For $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, the relative character $I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, f)$ is given by one of the two expressions

$$\begin{split} I_{P,\pi}(\lambda,f) &= \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \mathbf{P}(E(I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda)) \cdot \overline{J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda)} \\ &= \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \frac{Z^{RS}(0,W(I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda))\overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\varphi,\lambda))}}{\langle W(\varphi,\lambda),W(\varphi,\lambda) \rangle_{\text{Pet}}}. \end{split}$$

The sums are over some orthonormal bases $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ for the Petersson inner product of the space $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(G)$ (defined as above). The first expression is built upon $\mathbf{P}(E(\varphi,\lambda))$ and $J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda)$. The former is the regularized Rankin-Selberg period à la Ichino-Yamana (see [IY15]) of the Eisenstein series associated to the pair (P, π) . The latter is the intertwining (Flicker-Rallis) period of Jacquet-Lapid-Rogawski [JLR99]. The second expression uses Whittaker functionals $W(\varphi, \lambda)$ associated to Eisenstein series and linear forms on the Whittaker models of $\mathrm{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{G(\mathbb{A})}(\pi\otimes\lambda)$ equipped with the Petersson product $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\text{Pet}}$. The linear forms Z^{RS} and β_n are counterparts of the period and the intertwining period. In the Rankin-Selberg case, the link is recalled in Proposition 4.2.5.1: it is based on [IY15] which generalizes the classical Rankin-Selberg theory. In the Flicker-Rallis case, the precise relation is given in Proposition 4.2.7.1, which generalizes the work of Flicker [Fli88]. Besides some reductions based on [BPCZ22, section 9], the bulk of the proof of proposition is the object of Section 5. Note also that we prove in Section 5 a result that is of independent interest: we express a basic intertwining period of Jacquet-Lapid-Rogawski in terms of an integral of a Whittaker functional; see Theorem 5.5.1.1. The second expression of the relative character is better suited for the proof of Theorem 1.2.4.1. In Section 6, we give an alternative proof of this spectral expansion of $I_{\chi}(f)$, for (G, H)-regular χ , that is based on the theory of Zeta integrals.

Finally, let us remark that if χ is a (U,U')-regular cuspidal datum of U attached to a cuspidal representation of $M_{P_n}(\mathbb{A}) \times U(h \oplus h_0)(\mathbb{A})$ for some parabolic subgroup P_n of U(h), then the modified kernel $K_{f,\chi}^T(x,y)$ coincides with the usual χ -part of the kernel. Then one can directly get the expression (1.4.2.2) in which the U'-periods are absolutely convergent. This includes, in particular, the Eisenstein series needed for the deduction of the Gan-Gross-Prasad and Ichino-Ikeda conjectures for general Bessel periods, as outlined in subsection 1.3.

1.5. Organization of the paper

1.5.1.

The reader will find the main notations and some prelimary results in Section 2. The Section 3 is devoted to the study of some spectral contributions of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula for unitary groups. The main general result is Theorem 3.2.3.1, which gives a more tractable expression to compute spectral contributions. The proof of Theorem 3.2.3.1 is the bulk of subsections 3.3 and 3.4. Then in subsection 3.5, the spectral contribution for some cuspidal data are explicitly given in terms of relative characters (see Theorem 3.5.7.1). In Section 4, we turn to the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula for general linear groups. The main result is Theorem 4.1.8.1, which expresses the spectral contribution for some cuspidal data in terms of relative characters. In subsection 4.2, we show that these relative characters can expressed in terms of Whittaker functionals; see Theorem 4.2.8.1. The main result of Section 5 is Theorem 5.5.1.1, which relates some basic intertwining period of Jacquet-Lapid-Rogawski to some integral of a Whittaker functional: it is used in the proof of Theorem 4.2.8.1, but it is also of independent interest. Its proof occupies the whole part of Section 5. As explained above, we provide in Section 6 an alternative proof for the description of the spectral contributions to the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula for general linear groups that can be obtained by combining Theorem 4.1.8.1 with Theorem 4.2.8.1. In Section 7, we explain the proof of Theorems 1.2.3.1 and 1.2.4.1 based on the comparison of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formulas and the results obtained before. The aim of the final Section 8 is to establish the reduction of Theorems 1.3.3.1 and 1.3.6.1 to special cases of Theorems 1.2.3.1 and 1.2.4.1, respectively. Its most technical part is in subsection 8.7, where necessary unramified computation is performed. Finally, Appendix A presents a probably well-known extension of Weyl's character formula to non-connected groups that is necessary for the unramified computation.

2. Preliminaries

2.1. Algebraic and adelic groups

2.1.1.

We shall try to follow the usual notations of Arthur and the main notations of the previous article [BPCZ22]. For the reader's convenience, we briefly recall our choices.

2.1.2.

We denote by F a number field, V_F (resp. $V_{F,\infty}$) the set of its places (resp. Archimedean places) and \mathbb{A} its ring of adèles. For $v \in V_F$, let F_v be its completion at v. For any finite subset $S \subset V_F$, we set $F_S = \bigotimes_{v \in S} F_v$ and $F_\infty = F_{V_{F,\infty}}$. We denote by $|\cdot|$ the morphism $\mathbb{A}^\times \to \mathbb{R}_+^\times$ given by the product of normalized absolute values $|\cdot|_v$ on each F_v .

2.1.3.

Let G be a reductive group defined over F. All the subgroups of G we consider are assumed to be defined over F. We fix $P_0 \subset G$ a minimal parabolic subgroup and M_0 a Levi factor of P_0 . A parabolic subgroup of G which contains P_0 , resp. M_0 , is said to be standard, resp. semi-standard. Let P be a semi-standard parabolic subgroup of G. It has a Levi decomposition $P = M_P N_P$ such that M_P is a semi-standard Levi factor (that is, $M_0 \subset M_P$) and N_P is the unipotent radical of P. Such a group M_P is called a semi-standard Levi subgroup of G. It is said to be standard if, moreover, P is standard. Let $X^*(P)$ be the group of rational characters of P defined over F. Attached to P are real vector spaces $\mathfrak{a}_P^* = X^*(P) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathfrak{a}_P = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{Z}}(X^*(P), \mathbb{R})$ in canonical duality:

$$\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle : \mathfrak{a}_P^* \times \mathfrak{a}_P \to \mathbb{R}.$$
 (2.1.3.1)

If $P \subset Q \subset G$, we have natural maps $\mathfrak{a}_Q^* \to \mathfrak{a}_P^*$ and $\mathfrak{a}_P \to \mathfrak{a}_Q$. The kernel of the second one is denoted by \mathfrak{a}_P^Q . We have natural decomposition $\mathfrak{a}_P = \mathfrak{a}_P^Q \oplus \mathfrak{a}_Q$ and dually $\mathfrak{a}_P^* = \mathfrak{a}_P^{Q,*} \oplus \mathfrak{a}_Q^*$. We put a subscript

 $\mathbb C$ to denote the extension of scalars to $\mathbb C$. Then one has a decomposition

$$\mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{Q,*} = \mathfrak{a}_{P}^{Q,*} \oplus i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{Q,*},$$

where $i^2=-1$. We shall denote by $\mathfrak R$ and $\mathfrak I$ the associated projections. The complex conjugate is then defined by $\bar\lambda=\mathfrak R(\lambda)-i\mathfrak I(\lambda)$. Note that the spaces $\mathfrak a_P^Q,\mathfrak a_P^{Q,*}$ depend only on the Levi factors M_Q and M_P and thus are also denoted by $\mathfrak a_{M_P}^{M_Q},\mathfrak a_{M_P}^{M_Q,*}$ etc.

Let Ad_P^Q be the adjoint action of M_P on the Lie algebra of $M_Q \cap N_P$. Let ρ_P^Q be the unique element of $\mathfrak{a}_P^{Q,*}$ such that for every $m \in M_P(\mathbb{A})$, we have

$$|\det(\operatorname{Ad}_{P}^{Q}(m))| = \exp(\langle 2\rho_{P}^{Q}, H_{P}(m)\rangle).$$

For every $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$, we set

$$\delta_P^Q(g) = \exp(\langle 2\rho_P^Q, H_P(g)\rangle).$$

If the context is clear, we set $\rho_P = \rho_P^G$ and $\delta_P = \delta_P^G$. Usually, we replace the subscript P_0 simply by 0 (for example, $\mathfrak{a}_0 = \mathfrak{a}_{P_0}$, $\rho_0 = \rho_{P_0}$, etc.).

2.1.4.

Let P be a standard parabolic subgroups of G. Let $A_P = A_{M_P}$ be the maximal central F-split torus of M_P . Let Δ_0^P be the set of simple roots of A_0 in $M_P \cap P_0$. Let Δ_P^Q be the image of $\Delta_0^Q \setminus \Delta_0^P$ by the projection $\mathfrak{a}_0^* \to \mathfrak{a}_P^*$. It is a basis of $\mathfrak{a}_P^{Q,*}$ whose dual basis is the subset of coweights $\hat{\Delta}_P^{Q,\vee} \subset \mathfrak{a}_P^Q$. We have also the set of coroots $\Delta_P^{Q,\vee}$ which is a basis of \mathfrak{a}_P^Q . We have the dual basis given by the set of simple weights $\hat{\Delta}_P^Q \subset \mathfrak{a}_P^{Q,*}$. The sets Δ_P^Q and $\hat{\Delta}_P^Q$ determine open cones in \mathfrak{a}_0 whose characteristic functions are denoted respectively by τ_P^Q and $\hat{\tau}_P^Q$. We set

$$\mathfrak{a}_P^{*,Q+} = \left\{ \lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_P^* \mid \langle \lambda, \alpha^\vee \rangle \geqslant 0, \; \forall \alpha^\vee \in \Delta_P^{Q,\vee} \right\}.$$

We define similarly \mathfrak{a}_P^{Q+} using roots instead of coroots. If Q=G, the exponent G is omitted.

2.1.5.

Let W be the Weyl group of (G, A_0) – namely, the quotient of the normalizer of A_0 in G(F) by M_0 . For $P = M_P N_P$ and $Q = M_Q N_Q$ two standard parabolic subgroups of G, we denote by W(P,Q) or $W(M_P, M_Q)$ the set of $w \in W$ such that $w\Delta_0^P = \Delta_0^Q$. For $w \in W(P,Q)$, we have $wM_P w^{-1} = M_Q$. When P = Q, the group W(P,P) is simply denoted by W(P) or $W(M_P)$. We will also write W^{M_P} for the Weyl group of (M_P, A_0) .

2.1.6.

Let $K = \prod_{v \in V_F} K_v \subset G(\mathbb{A})$ be a 'good' maximal compact subgroup in good position relative to M_0 (called 'admissible' in [Art81, p. 9]). We write

$$K = K_{\infty}K^{\infty}$$
.

where $K_{\infty} = \prod_{v \in V_{F,\infty}} K_v$ and $K^{\infty} = \prod_{v \in V_F \setminus V_{F,\infty}} K_v$. We have a homomorphism $H_P : P(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathfrak{a}_P$ such that $\langle \chi, H_P(p) \rangle = \log |\chi(p)|$ for any $p \in P(\mathbb{A})$ and $\chi \in X^*(P)$. By Iwasawa decomposition $G(\mathbb{A}) = P(\mathbb{A})K$, it extends to a map $H_P : G(\mathbb{A}) \to \mathfrak{a}_P$ which is left-invariant by $M_P(F)N_P(\mathbb{A})$ and right-invariant by K. We denote $A_P^{\infty} = A_{M_P}^{\infty}$ the neutral component of the group of real points of the maximal \mathbb{Q} -split torus of the Weil restriction $\mathrm{Res}_{F/\mathbb{Q}}(A_P)$. Then the restriction of H_P to A_P^{∞} is an isomorphism.

We set $[G]_P = M_P(F)N_P(\mathbb{A})\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$ and $[G]_{P,0} = A_P^{\infty}M_P(F)N_P(\mathbb{A})\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$. Let $[G]_P^1$ be the subset of $[G]_P$ where the map H_P vanishes. If P = G, we shall omit the subscript P.

2.1.7.

We fix a height $\|\cdot\|$ on $G(\mathbb{A})$ as in [BPCZ22, section 2.4]. Let $P \subset G$ be a standard parabolic subgroup. We set for $x \in [G]_P$

$$||x||_P = \inf_{\gamma \in M_P(F)N_P(\mathbb{A})} ||\gamma x||.$$

2.1.8. Haar measures

Let us explain briefly our choice and notations of measures; see [BPCZ22, section 2.3] for more details. We fix a nontrivial continuous additive character $\psi': \mathbb{A}/F \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. For each place $v \in V_F$, the local component ψ'_v of ψ' determines an autodual Haar measure on F_v . The choice of an invariant rational volume form on G then determines a Haar measure dg_v on $G(F_v)$. We have an Artin-Tate L-function $L_G(s) = \prod_{v \in V_F} L_{G,v}(s)$; see [Gro97] and more generally $L_G^S(s) = \prod_{v \in V_F \setminus S} L_{G,v}(s)$ for $S \subset V_F$ finite. Then $\Delta_G^{S,*}$ (simply Δ_G^* if S is empty) is defined to be the leading coefficient in the Laurent expansion of $L_G(s)$ at s = 0. We also set $\Delta_{G,v} = L_{G,v}(0)$. The Tamagawa measure dg on $G(\mathbb{A})$ is defined by $dg = dg_S \times dg^S$, where $dg_S = \prod_{v \in S} dg_v$ and $dg^S = (\Delta_G^{S,*})^{-1} \prod_{v \notin S} \Delta_{G,v} dg_v$ for $S \subset V_F$ finite.

We equip \mathfrak{a}_P with the Haar measure that gives a covolume 1 to the lattice $\operatorname{Hom}(X^*(P),\mathbb{Z})$ and $i\mathfrak{a}_P^*$ with the dual Haar measure. The group A_P^∞ is equipped with the Haar measure compatible with the isomorphism $A_P^\infty \simeq \mathfrak{a}_P$ induced by the map H_P . The groups $\mathfrak{a}_P^G \simeq \mathfrak{a}_P/\mathfrak{a}_G$ and $i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*} \simeq i\mathfrak{a}_P^*/i\mathfrak{a}_G^*$ are provided with the quotient Haar measures.

The homogeneous space [G] (resp. $[G]^1 \simeq [G]_0$) is equipped with the quotient of the Tamagawa measure on $G(\mathbb{A})$ by the counting measure on G(F) (resp. by the product of the counting measure on G(F) with the Haar measure we fixed on A_G^{∞}). For P a standard parabolic subgroup, we equip similarly $[G]_P$ with the quotient of the Tamagawa measure on $G(\mathbb{A})$ by the product of the counting measure on $M_P(F)$ with the Tamagawa measure on $N_P(\mathbb{A})$. Since the action by left translation of $a \in A_P^{\infty}$ on $[G]_P$ multiplies the measure by $\delta_P(a)^{-1}$, taking the quotient by the Haar measure on A_P^{∞} induces a 'semi-invariant' measure on $[G]_{P,0} = A_P^{\infty} \setminus [G]_P$.

2.2. Space of functions

2.2.1.

For two positive functions f and g on a set X, we write $f(x) \ll g(x)$, $x \in X$ if there exists a constant C > 0 such that $f(x) \leqslant Cg(x)$ for every $x \in X$. We write $f(x) \sim g(x)$, $x \in X$ if $f(x) \ll g(x)$ and $g(x) \ll f(x)$.

2.2.2.

For every $C \in \mathbb{R} \cup \{-\infty\}$ with D > C, we set $\mathcal{H}_{>C} = \{z \in \mathbb{C} \mid \Re(z) > C\}$.

2.2.3. Schwartz spaces

As before, G is a reductive group defined over F. We let \mathfrak{g}_{∞} be the Lie algebra of $G(F_{\infty})$ and $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}_{\infty})$ be the enveloping algebra of its complexification and $\mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g}_{\infty}) \subset \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}_{\infty})$ be its center.

We shall briefly review several useful locally convex topological spaces of functions; see [BPCZ22, section 2.5] for more details. Let $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ be the Schwartz space of $G(\mathbb{A})$: it contains the dense subspace $C_c^{\infty}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ of smooth and compactly supported functions. Let $P \subset G$ be a standard parabolic subgroup. Let $\mathcal{S}^0([G]_P)$ be the space of measurable functions $\varphi: [G]_P \to \mathbb{C}$ such that

$$\|\varphi\|_{\infty,N} = \sup_{x \in [G]_P} \|x\|_P^N |\varphi(x)| < \infty$$
 (2.2.3.1)

for every N > 0. Let $\mathcal{S}([G]_P)$ be the Schwartz space of $[G]_P$ that is the space of smooth functions $\varphi : [G]_P \to \mathbb{C}$ such that for every N > 0 and $X \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}_{\infty})$, we have

$$\|\varphi\|_{N,X} = \sup_{x \in [G]_P} \|x\|_P^N |(R(X)\varphi)(x)| < \infty.$$

The space of functions of uniform moderate growth on $[G]_P$ is defined as

$$\mathcal{T}([G]_P) = \bigcup_{N>0} \mathcal{T}_N([G]_P),$$

where $\mathcal{T}_N([G]_P)$ is the space of smooth functions $\varphi: [G]_P \to \mathbb{C}$ such that for every $X \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g}_{\infty})$, we have

$$\|\varphi\|_{-N,X} = \sup_{x \in [G]_P} \|x\|_P^{-N} |(R(X)\varphi)(x)| < \infty.$$
 (2.2.3.2)

All these spaces are equipped with locally convex topologies. The space $\mathcal{S}^0([G]_P)$ is equipped with the family of semi-norms $\|\cdot\|_{\infty,N}$; it is a Fréchet space. The spaces $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, $\mathcal{S}([G]_P)$, $\mathcal{T}_N([G]_P)$ and $\mathcal{T}([G]_P)$ are LF-spaces: we refer the reader to [BPCZ22, section 2.5] for a precise description of the topology.

2.2.4. Automorphic forms

Here, we refer the reader to [BPCZ22, section 2.7] for more details. The space $\mathcal{A}_P(G)$ of automorphic forms on $[G]_P$ is the subspace of $\mathcal{Z}(\mathfrak{g}_{\infty})$ -finite functions in $\mathcal{T}([G]_P)$. Let $\mathcal{A}_{P,\text{cusp}}(G) \subset \mathcal{A}_P(G)$ be the subspace of cuspidal automorphic forms: these are the functions $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_P(G)$ such that $\varphi_Q = 0$ for every proper parabolic subgroup $Q \subsetneq P$. The constant term φ_Q is defined by

$$\varphi_Q(x) = \int_{[N_Q]} \varphi(ux) du$$

for all $x \in G(\mathbb{A})$. A cuspidal automorphic representation π of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ is a topologically irreducible subrepresentation of $\mathcal{A}_{\text{cusp}}(M_P)$. For every $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we define $\pi_{\lambda} = \pi \otimes \lambda$ as the space of functions of the form

$$m \in [M_P] \mapsto \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(m) \rangle) \varphi(m)$$

for $\varphi \in \pi$.

We denote by $\mathcal{A}_{\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(M_P)$ the π -isotypic component of $\mathcal{A}_{\mathrm{cusp}}(M_P)$. The normalized smooth induction $\mathrm{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{G(\mathbb{A})}(\mathcal{A}_{\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(M_P))$ is denoted by $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$ and is identified with the space of automorphic forms $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_P(G)$ such that

$$m \in [M_P] \mapsto \exp(-\langle \rho_P, H_P(m) \rangle) \varphi(mg)$$

belongs to $\mathcal{A}_{\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(M_P)$ for every $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$. The algebra $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ acts on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$ by right convolution. For every $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we denote by $I(\lambda)$ the action on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$ we get by transport from the action of $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi_{\lambda},\mathrm{cusp}}$ and the identification $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}} \to \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi_{\lambda},\mathrm{cusp}}$ given by $\varphi \mapsto \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(.) \rangle) \varphi$. Assume that the central character of π is unitary. Then we equip $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$ with the Petersson inner product given by

$$\|\varphi\|_{\operatorname{Pet}}^2 = \langle \varphi, \varphi \rangle_{\operatorname{Pet}} = \int_{[G]_{P,0}} |\varphi(g)|^2 dg.$$

Note that for every cuspidal automorphic representation π of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$, there exists a unique $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$ such that the central character of π_λ is trivial on A_M^∞ . Unless otherwise stated, the cuspidal automorphic

representations we consider are always normalized in the sense that they are assumed to have a central character which is trivial on A_M^{∞} .

Let \hat{K} be the set of isomorphism classes of irreducible unitary representations of K. A K-basis $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$ is by definition the union over of $\tau \in \hat{K}$ of orthonormal bases $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi,\tau}$ for the Petersson inner product of the finite dimensional subspaces $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G,\tau)$ of functions in $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$ which transform under K according to τ .

For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$, $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$ and any parabolic subgroup $Q \supset P$, we introduce the Eisenstein series

$$E^{Q}(g,\varphi,\lambda) = \sum_{\delta \in P(F) \setminus Q(F)} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(\delta g) \rangle \varphi(\delta g). \tag{2.2.4.1}$$

The right-hand side is convergent for $\mathfrak{R}(\lambda)$ in a suitable cone, and for more general λ , the left-hand side is given by meromorphic continuation. Let P and Q be standard parabolic subgroups of G. For any $w \in W(P,Q)$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$, we have the intertwining operator

$$M(w,\lambda): \mathcal{A}_P(G) \to \mathcal{A}_Q(G).$$

For more details and continuity properties of these constructions, we refer the reader to [BPCZ22, §§2.7.3, 2.7.4].

2.2.5. Cuspidal datum

Let $P \subset G$ be a standard parabolic subgroup of G. Let $L^2([G]_P)$ be the space of square integrable functions on $[G]_P$. Let $\mathfrak{X}(G)$ be the set of cuspidal data of G. Recall that $\mathfrak{X}(G)$ is the quotient of the set of pairs (M_P, π) such that

- *P* is a standard parabolic subgroup of *G*;
- π is the isomorphism class of a cuspidal automorphic representation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ with central character trivial on A_P^{∞}

by the following equivalence relation: $(M_P, \pi) \sim (M_Q, \tau)$ if there exists $w \in W(P, Q)$ such that $w\pi w^{-1} \simeq \tau$. Then for any standard parabolic subgroup P of G, we have the Langlands decomposition (see [BPCZ22, section 2.9] for more details):

$$L^2([G]_P) = \widehat{\bigoplus_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)}} L^2_{\chi}([G]_P).$$

The Schwartz algebra acts on $L^2([G]_P)$ and for each $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)$ on $L^2_{\chi}([G]_P)$ by right convolution. For each $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, we get integral operators whose kernels are denoted respectively by $K_{f,P}$ and $K_{f,P,\chi}$. We shall use also the decomposition

$$L^{2}([G]_{P,0}) = \widehat{\bigoplus_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)}} L_{\chi}^{2}([G]_{P,0}).$$

2.3. Around Arthur's partition

2.3.1.

Let $T_1, T \in \mathfrak{a}_0$ and P be a standard parabolic subgroup of G. We define

$$A_{P_0}^{P,\infty}(T_1) = \{ a \in A_0^{\infty} \mid \langle \alpha, H_0(a) \rangle \geqslant \langle \alpha, T_1 \rangle, \ \forall \alpha \in \Delta_0^P \}$$

and

$$A_{P_0}^{P,\infty}(T_1,T) = \{a \in A_0^{P,\infty}(T_1) \mid \langle \varpi, H_0(a) \rangle \leq \langle \varpi, T \rangle, \ \forall \varpi \in \hat{\Delta}_0^P \}.$$

2.3.2. Siegel domains

Let $T_- \in \mathfrak{a}_0^G$ and $\omega_0 \subset P_0(\mathbb{A})^1$ be a compact subset such that $P_0(\mathbb{A})^1 = P_0(F)\omega_0$. Let P be a standard parabolic subgroup of G. We define

$$\mathfrak{s}_P(\omega_0, T_-, K) = \omega_0 A_{P_0}^{P,\infty}(T_-) K.$$

There exists $T_- \in -\mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$ such that for all standard parabolic subgroup of G, we have $G(\mathbb{A}) = P(F)\mathfrak{s}_P(\omega_0, T_-, K)$. We will fix T_- and ω_0 and we set $\mathfrak{s}_P = \mathfrak{s}_P(\omega_0, T, K)$: this is a *Siegel domain* of $[G]_P$. Note that for any standard parabolic subgroup P of G, we have $||x|| \sim ||x||_P$ for $x \in \mathfrak{s}_P$; see [BPCZ22, (2.4.1.3)].

2.3.3.

For any standard parabolic subgroup P of G and $T \in \mathfrak{a}_0^+$, we consider the characteristic function $F^P(\cdot,T)$ of $\omega_0 A_0^{P,\infty}(T_-,T)K \subset \mathfrak{s}_P$. This function descends on $[G]_P$. There is a point $T_0 \in \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$ such that for all $T \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$ and all standard parabolic subgroup Q of G, we have the following formula which gives a partition of $[G]_Q$ (see [Art78, Lemma 6.4] and also [LW13, Proposition 3.6.3]):

$$\sum_{P_0 \subset P \subset Q} \sum_{\delta \in P(F) \setminus Q(F)} F^P(\delta g, T) \tau_P^Q(H_P(\delta g) - T) = 1. \tag{2.3.3.1}$$

Note that the relation implies a simpler definition of $F^P(\cdot,T)$ for $T \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$; the function $F^P(\cdot,T)$ is the characteristic function of the following set:

$$\{g \in [G]_P \mid \forall \varpi \in \hat{\Delta}_0^P, \delta \in P(F) \langle \varpi, H_0(\delta g) - T \rangle \leq 0\}. \tag{2.3.3.2}$$

Indeed, this is a straightforward consequence of [Art85, Lemma 2.1] and the definition of the operator Λ^T there.

We shall use several times the following simple lemma.

Lemma 2.3.3.1. Let $P \subset Q$ be parabolic subgroup of G. Let $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ be such that $F^P(g,T)\tau_P^Q(H_P(g)-T)=1$. Then we have

$$\forall \alpha \in \Delta_0^Q \setminus \Delta_0^P, \ \langle \alpha, H_0(g) \rangle > \langle \alpha, T \rangle.$$

In particular, if $g \in \mathfrak{s}_P$, then $g \in \mathfrak{s}_O$.

Proof. Let $\alpha \in \Delta_0^Q \setminus \Delta_0^P$. We write $\alpha = \alpha_P + \alpha^P$ according to the decomposition $\mathfrak{a}_0^* = \mathfrak{a}_P^* \oplus \mathfrak{a}_0^{P,*}$. Since we have $\langle \alpha^P, \beta^\vee \rangle = \langle \alpha, \beta^\vee \rangle \leqslant 0$ for all $\beta \in \Delta_0^P$, we know that α^P is a non-positive linear combination of elements of $\hat{\Delta}_0^P$. Thus, the condition $F^P(g,T) = 1$ implies that

$$\langle \alpha^P, H_0(g) \rangle \geqslant \langle \alpha^P, T \rangle.$$

The condition $\tau_P^Q(H_P(g) - T) = 1$ implies that we have $\langle \alpha_P, H_0(g) \rangle > \langle \alpha_P, T \rangle$. We conclude that $\langle \alpha, H_0(g) \rangle > \langle \alpha, T \rangle$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta_0^Q \setminus \Delta_0^P$. The last assertion is then obvious since T is positive. \square

2.3.4.

Let $\phi: \mathfrak{a}_0 \to \mathbb{C}$ be a function and let $T \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$. For any standard parabolic subgroup Q of G, we define for all $g \in [G]_O$,

$$d_Q(\phi,g,T) = \sum_{P_0 \subset P \subset Q} \sum_{\delta \in P(F) \backslash Q(F)} F^P(\delta g,T) \tau_P^Q(H_P(\delta g) - T) \exp(\phi(H_P(\delta g))).$$

We will mainly use $d_Q(\lambda, g, T)$ for $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_0^*$. The next proposition shows that the function $d_Q(\lambda, \cdot, T)$ is an example of a function that satisfies [Fra98, Proposition 2.1] (such a kind of function is also used in [BPCZ22, §2.4.3]).

Proposition 2.3.4.1. *Let* $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_0^*$ *and* $Q \subset G$ *a parabolic subgroup.*

1. Let $\mathcal{T} \subset T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$ be a compact subset. We have

$$\exp(\langle \lambda, H_0(g) \rangle) \sim d_O(\lambda, g, T)$$

for all $g \in \mathfrak{s}_Q$ and $T \in \mathcal{T}$. In particular, all functions $d_Q(\lambda, T)$ are equivalent for $T \in \mathcal{T}$.

2. Let K be a compact subset of $G(\mathbb{A})$ and let $T \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$. We have

$$d_O(\lambda, g, T) \sim d_O(\lambda, gc, T)$$

for all $g \in [G]_O$, $c \in \mathcal{K}$.

Proof. 1. If we write $\lambda = \lambda_Q + \lambda^Q$ according to the decomposition $\mathfrak{a}_0^* = \mathfrak{a}_Q^* + \mathfrak{a}_0^{Q,*}$, we see that $d_Q(\lambda, g, T) = \exp(\langle \lambda_Q, H_Q(g) \rangle) d_Q(\lambda^Q, g, T)$ for all $T \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^+$ and all $g \in [G]_Q$. Since we also have $\exp(\langle \lambda, H_0(g) \rangle) = \exp(\langle \lambda_Q, H_Q(g) \rangle) \exp(\langle \lambda^Q, H_0(g) \rangle)$, we may and shall assume that $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_0^{Q,*}$. Let $g \in \mathfrak{s}_Q$ and $T \in \mathcal{T}$. There exists $P \subset Q$ such that $F^P(g,T)\tau_P^Q(H_P(g)-T)=1$. Then, by definition, we get $d_Q(\lambda, g, T) = \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(g) \rangle)$. It suffices to prove that $H_0(g) - H_P(g)$ stays in a compact subset which depends only on \mathcal{T} for any $g \in \mathfrak{s}_P$ such that $F^P(g,T)=1$. In fact, the latter condition implies $\langle \varpi, H_0(g) \rangle \leqslant \langle \varpi, T \rangle$ for all $\varpi \in \hat{\Delta}_0^P$, and $g \in \mathfrak{s}_P$ implies that $\langle \alpha, H_0(g) \rangle \geqslant \langle \alpha, T_- \rangle$ for all $\alpha \in \hat{\Delta}_0^P$. Hence, the projection of $H_0(g)$ on \mathfrak{a}_0^P stays in a fixed compact subset, but this projection is nothing else but $H_0(g) - H_P(g)$.

2. First, we observe that $H_0(kc)$ stays in a fixed compact for $k \in K$ and $c \in K$. By assertion 1, we may replace T by any element in $T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$. In particular, we may and shall assume that T is such that $T - H_0(kc) \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$ for all $k \in K$ and $c \in K$. For any $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$, we shall denote k(g) an element of K such that $gk(g)^{-1} \in P_0(\mathbb{A})$.

Let $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ and $c \in \mathcal{K}$. Then there exist a unique parabolic sugroup $P \subset Q$ and $\delta \in Q(F)$ such that $F^P(\delta gc, T)\tau_P^Q(H_P(\delta gc) - T) = 1$. Observe that $H_0(\delta gc) = H_0(\delta g) + H_0(k(\delta g)c)$. We deduce on the one hand that $\tau_P^Q(H_P(\delta g) - (T - H_0(k(\delta g)c))) = 1$ is equivalent to $\tau_P^Q(H_P(\delta gc) - T) = 1$, and on the other hand, we also have $F^P(\delta g, T - H_0(k(\delta g)c)) = 1$; indeed, for all $\varpi \in \hat{\Delta}^P$, we have

$$\langle \varpi, H_0(\delta g) \rangle = \langle \varpi, H_0(\delta g c) \rangle - \langle \varpi, H_0(k(\delta g)c) \rangle$$

$$\leq \langle \varpi, T - H_0(k(\delta g)c) \rangle$$

since $F^P(\delta gc, T) = 1$. From this, we get

$$d_Q(\lambda,g,T-H_0(k(\delta g)c))=\exp(\langle \lambda,H_P(\delta g)\rangle)=d_Q(\lambda,gc,T)\exp(-\langle \lambda,H_0(k(\delta g)c)\rangle).$$

Using assertion 1 and the fact that $H_0(k(\delta g)c)$ stays in a fixed compact set, we can easily conclude. \Box

Lemma 2.3.4.2. Let $Q \subset R$ be standard parabolic subgroups of G. There exists $T_1 \in T_0 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$ such that for all $T \in T_1 + \mathfrak{a}_0^{G,+}$, all $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_0^*$ and all $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ such that $F^Q(g,T)\tau_Q^R(H_Q(g)-T)=1$, we have

$$d_Q(\lambda, g, T_0) = d_R(\lambda, g, T_0).$$

Proof. Both the hypothesis and the conclusion are invariant under left translation by Q(F). It suffices to prove the result for $g \in \mathfrak{s}_Q$ such that $F^Q(g,T)\tau_Q^R(H_Q(g)-T)=1$. First, there exists a unique standard parabolic subgroup $P \subset Q$ such that $F^P(g,T_0)\tau_P^Q(H_Q(g)-T_0)=1$. In the proof of Proposition 2.3.4.1, we have shown that $H_0(g)-H_P(g)$ stays in a fixed compact subset for $g \in \mathfrak{s}_Q$ such that $F^P(g,T_0)=1$. In particular, we can assume that for such elements g, we have

$$\langle \alpha, T_1 \rangle > \langle \alpha_P, T_0 \rangle + \langle \alpha, H_0(g) - H_P(g) \rangle.$$
 (2.3.4.1)

By Lemma 2.3.3.1, we have $\langle \alpha, H_0(g) \rangle > \langle \alpha, T \rangle$ for all $\alpha \in \Delta_0^R \setminus \Delta_0^Q$. So we have for all $\alpha \in \Delta_0^R \setminus \Delta_0^Q$,

$$\langle \alpha_{P}, H_{0}(g) \rangle = \langle \alpha, H_{P}(g) \rangle = \langle \alpha, H_{0}(g) \rangle + \langle \alpha, H_{P}(g) - H_{0}(g) \rangle$$

$$> \langle \alpha, T \rangle + \langle \alpha, H_{P}(g) - H_{0}(g) \rangle$$

$$\ge \langle \alpha, T_{1} \rangle + \langle \alpha, H_{P}(g) - H_{0}(g) \rangle$$

$$> \langle \alpha_{P}, T_{0} \rangle$$

by (2.3.4.1). In particular, we see that we have $\tau_P^R(H_Q(g) - T_0) = 1$. Thus, by definition, $d_R(\lambda, g, T_0) = \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(g) \rangle) = d_Q(\lambda, g, T_0)$.

Proposition 2.3.4.3. Let $Q \subset R$ be standard parabolic subgroups of G such that $\Delta_0^R \setminus \Delta_0^Q = \{\alpha\}$ for some simple root α . Let c such that $c > \langle \alpha, T_{0,P} \rangle$ for all parabolic subgroups $P \subset Q$.

For any $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$, there is at most one element $\delta \in Q(F) \setminus R(F)$ such that $d_Q(\alpha, \delta g, T_0) > \exp(c)$.

Proof. Let $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$ such that $d_Q(\alpha, g, T_0) > \exp(c)$. Using left translations by Q(F), we may and shall assume that there exists a standard parabolic subgroup $P \subset Q$ such that $F^P(g, T_0)\tau_P^Q(H_P(g) - T_0) = 1$. Then the condition $d_Q(\alpha, g, T_0) > \exp(c)$ is equivalent to $\langle \alpha, H_P(g) \rangle > c$, and so $\langle \alpha, H_P(g) \rangle > \langle \alpha, T_{0,P} \rangle$. So we have also $F^P(g, T_0)\tau_P^R(H_P(g) - T_0) = 1$. Now the uniqueness follows from the partition (2.3.3.1) applies to $[G]_R$.

3. On the spectral expansion of the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula for unitary groups

3.1. Notations

3.1.1.

Let E/F be a quadratic extension of number fields and c be the nontrivial element of the Galois group Gal(E/F). Let \mathbb{A} be the ring of adèles of F. Let $n \ge 0$ be an integer. Let \mathcal{H}_n be the set of isomorphism classes of pairs (V, h), where V is a E-vector space of dimension n and h a nondegenerate c-Hermitian form on V. For any $(V, h) \in \mathcal{H}_n$, we identify (V, h) with a representative, and we shall denote by U(V, h) or simply U(h) its automorphisms group. We will fix $(V_0, h_0) \in \mathcal{H}_1$.

3.1.2.

We attach to any $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$ the following algebraic groups over F:

- the unitary group $U'_h = U(h)$ of automorphisms of h;
- the unitary group $U_h^{"'} = U(h \oplus h_0)$ where $h \oplus h_0$ denoted the orthogonal sum;
- the product of unitary groups $U_h = U'_h \times U''_h$.

We have an embedding

$$U_h' \hookrightarrow U_h'' \quad g \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} g & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$
 (3.1.2.1)

and a diagonal embedding $U'_h \hookrightarrow U_h$.

3.1.3.

Let $n \ge 1$ be an integer and $(V,h) \in \mathcal{H}_n$. We fix a parabolic subgroup P'_0 of U'_h and a Levi factor M'_0 of P'_0 both defined over F and minimal for these properties. As a parabolic subgroup, P'_0 is the stabilizer of a flag of totally isotropic subspaces of V. Let P''_0 be the parabolic subgroup of U''_h stabilizing the same flag. Let M''_0 be the unique Levi factor of P''_0 that contains M'_0 . Then $P_0 = P'_0 \times P''_0$ is a parabolic subgroup of U_h with Levi factor $M_0 = M'_0 \times M''_0$. We fix also a pair (B''_0, T''_0) consisting of a minimal parabolic F-subgroup of U''_h and a Levi factor defined over F. We may and shall assume $B''_0 \subset P''_0$ and $T''_0 \subset M''_0$. We fix maximal good compact subgroups $K'_h \subset U'_h(\mathbb{A})$ and $K''_h \subset U''_h(\mathbb{A})$, respectively, in good position relative to M'_0 and T''_0 in the sense of §2.1.6. We set $K_h = K'_h \times K''_h \subset U_h(\mathbb{A})$. Any $g \in U_h = U'_h \times U''_h$ will be written (g', g'') without any further comment.

From now on, (V, h) is fixed, and we shall omit it in the notations; thus, we have $U = U_h$, $U' = U'_h$ and so on.

3.1.4.

Let \mathcal{F}_0' be the set of parabolic subgroups of U' that contain P_0' . For any $P' \in \mathcal{F}_0'$, let P'' be the parabolic subgroup of U' which stabilizes the flag of totally isotropic subspaces of V that defines P'. Note that $P'' \cap U' = P'$. We get a one-to-one map

$$P' \mapsto P = P' \times P'' \tag{3.1.4.1}$$

from \mathcal{F}_0' onto a subset, denoted by \mathcal{F}_0 of parabolic subgroups of U. For any standard parabolic subgroup P' of U', resp. P'' of U'', resp. P of U, we will denote by $\Delta_0^{P'}$, resp. $\Delta_0^{P''}$, resp. Δ_0^{P} , the set of simple roots of $A_{M_0'}$, resp. $A_{T_0''}$, resp. $A_{M_0' \times T_0''}$ in $P_0' \cap M_{P'}$, resp. $B_0'' \cap M_{P''}$, resp. $(P_0' \times B_0'') \cap M_P$. We set $\mathfrak{a}_0' = \mathfrak{a}_{M_0'} = \mathfrak{a}_{P_0'}$. The inclusion $P_0' \subset P_0''$ gives an identification $\mathfrak{a}_{P_0''} = \mathfrak{a}_{P_0'} = \mathfrak{a}_0'$. Using the map $\mathfrak{a}_{B_0''}^* \to \mathfrak{a}_{P_0''}^* = \mathfrak{a}_{P_0'}^*$ dual to the inclusion $A_{P_0''} \subset A_{T_0''}^*$, we see that any $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{B_0''}^*$ defined a linear map $\mathfrak{a}_0' \to \mathbb{R}$ still denoted by λ . Let $P' \in \mathcal{F}_0'$ and $P'' \subset U''$ be the associated parabolic subgroup. Observe that if λ is a simple root $\tilde{\alpha} \in \Delta_0^{U'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P'}$, the linear map $\mathfrak{a}_0' \to \mathbb{R}$ we get is equal, up to a positive constant, to a unique root $\alpha \in \Delta_0^{U'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P'}$.

Following §2.3.2, we have the notion of Siegel domains. They depend on auxiliary choices ω_0' , T_-' for U' and ω_0'' , T_-'' for U''. The Siegel domains for $U = U' \times U''$ will be the product of Siegel domains for U' and U''. We may and shall assume that T_-' and T_-'' are chosen so that

$$A_{P'_0}^{P',\infty}(T'_-) \subset A_{B''_0}^{P'',\infty}(T''_-).$$
 (3.1.4.2)

We fix a height $\|\cdot\|$ on $U(\mathbb{A})$; see §2.1.7. By (diagonal) restriction, this gives a height on $U'(\mathbb{A})$. Note that for P and P' as above, we have $\|x\|_{P'} \sim \|x\|_P$ for $x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$, as it follows from [Beu21, proposition A.1.1 (ix)].

3.1.5.

We fix a point $T_0 \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ as in §2.3.3, and we set

$$d_{P'}(\lambda) = d_{P'}(\lambda, T_0)$$

for any $P' \in \mathcal{F}'_0$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_0^*$. The precise choice of T_0 is irrelevant in the sequel, and we will not use this notation anymore. We proceed in the same way to define $d_{P''}(\lambda)$.

Proposition 3.1.5.1.

1. Let $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{B_0''}^*$. We have

$$d_{P''}(\lambda, x) \sim d_{P'}(\lambda, x) \ x \in [U']_{P'}.$$
 (3.1.5.1)

2. For $\tilde{\alpha} \in \Delta_0^{U''} \setminus \Delta_0^{P''}$, there exists r > 0 such that

$$d_{P''}(\tilde{\alpha}, x) \sim d_{P'}(\alpha, x)^r \quad x \in [U']_{P'},$$

where $\alpha \in \Delta_0^{U'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P'}$ is deduced from $\tilde{\alpha}$ as above.

Proof. 1. Both sides of (3.1.5.1) are invariant by left P'(F)-translation. Thus, it suffices to prove the equivalence on $\mathfrak{s}_{P'}=\omega'_0A_{P'_0}^{P',\infty}(T'_-)K'$. Note that if $a\in A_{P'_0}^{P',\infty}(T'_-)$, then $a^{-1}\omega'_0a$ is included in a fixed compact subset $\mathcal{K}\subset U'(\mathbb{A})$ that does not depend on a. Thus, by Proposition 2.3.4.1 assertion 2, we have $d_{P''}(xak)\sim d_{P''}(a)$ for $x\in \omega'_0$, $a\in A_{P'_0}^{P',\infty}(T'_-)$ and $k\in K'$. By the inclusion (3.1.4.2) and Proposition 2.3.4.1 assertion 1, we have $d_{P''}(a)\sim \exp(\langle\lambda,H_{B''_0}(a)\rangle)$ for $a\in A_{P'_0}^{P',\infty}(T'_-)$. Then we have $H_{B''_0}(a)=H_{P'_0}(a)=H_{P'_0}(xak)$ and $\exp(\langle\lambda,H_{B''_0}(a)\rangle)\sim d_{P'}(\lambda,xak)$ by Proposition 2.3.4.1 assertion 1 applied to P'. 2. is a consequence of 1 and the fact that the restriction of \tilde{a} to \mathfrak{a}'_0 is ra for some r>0. \square

3.1.6. Sufficiently positive T

We will fix an euclidean norm $\|.\|$ on \mathfrak{a}'_0 , invariant by the Weyl group. For $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$, let

$$d(T) = \inf_{\alpha \in \Delta_0^{U'}} \langle \alpha, T \rangle.$$

We will fix C > 0 and $\varepsilon > 0$, respectively, large and small enough constants. We shall throughout assume that T is 'sufficiently positive'; that is, we assume T satisfies the inequality $d(T) \ge \max(\varepsilon ||T||, C)$. In particular, we shall assume that Lemma 2.3.4.2 holds for any sufficiently positive T and our functions $d_{P'}(\lambda)$ and $d_{P''}(\lambda)$.

3.2. Truncated kernel

3.2.1.

Let $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$. For any cuspidal datum $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ and any standard parabolic subgroup P of U, we get kernels $K_{f,P}$, resp. $K_{f,P,\chi}$; see §2.2.5. If P = U, we shall omit the subscript U.

3.2.2.

For any $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0, x, y \in U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$, we set

$$K_{f,\chi}^T(x,y) = \sum_{P' \in \mathcal{F}_0'} \epsilon_{P'} \sum_{\gamma \in P'(F) \setminus U'(F)} \sum_{\delta \in P'(F) \setminus U'(F)} \hat{\tau}_{P'}(H_{P'}(\delta y) - T) K_{f,P,\chi}(\gamma x, \delta y), \quad (3.2.2.1)$$

where we set

$$\epsilon_{P'} = (-1)^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{P'})} \tag{3.2.2.2}$$

and $K_{f,P,\chi}$ is the kernel attached to the parabolic subgroup P of U image of P' by (3.1.4.1). Recall that we set $\hat{\tau}_{P'} = \hat{\tau}_{P'}^{U'}$.

Remark 3.2.2.1. This is the kernel used in [Zyd20] for compactly supported functions. Since we consider more general test functions, we need a comment here. Let P and P' be as above. First, the sum over $\delta \in P'(F) \setminus U'(F)$ may be taken in a *finite* set which depends on y (see [Art78] Lemma 5.1). Second, by [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.10.1.1], there exists $N_0 > 0$ such that for any N > 0 and any continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{N'}$ on $\mathcal{T}_{N'}([U]_P)$ with $N' = N + N_0$, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that we have

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} \|K_{f,P,\chi}(x,\cdot)\|_{N'} \le \|f\|_{\mathcal{S}} \|x\|_{P}^{-N}$$
(3.2.2.3)

for all $x \in [U]_P$ and $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$. It follows that the sum over $\gamma \in P'(F) \setminus U'(F)$ is absolutely convergent.

3.2.3.

The next theorem is an extension to Schwartz test functions of the work of Zydor in [Zyd20, section 4]. The proof will be given in subsection 3.4 below.

Theorem 3.2.3.1. Let $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ be sufficiently positive.

1. We have

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} \int_{[U'] \times [U']} |K_{f,\chi}^T(x,y)| \, dx dy < \infty.$$

2. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$. As a function of T, the integral

$$J_{\chi}^{U,T}(f) = \int_{[U']\times[U']} K_{f,\chi}^{T}(x,y) \, dx dy \tag{3.2.3.1}$$

coincides with an exponential-polynomial function in T whose purely polynomial part is constant and denoted by $J_{\chi}^{U}(f)$.

- 3. For any $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$, the distribution J_{χ}^{U} is continuous, left and right $U'(\mathbb{A})$ -invariant.
- 4. The sum

$$J^{U}(f) = \sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} J_{\chi}^{U}(f) \tag{3.2.3.2}$$

is absolutely convergent and defines a continuous distribution J^U .

3.3. Truncation operator and distributions J_{χ}^{U}

3.3.1.

The goal of this section is to state Theorem 3.3.5.1, which gives the asymptotics of the distributions $J_{\chi}^{U,T}(f)$ defined in Theorem 3.2.3.1 when the parameter goes to infinity. The theorem will be useful for subsequent computations in Section 3.5.

3.3.2. The Ichino-Yamana truncation operator

Let $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive. In [IY19], Ichino-Yamana defined a truncation operator which transforms functions of uniform moderate growth on [U''] into rapidly decreasing functions on [U']; see [IY19, lemma 2.2]. By applying it to the *right* component of $[U] = [U'] \times [U'']$, we get a truncation operator which we denote by Λ_u^T . It associates to any function φ on [U] the function on [U'] defined by the following formula: for any $x \in [U']$,

$$(\Lambda_u^T \varphi)(x) = \sum_{P' \in \mathcal{F}_0'} \epsilon_{P'} \sum_{\delta \in P'(F) \setminus U'(F)} \hat{\tau}_{P'}(H_{P'}(\delta x) - T) \varphi_{U' \times P''}(\delta x), \tag{3.3.2.1}$$

where we follow notations involved in (3.2.2.1) and in §3.1.4. Moreover, $\varphi_{U'\times P''}$ is the constant term of φ along the parabolic subgroup $U'\times P''$ of U, where $P'\times P''$ is the image of P' by (3.1.4.1). We shall recall and precise the main properties of Λ_u^T .

Remark 3.3.2.1. To avoid confusions, we emphasize that in (3.3.2.1), the map $\varphi_{U'\times P''}$ is evaluated at $\delta x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$ where U' is viewed as a diagonal subgroup of U.

3.3.3. Properties of Λ_u^T

Proposition 3.3.3.1.

- 1. The map $\varphi \mapsto \Lambda_u^T \varphi$ induces a linear continuous map from $\mathcal{T}([U])$ to $\mathcal{S}^0([U'])$.
- 2. For every $N_1, N_2 > 0$ and r > 0, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $\mathcal{T}_{N_1}([U])$ such that

$$|(\Lambda_{u}^{T}\varphi)(x) - F^{U'}(x,T)\varphi(x)| \leq e^{-r\|T\|} \|x\|_{U'}^{-N_{2}} \|\varphi\|$$

for all $x \in [U']$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_{N_1}([U])$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive.

Proof. The assertion 1 can be easily extracted from [IY19, (proof of) lemma 2.2]. For the convenience of the reader, we give some details. First, it suffices to show that for any N > 0, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $\mathcal{T}([U])$ such that for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}([U])$, we have

$$\|\Lambda_u^T \varphi\|_{\infty,N} \leq \|\varphi\|.$$

We recall that $\|\psi\|_{\infty,N} = \sup_{x \in [U']} \|x\|_{U'}^N |\psi(x)|$ for any function ψ on [U']. We can write for $x \in [U']$,

$$(\Lambda_u^T \varphi)(x) = \sum_{P_1' \subset P_2'} \sum_{\delta \in P_1'(F) \setminus U'(F)} F^{P_1'}(\delta x, T) \sigma_1^2(H_0(\delta x) - T) \varphi_{1,2}(\delta x), \tag{3.3.3.1}$$

where $H_0 = H_{P'_0}$ and $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_{P'_1}^{P'_2}$ is the eponymous function with values in $\{0, 1\}$ introduced by Arthur in [Art78, section 6] for the group U' and

$$\varphi_{1,2} = \sum_{P_1' \subset P' \subset P_2'} \epsilon_{P'} \varphi_{U' \times P''} \tag{3.3.3.2}$$

with $\varphi_{U'\times P''}$ as above. Note that if $P_1'=P_2'$, then $\sigma_1^2=0$ unless $P_1'=P_2'=U'$. In this case, the corresponding term is $F^{U'}(x,T)\varphi(x)$ for which the result is obvious. The other cases are deduced from the next lemma, which also gives assertion 2.

Lemma 3.3.3.2. Assume $P'_1 \subseteq P'_2$. For every $N_1, N_2 > 0$ and r > 0, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $\mathcal{T}_{N_1}([U])$ such that

$$\sum_{\delta \in P_1'(F) \setminus U'(F)} F^{P_1'}(\delta x, T) \sigma_1^2(H_{P_0'}(\delta x) - T) |\varphi_{1,2}(\delta x)| \leq e^{-r \|T\|} \|x\|_{U'}^{-N_2} \|\varphi\|$$

for all $x \in [U']$, $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_{N_1}([U])$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive.

3.3.4. Proof of Lemma 3.3.3.2

Let g be an element in $U(\mathbb{A})$ which we write g=(g',g'') with $g'\in U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $g''\in U''(\mathbb{A})$. Let N>0. By [MW94, preuves du lemme I.2.10 et du corollaire I.2.11], for any λ which is a linear combination of elements of $\Delta_0^{P_2''}\setminus \Delta_0^{P_1''}$ with positive coefficients, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{T}_N([U])$ such that

$$|\varphi_{1,2}(g)| \le \exp(-\langle \lambda, H_{B_0''}(g'')\rangle) ||g||^N ||\varphi||$$
 (3.3.4.1)

for all $g \in U(\mathbb{A})$ such that $g' \in U'(\mathbb{A})$, $g'' \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_2''}$ and all $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_N([U])$. We want to apply this majorization to an element g = (x,x) where $x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$ satisfies $F^{P_1'}(x,T)\sigma_1^2(H_{P_0'}(x)-T)=1$. Since this condition and the map $x \in U'(\mathbb{A}) \mapsto \varphi_{1,2}(x,x)$ are $P_1'(F)$ -left invariant, we may assume that $x \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_1'}$. By [Art78, lemma 6.1], x also satisfies $F^{P_1'}(y,T)\tau_{P_1'}^{P_2'}(H_{P_1'}(y)-T)=1$, so by Lemma 2.3.3.1, we have $x \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_2'}$. We can deduce from the proof of Proposition 3.1.5.1 and the majorization (3.3.4.1) that there exists a fixed compact subset $\mathcal{K} \subset U'(\mathbb{A})$ such that $\mathfrak{s}_{P_2'} \subset \mathfrak{s}_{P_2''}\mathcal{K}$ and that there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{T}_N([U])$ such that

$$|\varphi_{1,2}(x)| \le \exp(-\langle \lambda, H_{P_0'}(x) \rangle) ||x||^N ||\varphi||$$
 (3.3.4.2)

for all $x \in \mathfrak{s}_{P'_2}$ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{T}_N([U])$. Here, we wrote x instead of (x,x) in the left-hand side. Since the restriction to $\mathfrak{a}_{P'_0}$ of elements of $\Delta_0^{P''_2} \setminus \Delta_0^{P''_1}$ are (up to some positive constants) the restriction of elements of $\Delta_0^{P'_2} \setminus \Delta_0^{P'_1}$, we can conclude by the next Lemma 3.3.4.1 and the fact that, for all N > 0, there exists c, N' > 0 such that for all $x \in [U']$,

$$\sum_{\delta \in P_1'(F) \backslash U'(F)} \|\delta x\|_{P_1}^{-N'} \leq c \|x\|_{U'}^{-N}.$$

Lemma 3.3.4.1. For every $N \ge 0$ and r > 0, there exists t > 0 and C > 0 such that for any

$$\lambda = \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_0^{P_2'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P_1'}} x_{\alpha} \alpha \text{ with } x_{\alpha} > t, \tag{3.3.4.3}$$

we have

$$F^{P_1'}(x,T)\sigma_1^2(H_{P_0'}(x)-T)\exp(-\langle \lambda,H_{P_0'}(x)\rangle) \leq Ce^{-r\|T\|}\|x\|_{P_1'}^{-N}$$

for all $x \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_1'}$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}_0'$ sufficiently positive.

Proof. Any $H_1 \in \mathfrak{a}_{P_1'}$ can be written $H_1 = H_1^2 + H_2$ according to the decomposition $\mathfrak{a}_{P_1'} = \mathfrak{a}_{P_1'}^{P_2'} \oplus \mathfrak{a}_{P_2'}$. By [Art80, Corollary 6.2], there is $c_1 > 0$ such that

$$||H_1|| \le c_1(1 + ||H_1^2||) \tag{3.3.4.4}$$

for all $H_1 \in \mathfrak{a}_{P_1'}$ such that $\sigma_1^2(H_1) \neq 1$. There exist $c_2, c_3, c_4 > 0$ such that for all $x \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_1'}$, we have

$$||x||_{P_1'} \le c_2 ||x|| \le c_3 \exp(c_4 ||H_0(x)||),$$

where we set $H_0 = H_{P_0'}$. We assume from now on that we have

$$F^{P_1'}(x,T)\sigma_1^2(H_0(x)-T) \neq 0. (3.3.4.5)$$

In particular, we have $x \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_2'}$ as we have already seen it in §3.3.4 – discussion below (3.3.4.1). According to (3.3.4.4), the norm of $H_0(x)$ is bounded in terms of the norm of the projection of $H_0(x)$ on $\mathfrak{a}_{P_0'}^{P_2'}$, so up to some positive constant, it is bounded by

$$1 + \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_2}} |\langle \alpha, H_0(x) \rangle|.$$

Since we assume $F^{P'_1}(x,T)=1$ and $x\in\mathfrak{s}_{P'_1}$, the norm of the projection of $H_0(x)$ on $\mathfrak{a}_{P'_0}^{P'_1}$ is bounded by some multiple of $\|T\|$. For all $\alpha\in\Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_2}\setminus\Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_1}$, we have $\langle\alpha,H_0(x)\rangle>\langle\alpha,T\rangle\geqslant0$ since we assume $\sigma_1^2(H_0(x)-T)\neq0$; see [Art78, lemma 6.1]. Hence, we deduce that there exist c_5,c_6 such that for all $x\in\mathfrak{s}_{P'_1}$ that satisfy (3.3.4.5), we have

$$||x||_{P'_1} \le c_2 ||x|| \le c_5 \exp(c_6(||T|| + \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_2} \setminus \Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_1}} \langle \alpha, H_0(x) \rangle)).$$

The lemma is then obvious since for such x, and all $\alpha \in \Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_2} \setminus \Delta_{P'_0}^{P'_1}$ and any sufficiently positive T (see §3.1.6), we have $\langle \alpha, H_0(x) \rangle > \langle \alpha, T \rangle \ge \varepsilon ||T||$.

3.3.5.

We can apply the operator Λ_u^T to the right variable of the kernel $K_{f,\chi}(x,y)$: we get a function on $[U] \times [U']$ denoted by $K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^T$.

Theorem 3.3.5.1.

1. For all $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, we have

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} \int_{[U'] \times [U']} \left| (K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^T)(x, y) \right| \, dx dy \le ||f||. \tag{3.3.5.1}$$

2. For all r > 0, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for any $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive and $f \in S(U(\mathbb{A}))$, we have

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} \left| J_{\chi}^{U,T}(f) - \int_{[U'] \times [U']} (K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^T)(x, y) \, dx dy \right| \le e^{-r \|T\|} \|f\|. \tag{3.3.5.2}$$

From Theorem 3.2.3.1 assertion 2 and from Theorem 3.3.5.1, we get the following:

Corollary 3.3.5.2. The absolutely convergent integral

$$\int_{[U']\times[U']} (K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^T)(x,y)\,dxdy$$

is asymptotic to an exponential-polynomial in the variable T whose purely polynomial term is constant and equal to $J_{\chi}^{U}(f)$.

3.4. Proof of main theorems

3.4.1. Proof of Theorem 3.3.5.1 assertion 1

Let $N_1, N_2 > 0$. Let $N_0 > 0$ be as in Remark 3.2.2.1 (for P = U). We set $N_1' = N_1 + N_0$. Let $T \in \mathfrak{a}_0'$ be sufficiently positive. By Proposition 3.3.3.1, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{N_1'}$ on $\mathcal{T}_{N_1'}([U])$ such that for all $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$, all $\chi \in [U]$ and $\chi \in [U']$, we have

$$||y||_{U'}^{N_2}|(K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^T)(x,y)| \le ||K_{f,\chi}(x,\cdot)||_{N_1'}.$$

Then, by Remark 3.2.2.1, more particularly the majorization (3.2.2.3) for P = U, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for all $x \in [U]$ and $y \in [U']$,

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |(K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^T)(x, y)| \leq ||f||_{\mathcal{S}} ||x||_U^{-N_1} ||y||_{U'}^{-N_2}.$$

Now the map $(x, y) \mapsto ||x||_U^{-N_1} ||y||_{U'}^{-N_2}$ is integrable on $[U'] \times [U']$ for large N_1, N_2 ; see [Beu21, Proposition A.1.1 (ix)].

3.4.2. Asymptotics of several truncated kernels

We shall use the two following results.

Theorem 3.4.2.1. For every $N_1, N_2, r > 0$, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)} \left| K_{f,\chi}^{T}(x,y) - K_{f,\chi}(x,y) F^{U'}(y,T) \right| \le e^{-r\|T\|} \|x\|_{U'}^{-N_1} \|y\|_{U'}^{-N_2} \|f\|$$
(3.4.2.1)

for $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, $(x, y) \in [U'] \times [U']$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive.

The proof of Theorem 3.4.2.1 will be given in §3.4.5 below.

Corollary 3.4.2.2. For every $N_1, N_2, r > 0$, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|.\|$ on $S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)} \left| K_{f,\chi}^T(x,y) - (K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^T)(x,y) \right| \le e^{-r\|T\|} \|x\|_{U'}^{-N_1} \|y\|_{U'}^{-N_2} \|f\|$$
(3.4.2.2)

for $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, $(x, y) \in [U'] \times [U']$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive.

Proof. Let $N_1, N_1', N_2 > 0$ be as in §3.4.1. By assertion 2 of Proposition 3.3.3.1, for every r > 0, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{N_1'}$ on $\mathcal{T}_{N_1'}([U])$ such that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A})), \chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U), \chi \in [U]$, $\chi \in [U']$ and $\chi \in \mathfrak{A}_0'$ sufficiently positive, we have

$$|(K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_{u}^{T})(x,y)-K_{f,\chi}(x,y)F^{U'}(y,T)| \leq e^{-r\|T\|}\|y\|_{U'}^{-N_{2}}\|K_{f,\chi}(x,\cdot)\|_{N'_{1}}.$$

From this and the majorization (3.2.2.3) (for P = G), we deduce that there exists a continuous seminorm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, $x \in [U]$, $y \in [U']$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive, we have

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |(K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^T)(x,y) - K_{f,\chi}(x,y) F^{U'}(y,T)| \leq e^{-r \|T\|} \|f\|_{\mathcal{S}} \|x\|_U^{-N_1} \|y\|_{U'}^{-N_2}.$$

By [Beu21, Proposition A.1.1 (ix)], we have $||x||_{U} \sim ||x||_{U'}$ for $x \in [U']$. The corollary is then a straightforward consequence of the inequality above and Theorem 3.4.2.1.

3.4.3. Proof of Theorem 3.2.3.1

First, we mention that all the statements but the continuity are stated and proved for compactly supported functions; see [Zyd20, theorems 4.1, 4.5 and 4.7]. We just need the extension to Schwartz functions. The assertion 1 of Theorem 3.2.3.1 is a direct consequence of Corollary 3.4.2.2 and assertion 1 of Theorem 3.3.5.1. This gives also the continuity of the distributions $J_{\chi}^{U,T}$ and their sum over $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$.

The assertion 2 of Theorem 3.2.3.1 can be proved as in [Zyd20, proof of theorems 4.5]. We take for granted the obvious extension of Corollary 3.4.2.2 and Theorem 3.3.5.1 assertion 1 to the auxiliary kernels of [Zyd20, section 4.1] relative to some parabolic subgroups of U. Indeed, it can be proved with the same technics and is left to the reader. In particular, the formula of [Zyd20, proposition 4.4]

holds for Schwartz functions, and each term in right-hand side of the formula (among them $J_{\chi}^{U}(f)$) is a continuous distribution. From this, we deduce assertion 3 of Theorem 3.2.3.1 as in [Zyd20, theorem 4.7]. Finally, assertion 4 follows from assertion 1.

3.4.4. Proof of Theorem 3.3.5.1 assertion 2

It is an obvious application of Corollary 3.4.2.2.

3.4.5. Proof of Theorem 3.4.2.1

We shall use the notation of the proof of Proposition 3.3.3.1. We start from the expression for all $x, y \in [U']$

$$\begin{split} K_{f,\chi}^T(x,y) - K_{f,\chi}(x,y) F^{U'}(y,T) \\ &= \sum_{P_1' \subsetneq P_2'} \sum_{\delta \in P_1'(F) \backslash U'(F)} \sum_{\gamma \in P_2'(F) \backslash U'(F)} F^{P_1'}(\delta y,T) \sigma_1^2(H_{P_1'}(\delta y) - T) K_{1,2,f,\chi}(\gamma x,\delta y), \end{split}$$

where $\sigma_1^2 = \sigma_{P_1'}^{P_2'}$ is as in (3.3.3.1), the sum is over $P_1', P_2' \in \mathcal{F}_0'$ and we set for $x \in P_2'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $y \in P_1'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$,

$$K_{1,2,f,\chi}(x,y) = \sum_{P_1' \subset P \subset P_2'} \epsilon_{P'} \sum_{\gamma \in P'(F) \backslash P_2'(F)} K_{f,P,\chi}(\gamma x,y).$$

From now on, we fix $P_1' \subsetneq P_2'$. Let $\alpha \in \Delta_0^{P_2'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P_1'}$ and let $P_1' \subsetneq {}^{\alpha}P_1' \subset P_2'$ be defined by $\Delta_0^{{}^{\alpha}P_1'} = \Delta_0^{P_1'} \cup \{\alpha\}$. For any ${}^{\alpha}P_1' \subset P' \subset P_2'$, we denote by P_α' the parabolic subgroup $P_1' \subset P_\alpha' \subsetneq P'$ defined by $\Delta_0^{P_\alpha'} = \Delta_0^{P_1'} \setminus \{\alpha\}$.

We denote by P and P_{α} the parabolic subgroups associated to P' and P'_{α} (see the map (3.1.4.1)). For any ${}^{\alpha}P'_{1} \subset P' \subset P'_{2}$, we set for $x \in P'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $y \in P'_{1}(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$,

$$K^{\alpha}_{f,P,\chi}(x,y) = K_{f,P,\chi}(x,y) - \sum_{\gamma \in P'_{\alpha}(F) \backslash P'(F)} K_{f,P_{\alpha},\chi}(\gamma x,y).$$

Note that we have for all $x \in P_2'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $y \in P_1'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$,

$$K_{1,2,f,\chi}(x,y) = \sum_{\alpha P_1' \subset P' \subset P_2'} \epsilon_{P'} \sum_{\delta \in P'(F) \backslash P_2'(F)} K_{f,P,\chi}^{\alpha}(\delta x,y). \tag{3.4.5.1}$$

We fix P' as in the sum above, and we start by majorizing each $K_{P,\chi,f}^{\alpha}(x,y)$.

Lemma 3.4.5.1. There exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for any $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K^{\alpha}_{f,P,\chi}(x,y)| \leq \|f\| d_{P'_1}(\alpha,y)^{-n_1} \|y\|_{P'_1}^{n_2+n_0} \|x\|_{P'}^{-n_2}.$$

for all $x \in P'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$, $y \in P'_1(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}_0^+$ sufficiently positive such that

$$F^{P'_1}(y,T)\sigma_1^2(H_{P'_1}(y)-T)=1. (3.4.5.2)$$

Proof. Let $y \in U'(\mathbb{A})$. By using left translation by $P_1'(F)$, we may and shall assume that $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_1'}$. Assume that y satisfies also the Condition (3.4.5.2): by [Art78, lemma 6.1], y thus satisfies $F^{P_1'}(y,T)\tau_{P_1'}^{P_2'}(H_{P_1'}(y)-T)=1$. By Lemma 2.3.3.1 and then Lemma 2.3.4.2, we have $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_2'}$ and $d_{P_\alpha'}(\alpha,y)=d_{P_1'}(\alpha,y)$. Since

we have $\|y\|_{P'_1} \sim \|y\|$ for $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P'_1}$ and $d_{P'_{\alpha}}(\alpha, y) \sim \exp(\langle \alpha, H_{P'_0}(y) \rangle)$ for $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P'_{\alpha}}$, we may and shall freely replace $d_{P'_1}(\alpha, y)$ by either $d_{P'_{\alpha}}(\alpha, y)$ or $\exp(\langle \alpha, H_{P'_0}(y) \rangle)$ and $\|y\|_{P'_1}$ by $\|y\|$ in the inequality we have to prove.

Let us observe that we have

$$\sum_{\gamma \in P_{\alpha}(F) \backslash P(F)} K_{f,P_{\alpha},\chi}(\gamma x,y) = \int_{[N_{\alpha}]} K_{f,P,\chi}(x,ny) \, dn,$$

where $N_{\alpha} = N_{P_{\alpha}}$. We have $P_{\alpha} = P'_{\alpha} \times P''_{\alpha}$, where $P'_{\alpha} \subset P'$ and $P''_{\alpha} \subset P''$ are maximal parabolic subgroups. We set $N''_{\alpha} = N_{P''_{\alpha}}$. We denote by $\tilde{\alpha}$ the unique element of $\Delta_0^{P''} \setminus \Delta_0^{P''_{\alpha}}$.

Thus, we see that $K_{P,\chi,f}^{\alpha}(x,y)$ is the sum of three terms:

$$K_{f,P,\chi}^{1,\alpha}(x,y) = K_{f,P,\chi}(x,y) - \int_{[N_{\alpha}'']} K_{f,P,\chi}(x,ny) \, dn \tag{3.4.5.3}$$

$$K_{f,P,\chi}^{2,\alpha}(x,y) = \int_{[N_{\alpha}']} K_{f,P,\chi}(x,ny) \, dn - \int_{[N_{\alpha}]} K_{f,P,\chi}(x,ny) \, dn \tag{3.4.5.4}$$

$$K_{f,P,\chi}^{3,\alpha}(x,y) = \sum_{\gamma \in \Omega_{P,\alpha}} K_{f,P_{\alpha},\chi}(\gamma x, y),$$
 (3.4.5.5)

where $\Omega_{P,\alpha}$ is the complement in $P_{\alpha}(F)\backslash P(F)$ of the diagonal image of P'(F).

By a variant of (3.3.4.2), for all $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{T}_{n_2}([U])$ such that for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A})), \chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U), \chi \in [U]_P$ and $\chi \in \mathfrak{S}_{P'}$, we have

$$|K_{f,P,\chi}^{1,\alpha}(x,y)| \le \exp(-n_1\langle \alpha, H_{P_0'}(y)\rangle) ||y||^{n_2} ||K_{f,P,\chi}(x,\cdot)||.$$

By [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.10.1.1], there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for any $n_2 > 0$ and any continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{T}_{n_2}([U])$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} \|K_{f,P,\chi}(x,\cdot)\| \le \|f\|_{\mathcal{S}} \|x\|_{P}^{-(n_2 - n_0)}$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ and $x \in [U]_P$. We conclude that there exists n_0 such for all $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there is a semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K_{f,P,\chi}^{1,\alpha}(x,y)| \le \exp(-n_1 \langle \alpha, H_{P_0'}(y) \rangle) ||f||_{\mathcal{S}} ||y||^{n_2 + n_0} ||x||_{P'}^{-n_2}$$
(3.4.5.6)

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, $x \in [U']_{P'}$ and $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P'}$. In the same way, one proves that the bounds (3.4.5.6) holds for $K_{f,P,\chi}^{2,\alpha}(x,y)$.

We introduce the weight function

$$w(x) = \min(d_{P''_{\alpha}}(\tilde{\alpha}, x'), d_{P''_{\alpha}}(\tilde{\alpha}, x''))$$

for $x = (x', x'') \in [U]_{P_{\alpha}} = [U]_{P_{\alpha}'} \times [U]_{P_{\alpha}''}$. In the following, we shall view $\alpha + \tilde{\alpha}$ as an element of $\mathfrak{a}_{P_0'}^* \oplus \mathfrak{a}_{B_0''}^*$. By [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.10.1.1], there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for any $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K_{f,P_{\alpha},\chi}(x,z)| \leq \|f\|_{\mathcal{S}} w(z)^{-n_1} \|z\|_{P_{\alpha}}^{n_2+n_0} w(x)^{n_1} \|x\|_{P_{\alpha}}^{-n_2}$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ and $x, z \in [U]_{P_\alpha}$. Thus, for all $x \in P'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $z \in [U']_{P'_\alpha}$, we have

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} \sum_{\gamma \in \Omega_{P,\alpha}} |K_{f,P_{\alpha},\chi}(\gamma x,z)| \leq \|f\|_{\mathcal{S}} w(z)^{-n_1} \|z\|_{P_{\alpha}}^{n_2+n_0} \sum_{\gamma \in \Omega_{P,\alpha}} w(\gamma x)^{n_1} \|\gamma x\|_{P_{\alpha}}^{-n_2}. \tag{3.4.5.7}$$

By Proposition 2.3.4.3, there is c > 0 such that for all $\gamma = (\gamma', \gamma'') \in P(F) = P'(F) \times P''(F)$ and any $x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$ (viewed as a diagonal element of $U(\mathbb{A})$) such that $w(\gamma x) > c$, we have $\gamma'' \in P''_{\alpha}(F)\gamma'$. Thus, such a γ cannot belong to the subset $\Omega_{P,\alpha}$. In this way, for $x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$, we have

$$\sum_{\gamma \in \Omega_{P,\alpha}} w(\gamma x)^{n_1} \|\gamma x\|_{P_{\alpha}}^{-n_2} \le c^{n_1} \sum_{\gamma \in P_{\alpha}(F) \setminus P(F)} \|\gamma x\|_{P_{\alpha}}^{-n_2}.$$
 (3.4.5.8)

By Proposition 3.1.5.1, we have $w(z) \sim d_{P'_{\alpha}}(\alpha, z)^r$ for some r > 0 and all $z \in [U']_{P'_{\alpha}}$. We deduce from (3.4.5.7) and (3.4.5.8) that there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for any $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K_{f,P,\chi}^{3,\alpha}(x,y)| \leq ||f||_{\mathcal{S}} d_{P_{\alpha}'}(\alpha,y)^{-n_1} ||y||^{n_2+n_0} ||x||_{P'}^{-n_2}$$

for $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P'_{\alpha}}$ and $x \in P'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$. The conclusion is clear.

Lemma 3.4.5.2. There exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for any $n_2 > 0$ and any λ in the open convex cone generated by $\Delta_0^{P_2'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P_1'}$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K_{1,2,f,\chi}(x,y)| \leq \|f\| d_{P_1'}(-\lambda,y) \|y\|_{P_1'}^{n_2+n_0} \|x\|_{P_2'}^{-n_2}.$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive, $x \in P'_2(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $y \in P'_1(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ such that $F^{P'_1}(y,T)\sigma_1^2(H_{P'_1}(y)-T)=1$.

Proof. Let $P_1' \subset P' \subset P_2'$ and $\alpha \in \Delta_0^{P_2'} \setminus \Delta_0^{P_1'}$. By Lemma 3.4.5.1, there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for all $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for all f, f and f as in the statement and all f and f are the statement and all f are the statement and f are the statement and f are the statement and f are the statement f

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K^{\alpha}_{f,P,\chi}(x,y)| \leq \|f\| d_{P'_1}(\alpha,y)^{-n_1} \|y\|_{P'_1}^{n_2+n_0} \|x\|_{P'}^{-n_2}.$$

Using the decomposition (3.4.5.1), we see that there exists $n_0 > 0$ such that for any $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there is a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$\sum_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)} |K_{1,2,f,\chi}(x,y)| \leq ||f|| d_{P'_1}(\alpha,y)^{-n_1} ||y||_{P'_1}^{n_2+n_0} ||x||_{P'_2}^{-n_2}$$

for all f, T, x and y as in the statement. The result follows easily.

Let n_0 be as in Lemma 3.4.5.2. For any $n_1, n_2, r > 0$, there are λ and C > 0 as in Lemma 3.3.4.1 such that for all $y \in P'_1(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive, we have

$$F^{P_1'}(y,T)\sigma_1^2(H_{P_1'}(y)-T)d_{P_1'}(-\alpha,y)\|y\|_{P_1'}^{n_0+n_2+n_1}\leq C\exp(-r\|T\|).$$

This indeed follows from Lemma 3.3.4.1: we may take $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_1'}$ and use the fact that $d_{P_1'}(-\lambda, y)$ is equivalent to $\exp(\langle -\lambda, H_{P_0'}(y) \rangle)$ for $y \in \mathfrak{s}_{P_1'}$ (see Proposition 2.3.4.1).

As a consequence, we get by Lemma 3.4.5.2 that for any $n_1, n_2 > 0$, there exists a continuous seminorm $\|\cdot\|$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

$$F^{P_1'}(y,T)\sigma_1^2(H_{P_1'}(y)-T)\sum_{\chi\in\mathfrak{X}(U)}|K_{1,2,f,\chi}(x,y)|\leq \|f\|e^{-r\|T\|}\|x\|_{P_2'}^{-n_2}\|y\|_{P_1'}^{-n_2}$$

for all T sufficiently positive, all $x \in P_2'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and $y \in P_1'(F) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ and all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$. It is then straightforward to get Theorem 3.4.2.1.

3.5. The (U,U')-regular contribution in the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula

3.5.1.

The goal of the section is to get Theorem 3.5.7.1 below which gives a computation of the distributions J_{χ}^{U} of Theorem 3.2.3.1 in terms of relative characters for some specific cuspidal data which we are going to define.

3.5.2.

Recall that we have $U = U' \times U''$. Let $\chi = (\chi', \chi'') \in \mathfrak{X}(U) = \mathfrak{X}(U') \times \mathfrak{X}(U'')$ be a cuspidal datum. Let $(M = M' \times M'', \pi = \pi' \boxtimes \pi'')$ be a representative where $M = M_P$ is standard Levi subgroup of a standard parabolic subgroup P of U. For any integer r, we set $G_r = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \operatorname{GL}(r, E)$. We can find hermitian forms h' and h'' respectively of rank n' and n'', integers $n'_1, \ldots, n'_{r'}$ and $n''_1, \ldots, n''_{r''}$ and for $1 \le i \le r'$ cuspidal representations π'_i of $G_{n'_i}(\mathbb{A})$ (with central character trivial on $A^{\infty}_{G_{n'_i}}$) and for $1 \leqslant i \leqslant r''$ cuspidal representations π_i'' of $G_{n_i''}(\mathbb{A})$ (with central character trivial on $A_{G_{n_i''}}^{\infty}$), cuspidal representations σ' and σ'' respectively of $U(h')(\mathbb{A})$ and $U(h'')(\mathbb{A})$ such that such that

- $\begin{array}{l} \bullet \ n' + 2(n'_1 + \ldots + n'_{r'}) = n \ \text{and} \ n'' + 2(n''_1 + \ldots + n''_{r''}) = n + 1; \\ \bullet \ M' \simeq G_{n'_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n'_{r'}} \times U(h') \ \text{and} \ M'' \simeq G_{n''_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n''_{r''}} \times U(h''); \\ \bullet \ \pi' = \pi'_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \pi'_{r'} \boxtimes \sigma' \ \text{and} \ \pi'' = \pi''_1 \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \pi''_{r''} \boxtimes \sigma'' \ \text{accordingly}. \end{array}$

We shall say that χ is

- *U-regular* (or simply regular) if both χ' and χ'' are regular. We say that χ' is regular if the representations $\pi'_1, \ldots, \pi'_{r'}, (\pi'_1)^*, \ldots, (\pi'_{r'})^*$ are two by two distinct (the same definition applies to χ''). Here, π^* means the conjugate dual of the representation π .
- U'-regular if for each $1 \le i \le r'$ and $1 \le j \le r''$ such that $n'_i = n''_i$, the representations $(\pi'_i)^{\vee}$ (the contragredient of π'_i) and π''_i are neither isomorphic nor conjugate dual;
- (U, U')-regular if it is both U-regular and U'-regular.

3.5.3.

Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$. Let $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$ such that the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi,\lambda)$ on [U] is regular at λ . For $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$, we denote by $\Lambda_u^T E(\varphi, \lambda)$ the function on [U'] obtained from $E(\varphi, \lambda)$ by truncation by the operator defined in (3.3.2.1). The following proposition is basic to our calculation.

Proposition 3.5.3.1. *Let* $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ *sufficiently positive.*

1. The integral

$$\int_{[U']} \Lambda_u^T E(x, \varphi, \lambda) \, dx \tag{3.5.3.1}$$

is absolutely convergent.

2. If the spectral datum χ defined by (M,π) is U'-regular, then the integral (3.5.3.1) does not depend on T.

3. Write $P = P' \times P''$. If P' = U' or P'' = U'', then we have

$$\int_{[U']} \Lambda_u^T E(x, \varphi, \lambda) \, dx = \int_{[U']} E(x, \varphi, \lambda) \, dx, \tag{3.5.3.2}$$

where the left-hand side is absolutely convergent.

Proof. 1. The absolute convergence follows from the uniform moderate growth of Eisenstein series and the basic properties of the truncation operator Λ_{μ}^{T} recalled in Proposition 3.3.3.1.

2. To analyse the dependence on T, we shall use the following formula (adapted from [IY19, eq. (2.2)]): for any $T' \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ and any smooth function φ on [U], we have for any $x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$,

$$(\Lambda_u^{T+T'}\varphi)(x) = \sum_{R' \in \mathcal{F}_0'} \sum_{\delta \in R'(F) \setminus U'(F)} \Gamma_{R'}(H_{R'}(\delta x) - T_{R'}, T')(\Lambda_u^{T,R'}\varphi)(\delta x), \tag{3.5.3.3}$$

where the function $\Gamma_{R'}(\cdot, T')$ is compactly supported on $\mathfrak{a}_{R'}$ (for the precise definition, see p.9 of [IY19]); moreover, we set for any $x \in U'(\mathbb{A})$,

$$(\Lambda_u^{T,R'}\varphi)(x) = \sum_{Q' \subset R'} (-1)^{\dim(\mathfrak{q}_{Q'}^{R'})} \sum_{\delta \in Q'(F) \backslash R'(F)} \hat{\tau}_{Q'}^{R'}(H_{Q'}(\delta x) - T)\varphi_{U' \times Q''}(\delta x),$$

where the sum is over the set of standard parabolic subgroups Q' of R' and $\varphi_{U'\times Q''}$ is the constant term along $U'\times Q''$, where $Q'\times Q''$ is the image of Q' by the map (3.1.4.1). For R'=U', we recover the operator Λ_{μ}^T .

Using (3.5.3.3) and some Iwasawa decomposition, we see that assertion 2 follows from the following vanishing statement: for any *proper* standard parabolic subgroups R' of U', we have for some Haar measure on K,

$$\int_{[M_{R'}]} \int_K \exp(-\langle 2\rho_{R'}, H_{R'}(x)\rangle) \Gamma_{R'}(H_{R'}(x) - T, T') \Lambda_u^{T, R'} E_R(x, \varphi, \lambda) dx = 0,$$

where $E_R(\varphi, \lambda)$ is the constant term of $E(\varphi, \lambda)$ along the parabolic subgroup R, the image of R' by the map (3.1.4.1).

Using the usual computation of the constant term of (cuspidal) Eisenstein series, we are reduced to prove that

$$\int_{[M_{R'}]^1} \Lambda_u^{T,M'_R} E^R(x,\varphi,\lambda) \, dx = 0 \tag{3.5.3.4}$$

for all parabolic subgroup $P \subset R$, all $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(U)$ such that the class of (M_P,π) is U'-regular. Here, $E^R(\varphi,\lambda)$ denotes the Eisenstein series relative to R.

Let us prove this last claim. The reasoning here is very similar to that of [BPCZ22, proof of proposition 5.1.4.1], so we will be quite brief. There exist a hermitian form h' of rank m and integers n_1, \ldots, n_r such that $m + 2(n_1 + \ldots + n_r) = n$

$$M_R \simeq (G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}) \times U(h') \times (G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}) \times U(h' \oplus h_0)$$

$$M_{R'} \simeq (G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}) \times U(h').$$

The embedding $M_{R'} \subset M_R$ is given by the product of the diagonal embeddings $G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r} \subset (G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r})^2$ and $U(h') \subset U(h') \times U(h' \oplus h_0)$. Then the operator $\Lambda_u^{T,M_R'}$ is the product of

- the usual Arthur operator attached to $G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}$ viewed as an operator on functions on $[G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}] \times [G_{n_1} \times \ldots \times G_{n_r}]$ acting on the second factor;
- the operator $\Lambda_u^{T,U(h')}$ defined relatively to the embedding $U(h') \subset U(h') \times U(h' \oplus h_0)$.

We see that in (3.5.3.4), each integral over G_{n_i} can be interpreted as a scalar product of an Eisenstein series and a truncated Eisenstein series. By Langlands' computation of this scalar product and our U'-regularity assumption, we get the expected vanishing.

3. If P' = U' or P'' = U'', then on the one hand, the cuspidal datum defined by (M, π) is automatically U'-regular. Thus, the left-hand side of (3.5.3.2) does not depend on T. On the other hand, the restriction of $E(\varphi, \lambda)$ to [U'] is rapidly decreasing. So the right-hand side of (3.5.3.2) is absolutely convergent. Now the equality (3.5.3.2) is a straightforward consequence of assertion 2 of Proposition 3.3.3.1 and the dominated convergence theorem.

3.5.4. Ichino-Yamana regularized period

Assume that the cuspidal datum defined by (M, π) is U'-regular. Following [IY19], we define the regularized period of $E(\varphi, \lambda)$ for $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^*$ by

$$\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{[U']} \Lambda_u^T E(x,\varphi,\lambda) \, dx, \tag{3.5.4.1}$$

where the right-hand side is the absolutely convergent integral (3.5.3.1) attached to the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi, \lambda)$ for any $T \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive. It does not depend on T by Proposition 3.5.3.1 assertion 2. It is meromorphic in λ and holomorphic when $E(\varphi, \lambda)$ is regular, in particular on $i\mathfrak{a}_P^*$. The map $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{U'}(\varphi, \lambda)$ is continuous.

3.5.5. Relative character

We keep our assumption on (M, π) . Let $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P, \mathbb{C}}^*$. We define the relative character $J_{P, \pi}^U(\lambda, f)$ by

$$J_{P,\pi}^{U}(\lambda,f) = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \mathcal{P}_{U'}(I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda) \overline{\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\varphi,\lambda)}, \tag{3.5.5.1}$$

where $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ and $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ is a K-basis of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$ in the sense of §2.2.4. Outside the singularities of the involved Eisenstein series, the sum is absolutely convergent. It is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_P^*$. It does not depend on the choice of $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ and it defines a continuous linear form on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ (see [BPCZ22, proposition 2.8.4.1])). For further use, we observe the following simple functional equation.

Proposition 3.5.5.1. Let P and P_1 be standard parabolic subgroup of U of respective standard Levi factors M and M_1 . Assume that the pairs (M,π) and (M_1,π_1) define the same U'-regular cuspidal datum. Then for $w \in W(M,M_1)$ such that $\pi_1 = w\pi$ and $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_p^*$, we have

$$J_{P,\pi}^{U}(\lambda,f) = J_{P_1,\pi_1}^{U}(w \cdot \lambda,f).$$

Proof. This is an immediate consequence of the functional equation $E(\varphi, \lambda) = E(M(w, \lambda)\varphi, w\lambda)$ of Eisenstein series and the fact that for $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_P^*$, the intertwining operator sends a K-basis of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$ to a K-basis of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi_1,\text{cusp}}(U)$.

3.5.6. Some auxiliary results

For further use, we state and prove some useful results.

Lemma 3.5.6.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ be a U-regular cuspidal datum. For any standard parabolic subgroup P of U and any representative (M_P, π) of χ , we have for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ and $x, y \in [U]$,

$$K_{f,\chi}(x,y) = \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_P^*} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(x, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda, \tag{3.5.6.1}$$

where $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ is a K-basis as above.

Proof. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ and $x, y \in [U]$. We start from the general spectral expansion (see [BPCZ22, lemma 2.10.2.1])

$$K_{f,\chi}(x,y) = \sum_{Q} n_Q^{-1} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_Q^*} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,\chi}} E(x, I_Q(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda, \tag{3.5.6.2}$$

where the sum is over the set of standard parabolic subgroups Q of U; the integer n_Q is the number of semi-standard parabolic subgroups of U which admits the same semi-standard Levi component as Q. The set $\mathcal{B}_{Q,\chi}$ is a K-basis of the space $\mathcal{A}^0_{Q,\chi,\mathrm{disc}}(U)$ (we refer the reader to [BPCZ22, §2.10.2] for the notation). From now on, we assume moreover that χ is U-regular. Let (M_P,π) be a representative of χ with P a standard parabolic subgroup of G. Let Q be a standard parabolic subgroup of G. Then the space $\mathcal{A}^0_{Q,\chi,\mathrm{disc}}(U)$ has the following simple description:

$$\mathcal{A}_{Q,\gamma,\mathrm{disc}}^{0}(U) = \hat{\oplus}_{w \in W(P,Q)} \mathcal{A}_{Q,w\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(U). \tag{3.5.6.3}$$

In particular, this space is zero unless Q and P are associated, which we assume from now on. As a consequence, we may and shall assume that $\mathcal{B}_{Q,\chi}$ is a union over $w \in W(P,Q)$ of K-bases $\mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}$ of $\mathcal{A}_{Q,w\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$. In this way, by the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 3.5.5.1, we see that we have for all $w \in W(P,Q)$ and $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_Q^*$,

$$\sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}} E(x, I_Q(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(x, I_P(w^{-1}\lambda, f)\varphi, w^{-1}\lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, w^{-1}\lambda)},$$

where $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ is a *K*-basis of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$. So we get by the change of variables $\lambda \mapsto w^{-1}\lambda$,

$$\begin{split} & \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{Q}^{*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q, \chi}} E(x, I_{Q}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda \\ & = \sum_{w \in W(P, Q)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{Q}^{*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q, w\pi}} E(x, I_{Q}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda \\ & = |W(P, Q)| \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P, \pi}} E(x, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda. \end{split}$$

This gives the result since we have $\sum_{Q} |W(P,Q)| n_Q^{-1} = 1$ where the sum is taken over standard parabolic subgroups Q. Note that in the second line above the integral over $i\mathfrak{a}_Q^*$ is absolutely convergent. Let us check this. By Dixmier-Malliavin theorem, we may and shall assume that we have $f = f_1 * f_2^*$ for some $f_1, f_2 \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, where * denotes the convolution product and we have set $f_2^*(g) = \overline{f_2(g^{-1})}$. By a standard change of basis argument, we have for all $x_1, x_2 \in U(\mathbb{A})$,

$$\sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}} E(x_1, I_Q(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(x_2, \varphi, \lambda)} = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}} E(x_1, I_Q(\lambda, f_1)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(x_2, I_Q(\lambda, f_2)\varphi, \lambda)}.$$

By Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, the expression

$$\int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{Q}^{*}} \Big| \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}} E(x_{1}, I_{Q}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(x_{2}, \varphi, \lambda)} \Big| d\lambda$$

is bounded above by the square-root of the product over i = 1, 2 of

$$\int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{Q}^{*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}} |E(x_{i}, I_{Q}(\lambda, f_{i})\varphi, \lambda)|^{2} d\lambda = \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{Q}^{*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,w\pi}} E(x_{i}, I_{Q}(\lambda, g_{i})\varphi, \lambda) \overline{E(x_{i}, \varphi, \lambda)} d\lambda,$$

where we have set $g_i = f_i * f_i^*$. By the same argument, we see that the spectral expansion of $K_{g_i}(x,x)$ deduced from (3.5.6.2) is a sum of non-negative terms, and thus, the last expression above is bounded above by $K_{g_i}(x_i, x_i)$ times n_Q .

Let T_1, T_2 be two sufficiently positive points in \mathfrak{a}'_0 . Let $\Lambda_u^{T_1} K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2}$ be the function of two variables we get when we apply on $K_{f,\chi}$ the truncation operators $\Lambda_u^{T_1}$ and $\Lambda_u^{T_2}$, respectively, on the left and right variables.

Lemma 3.5.6.2. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ be a U-regular cuspidal datum. For any standard parabolic subgroup P of U and any representative (M_P, π) of χ , we have for all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ and $x, y \in [U']$,

$$(\Lambda_u^{T_1} K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y) = \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_P^*} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\sigma}} (\Lambda_u^{T_1} E)(x, I_P(\lambda, f) \varphi, \lambda) \overline{\Lambda_u^{T_2} E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda, \tag{3.5.6.4}$$

where $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ is a K-basis as above.

Proof. This is a variant of the proof of Lemma 3.5.6.1. Simply instead of (3.5.6.2), we start from the spectral expansion for any $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$:

$$(\Lambda_u^{T_1} K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y) = \sum_Q n_Q^{-1} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_Q^*} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{Q,\chi}} \Lambda_u^{T_1} E(x, I_Q(\lambda, f) \varphi, \lambda) \overline{\Lambda_u^{T_2} E(y, \varphi, \lambda)} \, d\lambda. \tag{3.5.6.5}$$

The proof of this expansion is similar to that of [BPCZ22, proof of lemma 4.2.3.1] and thus is left to the reader.

Remark 3.5.6.3. Assume we have $f = f_1 * f_2^*$ as in the proof of Lemma 3.5.6.1; one has the following bound (proved by the same method as in the proof of Lemma 3.5.6.1): there exists c > 0 (independent of f_1 and f_2) such that for all $x_1, x_2 \in [U']$,

$$\sum_{(M,\pi)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{*}} \left| \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \Lambda_{u}^{T_{1}} E(x_{1}, I_{Q}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{\Lambda_{u}^{T_{2}} E(x_{2}, \varphi, \lambda)} \right| d\lambda$$

$$\leq c \left((\Lambda_{u}^{T_{1}} K_{g_{1}} \Lambda_{u}^{T_{1}})(x_{1}, x_{1}) \right)^{1/2} \left((\Lambda_{u}^{T_{2}} K_{g_{2}} \Lambda_{u}^{T_{2}})(x_{2}, x_{2}) \right)^{1/2},$$
(3.5.6.6)

where the first sum is over a set of representatives (M, π) of *U*-regular cuspidal data of *U* and we have set $g_i = f_i * f_i^*$.

Proposition 3.5.6.4. There exists a semi-norm on $S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for all $f \in S(U(\mathbb{A}))$,

$$\sum_{(M,\pi)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{*}} |J_{P,\pi}^{U}(\lambda,f)| \, d\lambda \leqslant ||f||, \tag{3.5.6.7}$$

where the sum is over a set of representatives (M, π) of (U, U')-regular cuspidal data of U and P is the standard parabolic subgroup of which M is the standard Levi factor.

Proof. By uniform boundedness principle, it suffices to prove that the expression (3.5.6.7) is finite for each f. Let T be a sufficiently positive point in \mathfrak{a}'_0 such that for all representatives (M_P, π) of (U, U')-regular cuspidal data of U with P a standard parabolic subgroup of U and for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi,\text{cusp}}(U)$, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{[U']} \Lambda_u^T E(x,\varphi,\lambda) \, dx. \tag{3.5.6.8}$$

Recall that the map $\varphi \mapsto \mathcal{P}_{U'}(\varphi, \lambda)$ is continuous. It follows from [BPCZ22, Proposition 2.8.41] that we have for $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_P^*$,

$$J^{U}_{P,\pi}(\lambda,f) = \int_{[U']\times[U']} \sum_{\varphi\in\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \Lambda^{T}_{u} E(h_{1},I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda) \overline{\Lambda^{T}_{u} E(h_{2},\varphi,\lambda)} dh_{1} dh_{2}.$$

Now it suffices to show that we have

$$\sum_{(M,\pi)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{*}} \int_{[U']\times[U']} \left| \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \Lambda_{u}^{T} E(h_{1}, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \overline{\Lambda_{u}^{T} E(h_{2}, \varphi, \lambda)} \right| dh_{1} dh_{2} d\lambda < \infty, \qquad (3.5.6.9)$$

where the outer sum is as in (3.5.6.7). To show the convergence of (3.5.6.9) for a fixed function $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, we may and shall assume, by Dixmier-Malliavin theorem, that $f = f_1 * f_2^*$ (the notations are those used in the proof of lemma 3.5.6.1). But then we can apply the bound (3.5.6.6). In this way, we see that the left-hand side of (3.5.6.9) is bounded above by (up to some irrelevant constant) by

$$\operatorname{vol}([U']) \left(\prod_{i=1}^{2} \int_{[U']} (\Lambda_{u}^{T} K_{g_{i}} \Lambda_{u}^{T})(x, x) \, dx \right)^{1/2}.$$

The volume of [U'] is finite, and the integral

$$\int_{[U']} (\Lambda_u^T K_{g_i} \Lambda_u^T)(x, x) \, dx$$

is absolutely convergent by properties of truncation operator (see Proposition 3.3.3.1) and the fact that the kernel is slowly increasing; see [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.10.1.1]. Note that the derivatives of the kernel K_{g_i} are related to the kernel associated to derivatives of g_i ; see also the proof of Theorem 3.5.7.1 where this fact is used. So we can conclude.

3.5.7.

We can now state and prove the main result of this section.

Theorem 3.5.7.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(U)$ be a (U,U')-regular cuspidal datum. For any standard parabolic subgroup P of U and any representative (M_P, π) of χ , we have

$$J^U_{\chi}(f) = \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_P^*} J^U_{P,\pi}(\lambda,f) \, d\lambda,$$

where the integral in the right-hand side is absolutely convergent.

Proof. Let (M_P, π) be a representative of a (U, U')-regular cuspidal datum χ with P a standard parabolic subgroup of U. Let T_1, T_2 be two sufficiently positive points in \mathfrak{a}'_0 such that (3.5.6.8) holds for $T = T_1, T_2$. We shall use the spectral expansion given by Lemma 3.5.6.2. Using (3.5.6.6), we get (as in the proof of Proposition 3.5.6.4)

$$\int_{i\mathfrak{a}_P^*}\int_{[U']\times[U']}|\sum_{\varphi\in\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}}\Lambda_u^{T_1}E(x,I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda)\overline{\Lambda_u^{T_1}E(y,\varphi,\lambda)}|\,dxdy<\infty.$$

Using this and Fubini theorem, we see that we can integrate the spectral expansion (3.5.6.4) over $[U'] \times [U']$ and permute the adelic and the complex integrals. Using the definition of the relative

character (3.5.5.1) built upon the periods (3.5.4.1), we have by [BPCZ22, Proposition 2.8.41],

$$J^U_{P,\pi}(\lambda,f) = \int_{[U']\times [U']} \sum_{\varphi\in\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \Lambda^{T_1}_u E(h_1,I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda) \overline{\Lambda^{T_2}_u E(h_2,\varphi,\lambda)} dh_1 dh_2.$$

So we can conclude that we have

$$\int_{[U']\times[U']} (\Lambda_u^{T_1} K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y) \, dx dy = \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_P^*} J_{P,\pi}^U(\lambda,f) \, d\lambda, \tag{3.5.7.1}$$

where both sides are absolutely convergent. Note that the right-hand side of (3.5.7.1), and hence the left-hand side, depend neither on T_1 nor on T_2 .

We fix $T_2 \in \mathfrak{a}'_0$ sufficiently positive. By Proposition 3.3.3.1 assertion 2, $\Lambda_u^{T_1} K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2}$ converges to $K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2}$ pointwise when $d(T_1) \to +\infty$ (see §3.1.6). We want to apply the dominated convergence theorem. Let N, N' > 0. By Proposition 3.3.3.1 assertion 2, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{N'}$ on $\mathcal{T}_{N'}([U])$ (which does not depend on T_1) such that we have for all $x, y \in [U']$ and all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U)$,

$$|(\Lambda_u^{T_1}K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y)| \leq ||x||_{U'}^{-N}||(K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(\cdot,y)||_{N'} + |(K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y)|.$$

Let $J \subset U(\mathbb{A}_f)$ be a compact open subgroup and $S(U(\mathbb{A}))^J \subset S(U(\mathbb{A}))$ be the subspace of right-J-invariant functions. There are finite families $(N_i)_{i \in I}$ of integers and $(X_i)_{i \in I}$ of elements of $U(\mathfrak{u}_{\infty})$ such that we have for all $x, y \in [U']$ and $f \in S(U(\mathbb{A}))^J$, we have

$$\begin{split} \|(K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(\cdot,y)\|_{N'} & \leq \sum_{i\in I} \sup_{h\in [U]} (\|h\|_U^{-N_i}|(R(X_i)K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(h,y)|) \\ & = \sum_{i\in I} \sup_{h\in [U]} (\|h\|_U^{-N_i}|(K_{L(X_i)f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(h,y)|). \end{split}$$

Here, $R(X_i)K_{f,\chi}$ means that we apply the differential operator $R(X_i)$ on the left variable of $K_{f,\chi}$. We also use the fact that we have $R(X_i)K_{f,\chi} = K_{L(X_i)f,\chi}$ for some right-invariant differential operator $L(X_i)$. Now we can use (3.2.2.3) and Proposition 3.3.3.1 assertion 1 applied to the operator $\Lambda_u^{T_2}$ to see that for all $n_1 > 0$, there exists a continuous semi-norm $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{S}}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ such that for all $x \in [U]$, $y \in [U']$ and all $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$, we have

$$|(K_{f,\gamma}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y)| \le ||f||_{\mathcal{S}} ||x||_{U}^{-n_1} ||y||_{U'}^{-n_1}.$$

We deduce that for any $n_2 > 0$, there exists c > 0 (which depends on T_2 , n_2 and $f \in \mathcal{S}(U(\mathbb{A}))$ but not on T_1) such that for all $x, y \in [U']$,

$$|(\Lambda_u^{T_1}K_{f,\chi}\Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y)| \leq c \|x\|_{U'}^{-n_2} \|y\|_{U'}^{-n_2}.$$

By choosing n_2 large enough so that $(x, y) \mapsto ||x||_{U'}^{-n_2} ||y||_{U'}^{-n_2}$ is integrable over $[U'] \times [U']$, we can apply the dominated convergence theorem to get

$$\lim_{d(T_1)\to +\infty} \int_{[U']\times [U']} (\Lambda_u^{T_1} K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y) \, dx dy = \int_{[U']\times [U']} (K_{f,\chi} \Lambda_u^{T_2})(x,y) \, dx dy.$$

We have seen that the left-hand side depends neither on T_1 nor on T_2 . So the right-hand side is also independent of T_2 . We can conclude from Corollary 3.3.5.2 that the right-hand side is in fact equal to $J_{\chi}^U(f)$.

4. The (G, H)-regular contribution in the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula

4.1. Statement and proof

4.1.1.

Let E/F be a quadratic extension of number fields. Let \mathbb{A} be the ring of adèles of F and $\eta = \eta_{E/F}$ be the quadratic character of the group \mathbb{A}^{\times} attached to E/F. Let $n \ge 1$ and $G'_n = \operatorname{GL}_{n,F}$ be the algebraic group of F-linear automorphisms of F^n . We view as an F-subgroup of $G_n = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(G'_n \times_F E)$. We denote by c the Galois involution of G_n . Let $\eta_{G'_n}$ be the character of $G'_n(\mathbb{A})$ given by

$$\eta_{G'_n}(h) = \eta(\det(h))^{n+1}$$

for all $h \in G'_n(\mathbb{A})$. Let (B'_n, T'_n) be a pair where B'_n is the Borel subgroup G'_n of upper triangular matrices and T'_n is the maximal torus of G'_n of diagonal matrices. Let (B_n, T_n) be the pair deduced from (B'_n, T'_n) by extension of scalars to E and restriction to F: it is a pair of a minimal parabolic subgroup of G_n and its Levi factor. Let $K_n \subset G_n(\mathbb{A})$ and $K'_n = K_n \cap G'_n(\mathbb{A}) \subset G'_n(\mathbb{A})$ be the 'standard' maximal compact subgroups. We set

$$\mathfrak{a}_{n+1}^+ = \mathfrak{a}_{B_{n+1}}^{G_{n+1}+},$$

where the right-hand side is defined in §2.1.4.

We set $G = G_n \times G_{n+1}$ and $G' = G'_n \times G'_{n+1}$ (see §4.1.1). Let c be the Galois involution of G whose fixed points set if G'. The reductive groups G and G' are equipped with the pairs $(B_n \times B_{n+1}, T_n \times T_{n+1})$ and $(B'_n \times B'_{n+1}, T'_n \times T'_{n+1})$. Let $K = K_n \times K_{n+1} \subset G(\mathbb{A})$ and $K' = K \cap G'(\mathbb{A})$. We denote by $\eta_{G'}$ the character $\eta_{G'_n} \boxtimes \eta_{G'_{n+1}}$ of $G'(\mathbb{A})$. Let H be the image of the diagonal embedding

$$G_n \hookrightarrow G_n \times G_{n+1}$$
.

Let π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$ with central character trivial on A_G^{∞} . As in §3.5.2, we denote by π^* the conjugate-dual representation of $G(\mathbb{A})$. We shall say that π is self conjugate-dual if $\pi \simeq \pi^*$ and that π is G'-distinguished, resp. (G', η) -distinguished, if the linear form (called the Flicker-Rallis period)

$$\varphi \mapsto \int_{[G']_0} \varphi(h) \, dh, \text{ resp.} \int_{[G']_0} \varphi(h) \eta(\det(h)) \, dh$$
 (4.1.1.1)

does not vanish identically on $\mathcal{A}_{\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$. Then π is self conjugate-dual if and only if π is either G'-distinguished or (G',η) -distinguished and it cannot be both (see [Fli88]). Note that since we are working with general linear groups, we shall omit the subscript cusp and we shall write simply $\mathcal{A}_{\pi}(G)$ for the space $\mathcal{A}_{\pi,\mathrm{cusp}}(G)$. The same rule is applied to the space $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$ if π is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$.

4.1.2. Caution

Since it is easy to get confused, we want to emphasize some consequences of our choices of measures. Let P be a standard parabolic subgroup of G and let $P' = P \cap G'$. The restriction map $X^*(P) \to X^*(P')$ identifies $X^*(P)$ with a subgroup of $X^*(P')$ of index $2^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_P)}$. It induces an isomorphism $\mathfrak{a}_{P'} \to \mathfrak{a}_P$ which *does not preserve* the Haar measures: the pullback to $\mathfrak{a}_{P'}$ of the Haar measure on \mathfrak{a}_P is $2^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_P)}$ times the Haar measure on A_P^∞ . In the same way, the groups A_P^∞ and $A_{P'}^\infty$ are canonically identified, but the Haar measure on A_P^∞ is $2^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_P)}$ times the Haar measure on A_P^∞ .

Note also that for all $x \in G'(\mathbb{A})$, we have

$$\langle \rho_P^Q, H_P(x) \rangle = 2 \langle \rho_{P'}^{Q'}, H_{P'}(x) \rangle. \tag{4.1.2.1}$$

4.1.3. The (G, H)-regular and Hermitian cuspidal data

Let $\chi = (\chi_n, \chi_{n+1}) \in \mathfrak{X}(G) = \mathfrak{X}(G_n) \times \mathfrak{X}(G_{n+1})$ be a cuspidal datum. Let (M, π) be a representative in the class of χ with $M = M_P$ for a standard parabolic subgroup P of G. We write $M = M_n \times M_{n+1}$ and $\pi = \pi_n \boxtimes \pi_{n+1}$ accordingly. Let $j \in \{n, n+1\}$. We write $M_j = G_{n_{1,j}} \times \ldots \times G_{n_{r_j,j}}$ for some integer $r_j \geqslant 1$ and $\pi_j = \sigma_{1,j} \boxtimes \ldots \boxtimes \sigma_{r_j,j}$ accordingly.

We shall say that χ is

- *G*-regular (or simply regular) if for all $j \in \{n, n+1\}$ and $1 \le i, i' \le r_j$ such that $n_{i,j} = n_{i',j}$ and $\sigma_{i,j} = \sigma_{i',j}$, we have i' = i.
- *H*-regular if for $1 \le i \le r_n$ and all $1 \le j \le r_{n+1}$, if $n_{i,n} = n_{j,n+1}$, the representation $\sigma_{i,n}$ is not isomorphic to the contragredient of $\sigma_{j,n+1}$;
- (G, H)-regular if it is both G-regular and H-regular;
- Hermitian if $\pi = \pi^*$ and if the representation $\sigma_{i,j}$ is $\eta_{G'_j}$ -distinguished for all $1 \le i \le r_j$ and $j \in \{n, n+1\}$ such that $\sigma_{i,j} = \sigma_{i,j}^*$.

4.1.4.

We fix a (G, H)-regular and Hermitian cuspidal datum χ . With the notations as above, we may and shall choose the representative (M, π) such that for all $j \in \{n, n+1\}$, there exists an integer $s_j \ge 0$ such that the following conditions are satisfied:

- 1. $2s_j \le r_j$ and for all odd i such that $1 \le i < 2s_j$, we have $\sigma_{i+1,j} = \sigma_{i,j}^*$ (in particular, $\sigma_{i,j} \ne \sigma_{i,j}^*$);
- 2. for all $i > 2s_j$, we have $\sigma_{i,j} = \sigma_{i,j}^*$.

Let $L = L_n \times L_{n+1}$ be the standard Levi subgroup of G such that for all $j \in \{n, n+1\}$, we have

$$L_j = G_{n_{1,j}+n_{2,j}} \times \ldots \times G_{n_{2s_i-1,j}+n_{2s_i,j}} \times G_{n_{2s_i+1,j}} \times \ldots \times G_{n_{r,j}}.$$
 (4.1.4.1)

Let $\xi \in W(M)$ such that $\xi^2 = 1$ and \mathfrak{a}_M^L is the kernel of ξ + Id for the natural action of W(M) on \mathfrak{a}_M . We denote by Q the standard parabolic subgroup of Levi L.

4.1.5. Intertwining period

We identify the Weyl group of G with the group of permutation matrix. In this way, we identify ξ with an element of L(F). Let $\tilde{\xi} \in L(F)$ such that $\tilde{\xi}c(\tilde{\xi})^{-1} = \xi$, where c is the Galois involution of G. We define the F-subgroups $P_{\tilde{\xi}}$, $M_{\tilde{\xi}}$ and $N_{\tilde{\xi}}$ of G', respectively, by

$$P_{\tilde{\xi}} = G' \cap \tilde{\xi}^{-1} P \tilde{\xi}. \tag{4.1.5.1}$$

$$M_{\tilde{\xi}} = G' \cap \tilde{\xi}^{-1} M \tilde{\xi}. \tag{4.1.5.2}$$

$$N_{\tilde{\xi}} = G' \cap \tilde{\xi}^{-1} N \tilde{\xi}. \tag{4.1.5.3}$$

We have the Levi decomposition $P_{\xi} = M_{\xi}N_{\xi}$, where M_{ξ} is reductive and N_{ξ} is unipotent. Let $Q' = Q \cap G'$: this is a standard parabolic subgroup of G' of Levi factor $L' = L \cap G$. Observe that we have $A_{M_{\xi}}^{\infty} = A_{L}^{\infty}$, $M_{\xi} \subset L'$ and $N_{\xi} = N_{Q'}$.

The map $a\mapsto H_P(\tilde{\xi}a\tilde{\xi}^{-1})$ identifies $A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}}}^{\infty}$ with the subspace \mathfrak{a}_L . In particular, we have $\langle \lambda, H_P(\tilde{\xi}a\tilde{\xi}^{-1}) \rangle = 0$ for any $a \in A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}}}^{\infty}$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$. We define the intertwining period for all $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$ by

$$J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}}}^{\infty} M_{\tilde{\xi}}(F)N_{\tilde{\xi}}(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(\tilde{\xi}h) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi}h) \eta_{G'}(h) \, dh. \tag{4.1.5.4}$$

Here, the group $N_{\xi}(\mathbb{A})A_{M_{\xi}}^{\infty}M_{\xi}(F)$ is equipped with a right-invariant Haar measure. However, this measure is not left-invariant: the modular character is given by

$$\delta_{P,\tilde{\xi}}: x \mapsto \exp(\langle \rho_P, H_P(\tilde{\xi}x\tilde{\xi}^{-1}) \rangle);$$

see [JLR99, VII p.221]. The integral in (4.1.5.4) is understood as a right- $G'(\mathbb{A})$ -invariant linear form on the space of $(N_{\tilde{\xi}}(\mathbb{A})A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}}}^{\infty}M_{\tilde{\xi}}(F), \delta_{P,\tilde{\xi}})$ -equivariant functions. This space contains

$$\exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(\tilde{\xi} \cdot) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi} \cdot)$$

for $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$. The integral (4.1.5.4) makes sense at least formally. It is, in fact, absolutely convergent for λ such that $\langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle$ is large enough for any $\alpha^{\vee} \in \Delta_P^{Q,\vee}$ and it admits a meromorphic continuation to $\mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$. It does not depend on a specific choice of $\tilde{\xi}$. For all these properties, we refer the reader to [JLR99, theorem 23 and (proof of) lemma 32]. In the same way, for any $\phi \in \mathcal{A}_{L \cap P,\pi}(L)$, one defines the intertwining period $J^L(\xi,\phi,\lambda)$ by analytic continuation of the integral

$$\int_{A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}}}^{\infty} M_{\tilde{\xi}}(F) \setminus L'(\mathbb{A})} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(\tilde{\xi}h) \rangle) \phi(\tilde{\xi}h) \eta_{G'}(h) \, dh,$$

which is convergent for λ in some cone in $\mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$. Let dk' be the Haar measure on K' such that the Iwasawa decomposition $G'(\mathbb{A}) = L'(\mathbb{A})N_{Q'}(\mathbb{A})K'$ is compatible with the various choices of measures. The following 'parabolic descent' will be useful:

Lemma 4.1.5.1. For all $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$, we have

$$J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda) = J^{L}(\xi, \varphi^{K'}, \lambda),$$

where we set

$$\varphi^{K'}(g) = \exp(-\langle \rho_Q, H_Q(g) \rangle) \int_{K'} \varphi(gk') \eta_{G'}(k') dk'. \tag{4.1.5.5}$$

Proof. We refer the reader to [JLR99, (proof of) lemma 32].

However, by [Lap06, lemma 8.1 case 2], we have in our situation

$$J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda) = J^{L}(\xi, \varphi^{K'}, \lambda)$$

$$= \int_{[L']_0} \Lambda_m^T E^{Q}(x, \varphi^{K'}, \lambda) \eta_{G'}(x) dx, \qquad (4.1.5.6)$$

where the truncation operator Λ_m^T is essentially that introduced in [JLR99]. More precisely, we decompose $L = L_n \times L_{n+1}$ as in (4.1.4.1): on a factor $G_{n_r+n_{r+1},j}$ with j = n,n+1 and r an odd integer such that $1 \le r < 2s_j$, the truncation operator is exactly that of [JLR99, IV] and it is trivial on a factor $G_{n_r,j}$ with $r_j \ge r > 2s_j$. The Eisenstein series $E^Q(x,\varphi^{K'},\lambda)$ is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$. The basic properties of the truncation operator Λ_m^T (see [JLR99, IV]) implies that the integral of the truncated Eisenstein series (4.1.5.6) is meromorphic on $\mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$ and even holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$. We deduce that the meromorphic continuation of $J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda)$ is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and that, for $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, the map $\varphi \mapsto J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda)$ is continuous on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$.

4.1.6. Rankin-Selberg period

Let $T \in \mathfrak{a}_{n+1}^+$ be a sufficiently positive parameter. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_M^*$. Let $\mathbf{P}(E(\varphi,\lambda))$ be the regularized Rankin-Selberg period of the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi,\lambda)$ defined by Ichino-Yamana in [IY15].

Because we assume that (M, π) is H-regular, the period is given by the truncated integral

$$\mathbf{P}(E(\varphi,\lambda)) = \int_{[H]} \Lambda_r^T E(h,\varphi,\lambda) \, dh, \tag{4.1.6.1}$$

where Λ_r^T is the Ichino-Yamana truncation operator (whose definition is recalled in [BPCZ22, eq. (3.3.2.1)]). In fact, as the notation suggests, the right-hand side of (4.1.6.1) does not depend on T (the proof of this property is the same as the proof of [BPCZ22, proposition 5.1.4.1]). In particular, $\mathbf{P}(E(\varphi,\lambda))$ inherits analytic properties of the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi,\lambda)$. Thus, it is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^*$ and the map $\varphi\mapsto \mathbf{P}(E(\varphi,\lambda))$ is continuous.

4.1.7. The relative character

For any ψ and $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$, the expression

$$\mathbf{P}(E(\psi,\lambda)) \cdot J(\xi,\bar{\varphi},-\lambda)$$

is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and gives a continuous pairing on $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$. By [BPCZ22, proposition 2.8.4.1], for any $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ and any $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, we can define the relative character

$$I_{P,\pi}(\lambda,f) = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \mathbf{P}(E(I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda)) \cdot J(\xi,\bar{\varphi},-\lambda).$$

where the sum is over a K-basis $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$. We get a continuous map $f \mapsto (\lambda \mapsto I_{P,\pi}(\lambda,f))$ from $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ to the space of Schwartz functions on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$: this is a slight extension of [BPCZ22, proposition 4.1.10.1] which basically relies on bounds of Eisenstein series due to Lapid in [Lap06, proposition 6.1]. Note also that this is also an easy consequence of the inequality given in [Cha22, proof of proposition 7.2.3.2].

4.1.8. The (G, H)-regular contribution to the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula

The contribution to the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula of a cuspidal datum χ is a distribution denoted by I_{χ} and defined in [BPCZ22, theorem 3.2.4.1]. In the case of a Hermitian (G, H)-regular cuspidal datum, the next theorem relates this contribution to the relative character defined above.

Theorem 4.1.8.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)$ be a (G, H)-regular cuspidal datum.

- 1. If χ is not Hermitian, we have $I_{\chi} = 0$.
- 2. Assume that χ is, moreover, Hermitian and let (M_P, π) and L be as in §4.1.4. For all $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, we have

$$I_{\chi}(f) = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L})} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, f) d\lambda,$$
 (4.1.8.1)

where the integral in the right-hand side is absolutely convergent.

4.1.9. Proof of Theorem 4.1.8.1

Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)$ be a (G,H)-regular cuspidal datum. Let $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ and let K_{χ} be the kernel of the right convolution by f on $L^2_{\chi}([G])$. By [BPCZ22, proposition 3.3.8.1 and theorem 3.3.9.1], the contribution $I_{\chi}(f)$ is the constant term in the asymptotic expansion in $T \in \mathfrak{a}^+_{n+1}$ of the absolutely convergent integral

$$\int_{[H]} \int_{[G']} \Lambda_r^T K_{\chi}(h, g) \, \eta_{G'}(g) dg dh. \tag{4.1.9.1}$$

By [BPCZ22, lemma 5.2.2.1], we have for all $h \in [H]$,

$$\int_{[G']} (\Lambda_r^T K_{\chi})(h, g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dg = \Lambda_r^T \left(\int_{[G']} K_{\chi}(\cdot, g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dg \right) (h). \tag{4.1.9.2}$$

Then we have the following lemma:

Lemma 4.1.9.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)$ be a (G,H)-regular cuspidal datum. For all $x \in G(\mathbb{A})$, the absolutely convergent integral

$$\int_{[G']} K_{\chi}(x,g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dg \tag{4.1.9.3}$$

vanishes unless χ is Hermitian. If χ is Hermitian and represented by (M_P, π) , we have

$$\int_{[G']} K_{\chi}(x,g) \, \eta_{G'}(g) dg = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} \left(\sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(x, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \cdot J(\xi, \bar{\varphi}, -\lambda) \, d\lambda, \right)$$
(4.1.9.4)

where the Levi subgroup L is that defined in §4.1.4 and $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ is a K-basis.

Proof. For brevity reasons, we shall get the lemma as a simple application of a much more difficult result – namely, [Cha22, Theorem 7.2.4.1]. Our situation is essentially that of [Cha22, Theorem 7.2.4.1] except that we are working here with a product of two general linear groups and our Flicker-Rallis periods are twisted by the caracter $\eta_{G'}$. Note that the absolute convergence of (4.1.9.3) results from [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.10.1.1]. Let (M, π) be a representative of the (G, H)-regular cuspidal datum χ with P a standard parabolic subgroup of G and $M = M_P$. Let P_1 be standard parabolic subgroup of G and set $M_1 = M_{P_1}$. There is a finite set $\Pi_{\chi}(M_1)$ used in the statement of [Cha22, theorem 7.2.4.1]. There is no need to recall the general definition given in [Cha22, §7.1.1]: indeed, because χ is G-regular, either P_1 and P are not associated in which case $\Pi_{\chi}(M_1)$ is empty or $\Pi_{\chi}(M_1)$ is the set of $w\pi$ with $w \in W(P, P_1)$.

We can extract from [Cha22, theorem 7.2.4.1] that (4.1.9.3) is equal to the absolutely convergent expression

$$\sum_{P_1} |\mathcal{P}(M_1)|^{-1} \sum_{L_1 \in \mathcal{L}_2(M_1)} 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L_1})} \sum_{w \in W(P, P_1)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M_1}^{L_1, *}} \mathcal{I}_{L_1, w\pi}(x, f, \lambda) \, d\lambda, \tag{4.1.9.5}$$

where the sum is over the set of standard parabolic sugroups P_1 of G and $M_1 = M_{P_1}$, the number of parabolic subgroups of Levi M is denoted by $|\mathcal{P}(M)|$, the set $\mathcal{L}_2(M_1)$ is a subset of the set of Levi subgroups of G containing M_1 (see [Cha22, §2.2.3]) and $\mathcal{I}_{L_1,w\pi}(x,f,\lambda)$ is *mutatis mutandis* the relative character that essentially appears in the statement of [Cha22, theorem 7.2.4.1]. The main difference is that we are working here on a product of two linear groups and that the relative character is built upon Eisenstein series and the intertwining periods defined in [Cha22, §5.1.4] but twisted by the character $\eta_{G'}$. Let M_1, L_1 and $w \in W(P, P_1)$ be as in (4.1.9.5) and let $x \in G(\mathbb{A})$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{ia}_{M_1}^{L_1,*}$. Rather than spell out the exact definition of $\mathcal{I}_{L_1,w\pi}(x,f,\lambda)$, we will explain it in the particular case that concerns us. Before doing that, we owe a detailed explanation to the careful reader who will certainly have noticed the apparent discrepancy of a factor $2^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_G)}$. The reason is the following: [Cha22, theorem 7.2.4.1] gives in fact the spectral expansion of

$$\int_{[G']_0} \int_{A_G^{\infty}} K_{\chi}(ax, g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dadg,$$

whereas we are working with

$$\int_{[G']} K_{\chi}(x,g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dg = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_G)} \int_{[G']_0} \int_{A_G^{\infty}} K_{\chi}(ax,g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dadg.$$

The equality above comes from the difference between the respective measures on A_G^{∞} and $A_{G'}^{\infty}$; see §4.1.2.

By the fact that χ is G-regular and by the basic properties of the cuspidal intertwining periods (see [JLR99, theorem 23]), we see that the relative character $\mathcal{I}_{L_1,w\pi}(x,f,\lambda)$ vanishes unless χ is Hermitian. So we get the first assertion, and we assume from now on that χ is moreover Hermitian. Note that, by definition, we have for all $\mu \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$,

$$\mathcal{I}_{L,\pi}(x,f,\mu) = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(x, I_P(\mu,f)\varphi,\mu) \cdot J(\xi,\bar{\varphi},-\mu). \tag{4.1.9.6}$$

We claim that we have

$$\forall \lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{M_1}^{L_1,*} \ \mathcal{I}_{L_1,w\,\pi}(x,f,\lambda) = \mathcal{I}_{w^{-1}L_1w,\pi}(x,f,w^{-1}\lambda). \tag{4.1.9.7}$$

Moreover, it follows from the fact that χ is G-regular and Hermitian that for all Levi subgroup $L_1 \in \mathcal{L}_2(M)$ and all $\mu \in \mathfrak{a}_M^{L_1,*}$, we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{L_1, w\pi}(x, f, \lambda) = 0 \text{ if } L_1 \neq wLw^{-1}.$$
 (4.1.9.8)

Let us assume (4.1.9.7) for the moment, and let us finish the proof of (4.1.9.4). By (4.1.9.7) and (4.1.9.8) and the change of variables $\lambda \mapsto w^{-1}\lambda$, we see that (4.1.9.5) is equal to

$$\begin{split} & 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L})} \sum_{P_{1}} |\mathcal{P}(M_{1})|^{-1} \sum_{w \in W(P,P_{1})} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M_{1}}^{wL_{w}-1},*} \mathcal{I}_{L,\pi}(x,f,w^{-1}\lambda) \, d\lambda \\ & = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L})} \Big(\sum_{P_{1}} |\mathcal{P}(M_{1})|^{-1} |W(P,P_{1})| \Big) \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} \mathcal{I}_{L,\pi}(x,f,\lambda) \, d\lambda \\ & = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L})} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} \mathcal{I}_{L,\pi}(x,f,\lambda) \, d\lambda \end{split}$$

since $\sum_{P_1} |\mathcal{P}(M_1)|^{-1} |W(P,P_1)| = 1$ where the various sums are over standard parabolic subgroups P_1 . Let us prove the claim (4.1.9.7). We start from M_1, L_1, λ, w as in (4.1.9.5). By (4.1.9.8), we may and shall assume that we have $L_1 = wLw^{-1}$. Let Q_1 be a parabolic subgroup of Levi L_1 . Let P_2 be a standard parabolic subgroup of G and let $w_1 \in W(P_1, P_2)$ such that $P_2 \subset w_1Q_1w_1^{-1}$. Using the definition of intertwining periods given in [Cha22, §5.1.4], the functional equation of Eisenstein series and a standard basis change relying on the fact that the intertwining operator $M(w_1, \lambda)$ induces a unitary isomorphism from $\mathcal{A}_{P_1, w_1}(G)$ onto $\mathcal{A}_{P_1, w_1}(G)$, we see that we have

$$\mathcal{I}_{L_1,w\pi}(x,f,\lambda) = \mathcal{I}_{L_2,w_1w\pi}(x,f,w_1\lambda)$$

with $L_2 = w_1 L_1 w_1^{-1}$. Thus, we are reduced to prove (4.1.9.7) in the special case where the Levi subgroup $L_1 = w L w^{-1}$ is standard. But then (4.1.9.7) follows from the same arguments as before, namely the functional equation of Eisenstein series and a standard basis change and the functional equation of intertwining periods, namely [JLR99, theorem 31] completed with [Lap06, lemma 8.1]. For a similar statement, see [Lap06, proposition 8.2]. This finishes the proof.

It follows from Lemma 4.1.9.1 that, for $h \in [H]$, we have

$$\Lambda_r^T \left(\int_{[G']} K_{\chi}(\cdot, g) \eta_{G'}(g) \, dg \right) (h) = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} (\Lambda_r^T E(h, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \cdot J(\xi, \bar{\varphi}, -\lambda) \, d\lambda.$$

$$(4.1.9.9)$$

To get this, we have to permute the truncation operator with the sum and the integral. However, one observes that for a fixed $h \in [H]$, the truncation operator is a finite sum of constant terms. So to get (4.1.9.9), one has basically to permute the integral over $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and the integral that gives a constant term. So, by Fubini theorem, it suffices to show that for any parabolic subgroup Q of G, the sum

$$\sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \int_{N_{\mathcal{Q}}} |E(nh, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda)| \, dn \cdot |J(\xi, \bar{\varphi}, -\lambda)|$$

is a Schwartz function in the variable $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$. But this is a variant of [Lap06, Lemma 7.4]; it is also an easy consequence of [Cha22, proposition 7.2.3.2]. The last step is to observe that

$$\int_{[H]} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \Lambda_{r}^{T} E(h, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \cdot J(\xi, \bar{\varphi}, -\lambda) \, d\lambda dh \qquad (4.1.9.10)$$

$$= \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \int_{[H]} \Lambda_{r}^{T} E(h, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \, dh \cdot J(\xi, \bar{\varphi}, -\lambda) \, d\lambda$$

and to use (4.1.6.1) to recognize the relative character $I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, f)$ in the inner sum. Once again by a variant of [Lap06, Lemma 7.4] (or by [Cha22, proposition 7.2.3.2]) and the basic properties of truncation operator (see [BPCZ22, proposition 3.3.2.1]), we have

$$\int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \int_{[H]} |\Lambda_{r}^{T} E(h, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda)| dh \cdot |J(\xi, \bar{\varphi}, -\lambda)| d\lambda < \infty.$$

We can again conclude with Fubini's theorem.

4.2. The relative character in terms of Whittaker functions

4.2.1.

We keep the notations of the previous subsection. Let $N = N_n \times N_{n+1}$ and $N_H = N_n$ be viewed as a diagonal subgroup of N. Let $N' = N \cap G'$.

4.2.2.

We fix a nontrivial additive character $\psi': \mathbb{A}/F \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. We deduce a character $\psi: \mathbb{A}_E/E \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ trivial on \mathbb{A} by $\psi(z) = \psi'(\operatorname{Tr}_{E/F}(\tau z))$, where $\tau \in E^{\times}$ is such that $c(\tau) = -\tau$. We define a regular character $\psi_n: [N_n] \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ by

$$\psi_n(u) = \psi\left((-1)^n \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} u_{i,i+1}\right)$$

for any $u \in [N_n]$. In the same way, we get a character ψ_{n+1} of $[N_{n+1}]$. Thus, we have a character $\psi_N = \psi_n \boxtimes \psi_{n+1}$ of [N]. By construction, ψ_N is trivial on the subgroups N' and N_H .

4.2.3.

Recall that we have fixed a pair (M,π) with $M=M_P$ (see §§4.1.3 and 4.1.4). Let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$. Let π_λ be the representation π twisted by the character $m\mapsto \exp(\langle \lambda, H_M(m\rangle))$ and let $\Pi_\lambda=\operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{G(\mathbb{A})}(\pi_\lambda)$ be the induced representation. The representation Π_λ is irreducible, unitary and generic. Let $\mathcal{W}(\Pi_\lambda, \psi_N)$ be its Whittaker model with respect to the character ψ_N .

44

For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$ and $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$, let

$$W(g,\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{[N]} E(ug,\varphi,\lambda) \psi_N^{-1}(u) \, du.$$

We may and shall identify $g \mapsto W(g, \varphi, \lambda)$ with an element of $\mathcal{W}(\Pi_{\lambda}, \psi_{N})$.

4.2.4.

Let $W \in \mathcal{W}(\Pi_{\lambda}, \psi_N)$. By [JPSS83] and [Jac09], the integral

$$Z^{\rm RS}(s,W) = \int_{N_H(\mathbb{A})\backslash H(\mathbb{A})} W(h) |\det h|_{\mathbb{A}_E}^s dh$$

converges for $\Re(s) \gg 0$ and extends to a meromorphic function on $\mathbb C$ which is holomorphic at s=0. Let $\mathcal P=\mathcal P_n\times\mathcal P_{n+1}$ be the product of the respective mirabolic subgroups $\mathcal P_n$ and $\mathcal P_{n+1}$ of G_n and G_{n+1} . Let $\mathcal P'=\mathcal P\cap G'$. We put $\operatorname{As}_G=\operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}}\boxtimes\operatorname{As}^{(-1)^n}$. For any finite set $S\subset V_F$, we set

$$\beta_{\eta}(W) = (\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1} L^{S,*}(1, \Pi_{\lambda}, \operatorname{As}_{G}) \int_{N'(F_{S}) \setminus \mathcal{P}'(F_{S})} W(p_{S}) \eta_{G'}(p_{S}) dp_{S}$$

and

$$\langle W, W \rangle_{\text{Whitt}} = (\Delta_G^{S,*})^{-1} L^{S,*}(1, \Pi_{\lambda}, \text{Ad}) \int_{N(F_S) \backslash \mathcal{P}(F_S)} |W(p_S)|^2 dp_S.$$

Here and hereafter, $L^*(1)$ means the leading coefficient in the Laurent expansion of the meromorphic function L(s) at s = 1. The above expressions converge and are independent of S as soon as it is chosen sufficiently large according to the level of W (see [Fli88] and [JS81b]).

4.2.5.

Proposition 4.2.5.1. *For any* $\varphi \in A_{P,\pi}(G)$ *, we have*

$$Z^{\text{RS}}(0, W(\varphi, \lambda)) = \mathbf{P}(E(\varphi, \lambda)).$$

Proof. This is a straightforward application of results of Ichino-Yamana and the fact that (M, π) is H-regular. First, for any $T \in \mathfrak{a}_{n+1}^+$ and any $s \in \mathbb{C}$, the integral

$$\int_{[H]} \Lambda_r^T E(h, \varphi, \lambda) |\det(h)|^s dh$$
 (4.2.5.1)

converges and defines a holomorphic function in the variable s. Moreover, since (M, π) is H-regular, it does not depend on T (see [BPCZ22, proof of proposition 5.1.4.1]). Because of this, (4.2.5.1) is the regularized Rankin-Selberg period of $h \mapsto E(h, \varphi, \lambda) |\det(h)|^s$ defined in [IY15]. By [IY15, theorem 1.1], we deduce that (4.2.5.1) is equal to $Z^{RS}(s, W(\varphi, \lambda))$. It suffices to take s = 0 to get the result. \square

4.2.6.

Proposition 4.2.6.1. *For any* $\varphi \in A_{P,\pi}(G)$ *, we have*

$$\langle \phi, \phi \rangle_{\text{Pet}} = \langle W(\varphi, \lambda), W(\varphi, \lambda) \rangle_{\text{Whitt}}.$$

Proof. This is the proof of [BPCZ22, proposition 8.1.2.1]), the main assumption there being that (M, π) is regular.

4.2.7.

Proposition 4.2.7.1. *For any* $\varphi \in A_{P,\pi}(G)$ *, we have*

$$J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda) = \beta_n(W(\varphi, \lambda)). \tag{4.2.7.1}$$

Proof. We shall follow the notations of §§4.1.4 and 4.1.5. Let $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^{L,*}$. For all $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\text{cusp}}(G)$, we have the Eisenstein series $E^Q(\varphi, \lambda)$ defined in (2.2.4.1), and we set for all $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$,

$$W_L(g,\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{[N\cap L]} E^Q(ug,\varphi,\lambda) \psi_N^{-1}(u) \, du.$$

Let \mathcal{P}_L the mirabolic subgroup of L (defined as the product of the mirabolic subgroups of its factors in the decomposition into a product of general linear groups). We set $\mathcal{P}_{L'} = \mathcal{P}_L \cap L'$. Let As_{L_n} (resp. $As_{L_{n+1}}$) be the tensor product of $As^{(-1)^{n+1}}$ (resp. $As^{(-1)^n}$) for each factor in the decomposition of L_n , resp. L_{n+1} , into a product of general linear groups. Let $As_L = As_{L_n} \boxtimes As_{L_{n+1}}$. Let $\Pi_{\lambda}^Q = \operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{Q(\mathbb{A})}(\pi_{\lambda})$ be the induced representation. It follows from our hypothesis on π and from [Fli92, proposition 2.6] that Π_{λ}^{Q} is $(L', \eta_{G'})$ -distinguished. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$. First, by Lemma 4.1.5.1, we have

$$J(\mathcal{E}, \varphi, \lambda) = J^{L}(\mathcal{E}, \varphi^{K'}, \lambda).$$

where $\varphi^{K'}$ is defined in (4.1.5.5). Then using [Zha14a, proposition 3.2], [Fli88] and Theorem 5.5.1.1 in section 5 below, we can compute the intertwining period $J^L(\xi, \varphi^{K'}, \lambda)$ in terms of W_L : we deduce that, for S a large enough set of places, $J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda)$ is equal to

$$\begin{split} &(\Delta_{L'}^{S,*})^{-1}L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda}^{Q},\mathrm{As}_{L})\int_{(N'\cap L)(F_{S})\backslash\mathcal{P}'_{L}(F_{S})}W_{L}(q_{S},\varphi^{K'}\lambda)\eta_{G'}(q_{S})\,dq_{S}\\ &=(\Delta_{L'}^{S,*})^{-1}L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda}^{Q},\mathrm{As}_{L})\int_{K'}\int_{(N'\cap L)(F_{S})\backslash\mathcal{P}'_{L}(F_{S})}W_{L}(q_{S}k',\varphi_{-\rho_{Q}},\lambda)\eta_{G'}(q_{S}k')\,dq_{S}dk', \end{split}$$

where $\varphi(g) = \exp(-\rho_Q, H_Q(g)) \varphi(g)$. For $g \in G(F_S)$, set

$$\Phi(g) = \int_{(N' \cap L)(F_S) \setminus \mathcal{P}'_I(F_S)} W_L(q_S g, \varphi_{-\rho_Q}, \lambda) \eta_{G'}(q_S g) \, dq_S.$$

The map Φ is left-invariant by $L'(F_S)$ as follows from the first assertion of [BPCZ22, theorem 9.1.7.1]. We deduce that it is also left-invariant by $Q'(F_S)$. Using the equality (4.1.2.1), we get that $J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda)$ is equal to

$$(\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1}L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda}^{Q},\mathrm{As}_{L})\int_{Q'(F_{S})\backslash G'(F_{S})}\exp(\rho_{Q},H_{Q}(g_{S})\rangle)\Phi(g_{S})dg_{S}.$$

Now we can appeal to the equality of [BPCZ22, theorem 9.1.7.1] to get that the last line is equal to

$$(\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1}L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda}^{Q},\operatorname{As}_{L})\int_{N'(F_{S})\backslash\mathcal{P}'(F_{S})}\mathbb{W}_{S}(p_{S},\lambda,\varphi)\eta_{G'}(p_{S})\,dp_{S},$$

where $\mathbb{W}_S(g_S, \lambda, \varphi)$ stands for the Jacquet integral given by the value at s = 0 of the holomorphic continuation of the integral:

$$\int_{(w_L^{-1}Lw_L\cap N)(F_S)\backslash N(F_S)} \delta_Q(w_L u g_S)^s W_L(w_L u g_S, \varphi, \lambda) \psi_N(u)^{-1} du, \ \Re(s) \gg 1,$$

where w_L is the permutation matrix that represents the product of the longest elements respectively of the Weyl groups of L and of G. To conclude, it suffices to observe that for any $g_S \in G(\mathbb{A}_S)$,

$$L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda}^Q,\mathrm{As}_L)\mathbb{W}_S(g_S,\lambda,\varphi)=L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda},\mathrm{As})W(g_S,\lambda,\varphi).$$

Indeed, this follows from computations of [Sha81, section 4] and the fact that the functions $L^S(s, \Pi_{\lambda}^Q, As_L)$ and $L^S(s, \Pi_{\lambda}, As)$ have a pole of same order at s = 1 since the cuspidal datum associated to (M, π) is G-regular and Hermitian.

4.2.8.

Let $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ be a *K*-basis of $\mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$. For any $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, we define

$$I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}(f) = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} \frac{Z^{RS}(0, W(I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda))\overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\varphi, \lambda))}}{\langle W(\varphi, \lambda), W(\varphi, \lambda) \rangle_{\text{Pet}}}.$$
(4.2.8.1)

Theorem 4.2.8.1.

- 1. The series (4.2.8.1) converges, does not depend on the choice of $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ and defines a continuous distribution on $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$.
- 2. We have $I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}(f) = I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, f)$.

Proof. The two assertions follow from the fact that the relative characters $I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}$ and $I_{\pi,\lambda}$ can be identified term by term by the combination of Propositions 4.2.5.1, 4.2.6.1 and 4.2.7.1.

5. Intertwining periods and Whittaker functions

5.1. Notations

5.1.1.

We follow the notations of §4.1.1. However, in this section, we set $G = G_{2n}$ and $G' = G'_{2n}$. Let P = MN be the maximal standard parabolic subgroup of G where its standard Levi factor M is $G_n \times G_n$. Let σ be an irreducible cuspidal automorphic representation of G_n with central character trivial on $A_{G_n}^{\infty}$. Let $\pi = \sigma \boxtimes \sigma^*$: this a cuspidal representation of M.

5.1.2.

We set

$${}_PW_P = \{w \in W \mid M \cap w^{-1}B_{2n}w = M \cap B_{2n} = M \cap wB_{2n}w^{-1}\}$$

and the subset of involutions

$$_{P}W_{P,2} = \{ w \in _{P}W_{P} \mid w^{2} = 1 \}.$$

We have the following lemma:

Lemma 5.1.2.1. (Jacquet-Lapid-Rogawski, see [JLR99, proposition 20]). Any double coset in $P(F)\backslash G(F)/G'(F)$ has a representative $\tilde{\xi}$ such that $\xi = \tilde{\xi}c(\tilde{\xi})^{-1}$ belongs to $_{P}W_{P,2}$. The map $P(F)\tilde{\xi}G'(F) \mapsto \xi$ is well defined and induces a bijection from $P(F)\backslash G(F)/G'(F)$ onto $_{P}W_{P,2}$.

For any $\tilde{\xi} \in G(F)$ such that $\tilde{\xi}c(\tilde{\xi})^{-1}$ belongs to ${}_PW_{P,2}$, we set $P_{\tilde{\xi}} = G' \cap \tilde{\xi}^{-1}P\tilde{\xi}$ and $M_{\tilde{\xi}} = G' \cap \tilde{\xi}^{-1}M\tilde{\xi}$. Note that $M_{\tilde{\xi}}$ is a Levi factor of $P_{\tilde{\xi}}$.

5.1.3.

We fix $\tau \in E$ such that $c(\tau) = -\tau$. Let

$$\tilde{\xi}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} I_n & \tau I_n \\ I_n & -\tau I_n \end{pmatrix}$$
 and $\xi_0 = \tilde{\xi}_0 c(\tilde{\xi}_0)^{-1}$.

We have $\xi_0 \in {}_PW_{P,2}$ and $P_{\tilde{\xi}_0} = M_{\tilde{\xi}_0}$.

Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$. For any $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$, we consider the intertwining period (due to Jacquet-Lapid-Rogawski; see [JLR99])

$$J(\xi_0, \varphi, \lambda) = \int_{A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}_0}}^{\infty} M_{\tilde{\xi}_0}(F) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(\tilde{\xi}h) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi}h) \, dh. \tag{5.1.3.1}$$

Note that we have $A_{M_{\tilde{\xi}_0}}^{\infty} = A_{G'}^{\infty}$. Let α be the unique root in Δ_P . The integral above is absolutely convergent if $\Re(\langle \alpha, \lambda \rangle) \gg 0$. Moreover, it admits a meromorphic continuation to $\mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$; see [JLR99, theorem 23].

5.2. Epstein series and intertwining periods

5.2.1.

The group G acts on the right on the space of rows of size 2n (identified to E^{2n}). Let \mathcal{P} be the stabilizer of $e_{2n} = (0, \dots, 0, 1)$. Let $\mathcal{P}' = \mathcal{P} \cap G'$.

Let $\Phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{A}^{2n})$. For any $s \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\Re(s) > 1$ and any $h \in [G']$, the Epstein series is defined by the following absolutely convergent integral:

$$E(h,\Phi,s) = \int_{A_{G'}^{\infty}} \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{P}'(F) \setminus G'(F)} \Phi(e_{2n}\gamma ah) |\det(ah)|^{s} da.$$

Here, $|\cdot|$ is the product over all places v of F of normalized absolute values of the completions F_v . The map $s \mapsto E(\Phi, s)$ extends to a meromorphic function valued in $\mathcal{T}([G'])$ with simple poles at s = 0, 1 of respective residues $\Phi(0)$ and $\widehat{\Phi}(0)$ (cf. [JS81b, Lemma 4.2]).

5.2.2.

Let $\tilde{\xi} \in G(F)$ such that $\xi = \tilde{\xi}c(\tilde{\xi})^{-1}$ belongs to $_PW_{P,2}$. We assume also $\xi \neq 1$. Let $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$. We define

$$J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda,\Phi,s) = \int_{A_{G'}^{\infty}P_{\tilde{\xi}}(F)\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(\tilde{\xi}h) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi}h) E(h,\Phi,s) \, dh. \tag{5.2.2.1}$$

If it is well defined, this integral does not depend on $\tilde{\xi}$ provided that we have $\xi = \tilde{\xi}c(\tilde{\xi})^{-1}$, hence the notation.

Proposition 5.2.2.1. Assume $\xi \neq 1$.

1. There exists r > 0 such that for each for any λ in the domain,

$$\mathcal{D}_r = \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*} \mid \mathfrak{R}(\langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle) > r\},\$$

and any $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$ the integral (5.2.2.1) converges absolutely. It also converges uniformly for $\mathfrak{R}(\lambda)$ in a compact subset of \mathbb{D}_r and s in a compact subset of $\mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$.

- 2. The map $(\lambda, s) \mapsto J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda, \Phi, s)$ is holomorphic on $\mathcal{D}_r \times \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$.
- 3. If $\xi \neq \xi_0$, the map has a holomorphic extension to $\mathcal{D}_r \times \mathbb{C}$.

4. If $\xi = \xi_0$, the map has simple poles at s = 0, 1 with respective residues:

$$\Phi(0)J(\xi_0,\varphi,\lambda)$$
 and $\hat{\Phi}(0)J(\xi_0,\varphi,\lambda)$.

Proof. We fix a compact subset Ω of \mathbb{C} . We can write

$$J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda,\Phi,s) = \int_{[G']_0} \left(\sum_{\delta \in P_{\tilde{\xi}}(F) \backslash G'(F)} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(\tilde{\xi}\delta h) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi}\delta h) \right) E(h,\Phi,s) dh.$$

We shall use the following two facts:

• there exist C, t > 0 such that for all $h \in G'(\mathbb{A})^1$ and $s \in \Omega$,

$$|s(s-1)E(h,\Phi,s)| \le C||h||_{G'}^t.$$
 (5.2.2.2)

• there exists r > 0 such that for any t > 0 and any $\lambda \in \mathcal{D}_r$, there exists C > 0 such that for all $h \in G'(\mathbb{A})^1$,

$$\sum_{\delta \in P_{\tilde{\xi}}(F) \backslash G'(F)} |\exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(\tilde{\xi}\delta h) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi}\delta h)| \leq C \|h\|_{G'}^{-t}.$$
 (5.2.2.3)

Moreover, in (5.2.2.3), the constant C may be chosen uniformly for λ such that $\Re(\lambda)$ belongs to a compact subset of \mathcal{D}_r . This can be extracted from the proof of [JLR99, theorem 23], more precisely from the combination of proposition 24 and the lines following (58) of [JLR99].

We get the holomorphic continuation with at most simple poles at s = 0, 1. Up to a factor $\Phi(0)$ or $\hat{\Phi}(0)$, the residue is given by

$$\int_{A_{C'}^{\infty}P_{\tilde{\xi}}(F)\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(\tilde{\xi}h) \rangle) \varphi(\tilde{\xi}h) \, dh.$$

This integral converges absolutely thanks to the majorization (5.2.2.3). According to the proof of [JLR99, theorem 23], the integral vanishes unless $\xi = \xi_0$. In this case, the integral is nothing else but $J(\xi_0, \varphi, \lambda)$.

5.3. Period of a pseudo-Eisenstein series: first computation

5.3.1.

Let ω be the central character of π . By restriction, it induces a unitary character of $Z'_G(\mathbb{A})$. Let

$$\tilde{\Phi}(h,\omega,s) = \int_{Z_{G'}(\mathbb{A})} \Phi(e_{2n}zh)\omega(z) |\det(zh)|^s dz.$$

The integral is convergent for $\Re(s) > \frac{1}{n}$. Let $P'_1 = \mathcal{P}'Z_{G'}$. This is a parabolic subgroup of G' of type (2n-1,1). Then we have

$$\int_{A_{G'}^{\infty}Z_{G'}(F)\setminus Z_{G'}(\mathbb{A})} E(zh,\Phi,s)\omega(z)\,dz = E(h,\tilde{\Phi}(\omega,s)),$$

where

$$E(h, \tilde{\Phi}(\omega, s)) = \sum_{\gamma \in P'_{\bullet}(F) \backslash G'(F)} \tilde{\Phi}(\gamma h, \omega, s)$$

is a usual Eisenstein series, which is convergent for $\Re(s) > 1$. By the classical computation of the constant term of an Eisenstein series, there exist a finite set I and families $(\varphi_{i,s})_{i \in I} \in \mathcal{A}_{P'}(G')^I$ and $(\mu_{i,s})_{i \in I} \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$ for any $s \in \mathbb{C}$ such that the following conditions are satisfied for any $i \in I$:

- the map $s \mapsto \mu_{i,s}$ is affine;
- the map $s \mapsto \varphi_{i,s}$ is a meromorphic function;
- we have $\varphi_{i,s}(ah) = \varphi_{i,s}(h)$ for any $h \in G'(\mathbb{A})$ and $a \in A_{M'}^{\infty}$;
- we have for any $a \in A_{M'}^{\infty}$, $m \in M'(\mathbb{A})^1$ and $k \in K'$,

$$\int_{[N_{P'}]} E(namk, \tilde{\Phi}(\omega, s)) dn = \sum_{i \in I} \varphi_{i,s}(mk) \exp(\langle \mu_{i,s}, H_P(a) \rangle). \tag{5.3.1.1}$$

5.3.2.

We shall simply say that a map $\beta: \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*} \to \mathbb{C}$ is a Paley-Wiener function if it is given by the Fourier-Laplace transform of a compactly supported smooth function on $\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$.

5.3.3.

In the following, we consider the following objects:

- β a Paley-Wiener function;
- $f \in C_c^{\infty}(G(F_{\infty}))$ a decomposable function;
- $\kappa \in \mathfrak{a}_{P}^{*}$
- $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$.

From these, one defines the pseudo-Eisenstein series

$$\theta(g) = \sum_{\delta \in P(F) \setminus G(F)} B(\delta g),$$

where B is the function on $A_G^{\infty}N(\mathbb{A})M(F)\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$ given by

$$B(g) = \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(g) \rangle) (I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi)(g) \beta(\lambda) \, d\lambda.$$

In the following, we shall assume that κ is in the region of convergence of the Eisenstein series $E(\varphi, \lambda)$. Then we have

$$\theta(g) = \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}} E(g, I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda)\beta(\lambda) d\lambda$$

for any $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$.

We fix r > 2 that satisfies the conditions of Proposition 5.2.2.1. In the following, we assume moreover that κ is such that $\langle \kappa, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle > r$.

5.3.4.

Proposition 5.3.4.1. Let $s \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \{0, 1\}$. Assume that β vanishes at the points $-\mu_{i,s}$ for $i \in I$. Then we have

$$\int_{[G']_0} \theta(h) E(h, \Phi, s) dh = \sum_{\xi \in PW_{P,2}, \xi \neq 1} \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}} J(\xi, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda, \Phi, s) \beta(\lambda) d\lambda, \tag{5.3.4.1}$$

where both sides are absolutely convergent.

Proof. Because $\theta(h)$ is rapidly decreasing, the left-hand side is absolutely convergent. Using the majorizations (5.2.2.2) and (5.2.2.3) given in the proof of Proposition 5.2.2.1, we see that the right-hand side of (5.3.4.1) is also absolutely convergent.

By the Lemma 5.1.2.1, the left-hand side of (5.3.4.1) is given by

$$\sum_{\xi \in PW_{P,2}} \int_{A_{G'}^{\infty} P_{\tilde{\xi}}(F) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} B(\tilde{\xi}h) E(h, \Phi, s) dh, \tag{5.3.4.2}$$

where $\tilde{\xi} \in G(F)$ is any element such that $\xi = \tilde{\xi}c(\tilde{\xi})^{-1}$.

Assume $\xi \neq 1$. Using the definition of *B* and permuting the adelic and the complex integrals, we get that

$$\int_{A_{G'}^{\infty}P_{\tilde{\xi}}(F)\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})}B(\tilde{\xi}h)E(h,\Phi,s)\,dh=\int_{\kappa+i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}}J(\xi,I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda,\Phi,s)\beta(\lambda)\,d\lambda.$$

This permutation is easily justified by the majorization (5.2.2.3) and the fact that β is a Paley-Wiener function. We have to compute the term corresponding to $\xi = 1$ (for which we take $\tilde{\xi} = 1$), namely

$$\int_{A_{G'}^{\infty}P'(F)\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})}B(h)E(h,\Phi,s)\,dh.$$

We will show that this integral vanishes. Using Iwasawa decomposition, we can write it as follows:

$$\int_{K'} \int_{M'(F)Z_{G'}(\mathbb{A})^1 \backslash M'(\mathbb{A})^1} \int_{A_{G'}^{\infty} \backslash A_{M'}^{\infty}} \exp(\langle -\rho_P, H_P(a) \rangle) B(amk) \int_{[N_{P'}]} E(namk, \tilde{\Phi}(\omega, s)) dn dm dk.$$

$$(5.3.4.3)$$

According to the shape of the constant term in (5.3.1.1), we are reduced to fix $i \in I$, $m \in M'(\mathbb{A})^1$, $k \in K'$ and to show the vanishing of

$$\int_{A_{G'}^{\infty}\backslash A_{M'}^{\infty}} \exp(\langle \mu_{i,s}, H_{P}(a) \rangle) \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}} (I_{P}(\lambda, f)\varphi)(mk)\beta(\lambda) \exp(\langle \lambda, H_{P}(a) \rangle) d\lambda da$$

for any $m \in M'(\mathbb{A})^1$ and $k \in K'$. By Fourier inversion, this is, up to a constant,

$$(I_P(-\mu_{i,s},f)\varphi)(mk)\beta(-\mu_{i,s}),$$

and we are done.

5.4. Period of a pseudo-Eisenstein series: computation in terms of the Whittaker functional 5.4.1.

We fix a nontrivial character $\psi': \mathbb{A}/F \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$. We define $\psi: [N_{2n}] \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ by

$$\psi(u) = \psi'(\operatorname{Tr}_{E/F}(\tau \sum_{i=1}^{2n-1} u_{i,i+1}))$$

for $u=(u_{i,j})\in N_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$. Note that ψ is trivial on $N'_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$, where $N'_{2n}=N_{2n}\cap G'$.

5.4.2. A variant of mirabolic subgroups

For all $1 \le i \le 2n$, we define the following subgroup of G_{2n} :

$$\mathcal{P}_i = \{ \begin{pmatrix} g & * \\ 0 & u \end{pmatrix} \mid g \in G_{2n-i}, u \in N_i \}.$$

Note that \mathcal{P}_1 is the mirabolic subgroup \mathcal{P} defined in §5.2.1 and $\mathcal{P}_{2n} = B_{2n}$. We denote by $N_{\mathcal{P}_i}$ the unipotent radical of \mathcal{P}_i . Let P_i be the standard parabolic subgroup of G of type (2n-i,i). We have $\mathcal{P}_i \subset P_i$ and P_n is the parabolic subgroup P defined in §5.1.1. We denote by an upper script ' the subgroups obtained by intersection with G' that is $\mathcal{P}_i' = \mathcal{P}_i \cap G'$.

For any smooth function ϕ on $\mathcal{P}_i(F)\backslash G(\mathbb{A})$, we put for $g\in G(\mathbb{A})$,

$$W_i(g,\phi) = \int_{[N_{\mathcal{P}_i}]} \phi(ug) \psi(u)^{-1} du.$$

When i = 2n, we have $N_{\mathcal{P}_i} = N_{2n}$ and we omit the subscript: we set $W = W_{2n}$.

5.4.3

For any $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_{P,\pi}(G)$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$ such that $\mathfrak{R}(\langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle)$ is large enough, we define

$$\mathbb{W}(g,\varphi,\lambda) = \int_{(N_{2n}\cap M)(F)\backslash N_{2n}(\mathbb{A})} \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(\xi_0 ug) \rangle) \varphi(\xi_0 ug) \psi(u)^{-1} du.$$

One has in the convergence region

$$\mathbb{W}(g,\varphi,\lambda) = W(g,E(\varphi,\lambda)),\tag{5.4.3.1}$$

and so the integral has a meromorphic continuation to $\mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$. It factors through the Fourier coefficient

$$W_M^{\psi}(g,\varphi) = \int_{[N_{2n} \cap M]} \varphi(ug) \psi(u)^{-1} du.$$

5.4.4.

We view $W_M^{\psi}(1,\cdot)$ as a Whittaker functional on π . Let $\pi=\otimes_{v\in V_F}'\pi_v$ be a decomposition of π as a restricted tensor product of representations π_v of $M(F_v)$. According to this decomposition, we fix a Whittaker functionnal $W_{M,v}^{\psi}$ on π_v such that $W_M^{\psi}(1,\cdot)=\otimes_{v\in V_F}W_{M,v}^{\psi}$. Let $V_{F,\infty}\subset S\subset V_F$ be a finite set such that all objects π , Φ , ψ , E/F are unramified outside S. We put $W_{M,S}^{\psi}=\otimes_{v\in S}W_{M,v}^{\psi}$. For any $\lambda\in i\mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$, let $\pi_{v,\lambda}$ be the representation of $M(F_v)$ given by $\pi_{v,\lambda}(m)=\exp(\langle\lambda,H_M(m)\rangle)\pi_v(m)$ for $m\in M(F_v)$. Let $\Pi_{v,\lambda}=\operatorname{Ind}_{P(F_v)}^{G(F_v)}(\pi_{v,\lambda})$ and $\Pi_v=\Pi_{v,\lambda=0}$. We put $\Pi_S=\otimes_{v\in S}\Pi_v$.

For any $g_S \in G(F_S)$ and $\phi \in \Pi_S$, we define the Jacquet integral by the analytic continuation of

$$\mathbb{W}_{S}(g_{S},\phi,\lambda) = \int_{(N_{2n}\cap M)(F_{S})\backslash N_{2n}(F_{S})} W_{M,S}^{\psi}(\Pi_{\lambda}(\xi_{0}ug_{S})\phi) du. \tag{5.4.4.1}$$

For any $v \notin S$, let $W_v^{\psi}(\cdot, \pi_{\lambda})$ be the K_v -invariant Whittaker function such that $W_v^{\psi}(1, \pi_{\lambda}) = 1$. We shall identify φ with $\varphi_S \otimes \varphi^S$, where $\varphi_S \in \Pi_S$ and $\varphi^S \in \otimes'_{v \notin S} \Pi_v$ is K^S -invariant. Then we have

$$\mathbb{W}(g, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) = \frac{1}{L^S(1 + \langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle, \sigma \times \sigma^c)} \mathbb{W}_S(g_S, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi_S, \lambda) \prod_{v \notin S} W_v^{\psi}(g_v, \pi_{\lambda})$$
 (5.4.4.2)

for all $g = (g_S, (g_v)_{v \notin S}) \in G(\mathbb{A})$.

Proposition 5.4.4.1. There is $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $\lambda \in \kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$ and any $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$, the integral

$$\int_{N'_{2n}(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} |\mathbb{W}(h, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda)\Phi(e_{2n}h)| \det(h)|^s| dh$$

is absolutely convergent and uniformly bounded on compact subsets of $\mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$.

Proof. We shall use (5.4.4.2). First, the factor $L^S(1 + \langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle, \sigma \times \sigma^c)^{-1}$ is bounded uniformy for λ such $\langle \Re(\lambda), \alpha^{\vee} \rangle \geqslant 2$. We have $\Phi = \Phi_S \otimes \Phi^S$, where Φ^S is the characteristic function of $(\mathcal{O}^S)^{2n}$. By (the proof of) [BP18, proposition 2.6.1 and lemma 3.3.1], there exists $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $\lambda \in \kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$ and any $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$, the integral

$$\int_{N_{2n}'(F_S)\backslash G'(F_S)} |\mathbb{W}_S(h_S, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi_S, \lambda) \Phi_S(e_{2n}h_S)| \det(h_S)|^s| dh_S$$

is convergent and uniformly bounded on compact subsets of $\mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$. So we are left with

$$\prod_{v \notin S} \int_{N'_{2n}(F_v) \setminus G'(F_v)} |W_v^{\psi}(h_v, \pi_{\lambda})| \mathbf{1}_{\mathcal{O}_v^{2n}}(e_{2n}h_v)| \det(h_v)|_v^s |dh_v.$$

Then we can use the Iwasawa decomposition and the bound of [JPSS79, proposition 2.4.1] since we may assume that S is large enough so that for $v \notin S$ the cardinality of the residue field of F_v is bigger than n. The details are left to the reader (see also [IY15, proof of lemma 4.5]).

5.4.5.

We consider the situation of §5.3.3.

Proposition 5.4.5.1. There is $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$ and any Paley-Wiener function β that vanishes at the points $\pm s\alpha/2$, we have

$$\int_{[G']_0} \theta(h) E(h, \Phi, s) \, dh = \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}} \left(\int_{N'_{2n}(\mathbb{A}) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \mathbb{W}(h, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s \, dh \right) \beta(\lambda) \, d\lambda, \tag{5.4.5.1}$$

where the two sides are given by absolutely convergent integrals.

Before giving the proof (which is to find in §§5.4.6-5.4.8 below), we shall give a corollary.

Corollary 5.4.5.2. There is $s_0 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for any $\lambda \in \kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$ and $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$, we have

$$\sum_{\xi\in_P W_{P,2},\xi\neq 1} J(\xi,\varphi,\lambda,\Phi,s) = \int_{N'_{2n}(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \mathbb{W}(h,\varphi,\lambda)\Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s \, dh,$$

where the right-hand side is given by an absolutely and uniformly convergent integral on compact subsets of $\mathcal{H}_{>s_0}$.

Proof. The combination of Propositions 5.3.4.1 and 5.4.5.1 implies (see [LR03, lemma 9.1.2] for a simple argument)

$$\sum_{\xi \in PW_{P,2}, \xi \neq 1} J(\xi, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda, \Phi, s) = \int_{N'_{2n}(\mathbb{A}) \setminus G'(\mathbb{A})} \mathbb{W}(h, I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi, \lambda) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s dh$$

for any $\lambda \in \kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$. Since we can find f such that $I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi = \varphi$, we get the result.

5.4.6. Proof of Proposition 5.4.5.1

We first recall the well-known computation of the constant term of a pseudo Eisenstein series.

Lemma 5.4.6.1. For $1 \le i \le 2n$, the constant term of θ along P_i , defined by

$$\forall g \in G(\mathbb{A}) \quad \theta_{P_i}(g) = \int_{[N_{P_i}]} \theta(ng) \, dn,$$

vanishes unless $i \in \{n, 2n\}$. Moreover, we have

$$\theta_P(g) = \sum_{w \in W(M)} \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}} \exp(w\lambda, H_P(g)) \langle M(w, \lambda) I_P(\lambda, f) \varphi \rangle(g) \beta(\lambda) \, d\lambda.$$

Unfolding the Epstein series, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{[G']_0} \theta(h) E(h, \Phi, s) \, dh &= \int_{\mathcal{P}_1'(F) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \theta(h) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s \, dh \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{P}_1'(F) N_{\mathcal{P}_1}'(\mathbb{A}) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \left(\int_{[N_{\mathcal{P}_1}']} \theta(nh) \, dn \right) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s \, dh. \end{split}$$

The Fourier expansion of the map $n \in [N_{\mathcal{P}_1}] \mapsto \theta(nh)$ gives

$$\theta(h) = \theta_{P_1}(h) + \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{P}_2(F) \setminus \mathcal{P}_1(F)} W_1(\gamma h, \theta)$$

from which we deduce

$$\int_{[N'_{\mathcal{P}_1}]} \theta(nh) \, dn = \theta_{P_1}(h) + \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{P}'_2(F) \setminus \mathcal{P}'_1(F)} W_1(\gamma h, \theta).$$

If n > 1, then $\theta_{P_1} = 0$ (see Lemma 5.4.6.1). In particular, we get

$$\begin{split} \int_{[G']_0} \theta(h) E(h, \Phi, s) \, dh &= \int_{\mathcal{P}_2'(F) N_{\mathcal{P}_1}'(\mathbb{A}) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} W_1(h, \theta) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s \, dh \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{P}_2'(F) N_{\mathcal{P}_2}'(\mathbb{A}) \backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \left(\int_{[N_{\mathcal{P}_1}' \backslash N_{\mathcal{P}_2}']} W_1(nh, \theta) \, dn \right) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s \, dh. \end{split}$$

Next, using the Fourier expansion of $n \in [N_{P_2} \cap M_{P_1}] \mapsto W_1(nh, \theta)$, we get

$$\int_{[N'_{\mathcal{P}_1}\setminus N'_{\mathcal{P}_2}]} W_1(nh,\theta) dn = W_1(h,\theta_{P_2}) + \sum_{\gamma \in \mathcal{P}'_3(F)\setminus \mathcal{P}'_2(F)} W_2(\gamma h,\theta).$$

If n > 2, we have $\theta_{P_2} = 0$ (see Lemma 5.4.6.1). By recursion, we get that the left-hand side of (5.4.5.1) is the sum of

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}'_n(F)N'_{\mathcal{P}_n}(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} W_{n-1}(h,\theta_{P_n})\Phi(e_{2n}h)|\det(h)|^s dh$$
(5.4.6.1)

and

$$\int_{\mathcal{P}'_{*,*}(F)N'_{\mathcal{D}}} |W_n(h,\theta)\Phi(e_{2n}h)| \det(h)|^s dh.$$
 (5.4.6.2)

The manipulation is justified as in [IY15, corollary 4.3 and bottom of p. 697]. The next step is to compute both expressions. Let us start with the second.

5.4.7. Computation of (**5.4.6.2**)

We can continue the process. Since $\theta_{P_k} = 0$ for k > n, $W = W_{2n}$ and $\mathcal{P}'_{2n}(F)N'_{\mathcal{P}_{2n}}(\mathbb{A}) = N'_{2n}(\mathbb{A})$, we get that (5.4.6.2) is equal to

$$\int_{N_{2n}(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} W(h,\theta) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^{s} dh.$$

Using (5.4.3.1), we also have

$$W_{2n}(h,\theta) = \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}} \mathbb{W}(h,I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi,\lambda)\beta(\lambda) d\lambda.$$

To get the right-hand side of (5.4.5.1), we just need to permute the adelic integral and the integral over λ . This is justified by Proposition 5.4.4.1. To conclude, it suffices to show that (5.4.6.1) vanishes: this is done in the next §.

5.4.8. Vanishing of (5.4.6.1)

Recall that $P_n = P$. Using the Iwasawa decomposition, we get that the expression (5.4.6.1) is equal to

$$\int_{A_{M'}^{\infty}} \exp(-\langle \rho_P, H_P(a) \rangle) \int_{M'(\mathbb{A}) \cap (\mathcal{P}'_n(F)N'_{\mathcal{P}_n}(\mathbb{A})) \setminus M'(\mathbb{A})} \int_{K'} W_{n-1}(amk, \theta_P) \Phi(e_{2n}ak) |\det(a)|^s dh.$$

$$(5.4.8.1)$$

By Lemma 5.4.6.1, we see that the expression $W_{n-1}(amk, \theta_P)$ is the sum over $w \in W(M)$ of

$$\int_{\kappa+i\mathfrak{a}_{D}^{G,*}}\exp(\langle w\lambda,H_{P}(a)\rangle)\int_{[N_{P_{m-1}}]}(M(w,\lambda)I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi)(uamk)\psi(u)^{-1}du\beta(\lambda)d\lambda.$$

Writing $u = u_P u_M$ with $u_M \in (N_{\mathcal{P}_{n-1}} \cap M)$ and $u_P \in (N_{\mathcal{P}_{n-1}} \cap N_P)$, we see that

$$(M(w,\lambda)I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi)(uamk) = \exp(\langle \rho_P, H_P(a) \rangle)(M(w,\lambda)I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi)(u_Mmk).$$

Let $A_{\mathcal{P}'_n}^{\infty}$ be the stabilizer of e_{2n} in $A_{M'}^{\infty}$. We have $|\det(a)|^s = \exp(s\langle\alpha, H_P(a)\rangle/2)$. The contribution in (5.4.8.1) corresponding to $w \in W(M)$ factors through the integral:

$$\int_{A_{\mathcal{P}'_{n}}^{\infty}} \exp(s\langle\alpha, H_{P}(a)\rangle/2) \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}} (M(w,\lambda)I_{P}(\lambda,f)\varphi)(umk) \exp(\langle w\lambda, H_{P}(a)\rangle)\beta(\lambda) d\lambda da$$
(5.4.8.2)

for some Haar measure on $A_{\mathcal{D}'}^{\infty}$. If w = 1, the expression (5.4.8.2) is simply

$$\int_{A_{\mathcal{P}_n'}^{\infty}} \exp(s\langle \alpha, H_P(a) \rangle/2) \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}} (I_P(\lambda, f)\varphi)(umk) \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(a) \rangle) \beta(\lambda) \, d\lambda da.$$

By Fourier inversion, it is, up to a constant, $(I_P(-s\alpha/2, f)\varphi)(umk)\beta(-s\alpha/2)$ and thus vanishes. If $w \neq 1$, then $w\lambda = -\lambda$ and the expression (5.4.8.2) can be written as

$$\int_{A_{\mathcal{P}'_n}^{\infty}} \exp(s\langle \alpha, H_P(a) \rangle/2) \int_{\kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}} (M(w,\lambda)I_P(\lambda,f)\varphi)(umk) \exp(-\langle \lambda, H_P(a) \rangle)\beta(\lambda) d\lambda da.$$

Assume that $\Re(s)$ is large enough so that $\Re(s)\langle\alpha,\alpha^\vee\rangle > 2\langle\kappa,\alpha^\vee\rangle$. One can check that there exists c such that the inner integral vanishes unless $\langle\alpha,H_P(a)\rangle\leqslant c$. Thus, one can restrict the outer integral to this 'half-line'. Then we can permute the two integrals. By Cauchy formula, we get that it is, up to a constant, $(M(w,s\alpha/2)I_P(s\alpha/2,f)\varphi)(umk)\beta(s\alpha/2)$, and thus, it also vanishes. This concludes the proof of Proposition 5.4.5.1.

5.5. Final result

5.5.1.

We keep the notations of previous sections. Let $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$. For $s \in \mathbb{C}$, let $L^S(s,\Pi_\lambda,\mathrm{As})$ be the Asai L-function 'outside S'. We have

$$L^{S}(s, \Pi_{\lambda}, \mathsf{As}) = L^{S}(s + \langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle, \sigma, \mathsf{As})L^{S}(s - \langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle, \sigma^{*}, \mathsf{As})L^{S}(s, \sigma \times \sigma^{\vee}).$$

The factor $L^S(s, \sigma \times \sigma^{\vee})$ has a simple pole at s = 1 and we set

$$L^{S,*}(1,\sigma\times\sigma^{\vee}) = \lim_{s\to 1} (s-1)L^{S}(s,\sigma\times\sigma^{\vee}).$$

Then we get an analytic function in λ by setting

$$L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda},\operatorname{As}) = L^{S}(1+\langle \lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma,\operatorname{As})L^{S}(1-\langle \lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma^{*},\operatorname{As})L^{S,*}(1,\sigma\times\sigma^{\vee}).$$

Theorem 5.5.1.1. We have the following equality of meromorphic functions on $\mathfrak{ia}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$.

$$J(\xi_0,\varphi,\lambda) = (\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1} L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_\lambda,\operatorname{As}) \int_{N_{2n}'(F_S) \backslash \mathcal{P}'(F_S)} \mathbb{W}(p_S,\varphi,\lambda) \, dp_S,$$

where the integral is absolutely convergent, and the left-hand side and the integrand in the right-hand side are respectively defined in (5.1.3.1) and (5.4.3.1). Moreover, both sides of the equality are holomorphic at $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$ in the following cases:

- σ is not G'_n -distinguished;
- σ is G'_n -distinguished and $\lambda \neq 0$.

5.5.2. Proof of Theorem 5.5.1.1

By (5.4.4.2), we have for all $g_S \in G(F_S)$,

$$\mathbb{W}(g_S,\varphi,\lambda) = \frac{1}{L^S(1+\langle \lambda,\alpha^\vee\rangle,\sigma\times\sigma^c)} \mathbb{W}_S(g_S,\varphi_S,\lambda).$$

Let Φ_S a test function in the Schwartz space $\mathcal{S}(F_S^{2n})$. Let us consider the following integrals:

$$\int_{N'_{2n}(F_S)\backslash \mathcal{P}'(F_S)} \mathbb{W}_S(h_S, \varphi_S, \lambda) \, dh_S \tag{5.5.2.1}$$

and

$$\int_{N'_{2n}(F_S)\backslash G'(F_S)} \mathbb{W}_S(h_S, \varphi_S, \lambda) \Phi_S(e_{2n}h_S) |\det(h_S)|^s dh_S.$$
 (5.5.2.2)

Lemma 5.5.2.1.

1. There exists $\eta > 0$ (resp. and $\varepsilon > 0$) such that the integral (5.5.2.1), resp. (5.5.2.2), is absolutely convergent and holomorphic on the subset of $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$ such that $|\langle \mathfrak{R}(\lambda), \alpha^{\vee} \rangle| < \eta$, resp. and $s \in \mathcal{H}_{1-\varepsilon}$.

- 2. The integral (5.5.2.2) admits a meromorphic continuation to $\mathbb{C} \times \mathfrak{a}_{P,\mathbb{C}}^{G,*}$ denoted by $Z_S(s,\lambda,\Phi_S)$.
- 3. For any c > 0, there exists $s_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for $s \in \mathcal{H}_{s_1}$ and $|\langle \mathfrak{R}(\lambda), \alpha^{\vee} \rangle| < c$, the integral (5.5.2.2) is absolutely convergent and coincides with $Z_S(s, \lambda, \Phi_S)$.

Proof. All the results are slight variations on [BP18, lemma 3.3.1, lemma 3.3.2 and section 3.10]. To get the convergence of (5.5.2.1) or the precise lower bound $1 - \varepsilon$, we need to observe that φ_S belongs to the induced representation of the *S*-component of an irreducible automorphic cuspidal representation of $M(\mathbb{A})$. As such, it is an irreducible, generic and unitary representation. We can now use the classification of local irreducible generic and unitary representations as fully induced from essentially discrete series with exponents in]-1/2;1/2[(see, for example, [Tad09], [Zel80] and [BR10], Theorem 8.2.]).

Let $\Phi = \Phi_S \otimes \Phi^S$, where Φ_S is the Schwartz space $S(F_S^{2n})$ and Φ^S is the characteristic function of $(\mathcal{O}^S)^{2n}$. Let $c > \langle \kappa, \alpha^\vee \rangle$. By Lemma 5.5.2.1 assertion 3, there exists $s_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ such that for $s \in \mathcal{H}_{s_1}$ and $|\langle \Re(\lambda), \alpha^\vee \rangle| < c$, the integral (5.5.2.2) is absolutely convergent. We may and shall assume that s_1 is large enough so that Proposition 5.4.4.1 holds for s_1 . Then by the factorization (5.4.4.2), some local computations [Fli88] and Lemma 5.5.2.1 assertion 2, we have

$$\int_{N_{2n}'(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'(\mathbb{A})} \mathbb{W}(h,\varphi,\lambda) \Phi(e_{2n}h) |\det(h)|^s dh = (\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1} \frac{L^S(s,\Pi_{\lambda}, As)}{L^S(1+\langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle, \sigma \times \sigma^c)} Z_S(s,\lambda,\Phi_S)$$

for any $\lambda \in \kappa + i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}$ and $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>s_1}$. By analytic continuation of the equality of Corollary 5.4.5.2, we have

$$\sum_{\xi \in PW_{P^2}, \xi \neq 1} J(\xi, \varphi, \lambda, \Phi, s) = (\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1} \frac{L^S(s, \Pi_{\lambda}, \mathsf{As})}{L^S(1 + \langle \lambda, \alpha^{\vee} \rangle, \sigma \times \sigma^c)} Z_S(s, \lambda, \Phi_S)$$

for all $s \in \mathbb{C}$ and $\lambda \in \mathcal{D}_r$ given by Proposition 5.2.2.1. We can compute the residue of the left-hand side at s = 1 following Proposition 5.2.2.1. We get

$$\hat{\Phi}(0)J(\xi_0,\varphi,\lambda) = (\Delta_{G'}^{S,*})^{-1}Z_S(1,\lambda,\Phi_S)\frac{L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_\lambda,\mathrm{As})}{L^S(1+\langle\lambda,\alpha^\vee\rangle,\sigma\times\sigma^c)}.$$
 (5.5.2.3)

Both sides are analytic in λ . Thus, the equality for $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$. But by Lemma 5.5.2.1 assertion 1 and assertion 2, one has

$$Z_S(1,\lambda,\Phi_S) = \int_{N'_{2n}(F_S)\backslash G'(F_S)} \mathbb{W}_S(h_S,\varphi_S,\lambda)\Phi_S(e_{2n}h_S)|\det(h_S)|dh_S.$$

Let \bar{N}_1 be the unipotent radical of the opposite of the parabolic subgroup P_1 defined in §5.4.2. The standard Levi factor of P_1 decomposes as $G_{2n-1} \times G_1$. Thus, we have $N'_{2n} \setminus P'_1 \simeq N'_{2n} \setminus P' \times G'_1$. By a usual decomposition of measures, we get

$$Z_S(1,\lambda,\Phi_S) = \int_{\bar{N}_1(F_S)} \int_{G_1'(F_S)} \left(\int_{N_{2n}'(F_S) \backslash \mathcal{P}'(F_S)} \mathbb{W}_S(htn,\varphi_S,\lambda) \, dh \right) \Phi_S(e_{2n}tn) |t|^{2n} \, dt dn.$$

However, we have also

$$\hat{\Phi}_{S}(0) = \int_{F_{S}^{2n}} \Phi_{S}(X) dX$$

$$= \int_{\tilde{N}_{1}(F_{S})} \int_{G'_{1}(F_{S})} \Phi_{S}(e_{2n}tn)|t|^{2n} dt dn.$$

Since (5.5.2.3) holds for any Schwartz function Φ_S , we get that $J(\xi_0, \varphi, \lambda)$ is equal to

$$\begin{split} & \frac{L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda},\mathrm{As})}{L^{S}(1+\langle\lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma\times\sigma^{c})} \int_{N'_{2n}(F_{S})\backslash\mathcal{P}'(F_{S})} \mathbb{W}_{S}(g_{S},\varphi_{S},\lambda) \\ & = L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda},\mathrm{As}) \int_{N'_{2n}(F_{S})\backslash\mathcal{P}'(F_{S})} \mathbb{W}(p_{S},\varphi,\lambda) \, dp_{S}, \end{split}$$

where we have used the factorization (5.4.4.2). In the first expression above, the integral is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_P^{G,*}$; see Lemma 5.5.2.1. Using the factorization of $L^S(s,\sigma\times\sigma^c)$ in terms of Asai *L*-functions $L(s,\sigma,As^\pm)$, we get

$$\frac{L^{S,*}(1,\Pi_{\lambda},\mathrm{As})}{L^{S}(1+\langle\lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma\times\sigma^{c})} = L^{S,*}(1,\sigma\times\sigma^{\vee}) \frac{L^{S}(1-\langle\lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma^{*},\mathrm{As})}{L^{S}(1+\langle\lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma,\mathrm{As}^{-})}.$$

On $i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}$, the *L*-function $L^{S}(1+\langle\lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma,\operatorname{As}^{-})$ does not vanish by [Sha81, theorem 5.1] and $L^{S}(1-\langle\lambda,\alpha^{\vee}\rangle,\sigma^{*},\operatorname{As})$ is holomorphic unless $\lambda=0$ and σ^{*} (thus σ) is G'_{n} -distinguished (see [Fli88]). On the other hand, if σ is not G'_{n} -distinguished, then $J(\xi_{0},\varphi,\lambda)$ is known to be holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}$; see [Lap06, lemma 8.1]. Otherwise, $J(\xi_{0},\varphi,\lambda)$ is holomorphic on $i\mathfrak{a}_{P}^{G,*}\setminus\{0\}$, but it may have a simple pole at $\lambda=0$.

6. The (G, H)-regular contribution to the Jacquet-Rallis trace formula: alternative proof

6.1. Statement

6.1.1.

The goal of this section is to provide an alternative proof of the following combination of Theorem 4.1.8.1 and Theorem 4.2.8.1.

Theorem 6.1.1.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G)$ be a (G,H)-regular cuspidal datum and let $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$. Then,

- 1. If χ is not Hermitian, we have $I_{\chi}(f) = 0$.
- 2. If χ is Hermitian, we have

$$I_{\chi}(f) = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}(f) d\lambda, \tag{6.1.1.1}$$

where we recall that (M, π) is a pair representing χ , $L \supset M$ is the Levi subgroup defined by (4.1.4.1), Π_{λ} stands for the induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{G(\mathbb{A})}(\pi_{\lambda})$, for P a chosen parabolic subgroup with Levi factor M, and $I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}$ is the relative character defined by (4.2.8.1).

More precisely, the proof will be very similar to that given in [BPCZ22, Section 8] and is based on two ingredients of independent interests. The first one is that the Rankin-Selberg period (over H) admits a continuous extension to the space $\mathcal{T}_{\chi}([G])$ of functions of uniform moderate growth supported on a H-regular cuspidal datum χ and that this extension can moreover be described in terms of the analytic continuation of Zeta integrals of Rankin Selberg type. This was already established in [BPCZ22, Section 7]. The second ingredient is an explicit spectral decomposition of the Flicker-Rallis period (over G') restricted to $\mathcal{S}_{\chi}([G'])$ when the cuspidal datum χ is (G-)regular. This was already done in [BPCZ22, Section 6] under the stronger assumption that χ is *-regular. The aim of the subsection 6.2 is to state and prove the extension of this result to the regular case. Once established, we will be able to give a proof of Theorem 6.1.1.1 in subsection 6.3 in much the same lines as [BPCZ22, §8.2].

6.2. Spectral decomposition of the Flicker-Rallis period for regular cuspidal data

6.2.1. Zeta integrals

Let $n \ge 0$ be an integer. We will freely use the notation introduced in Section 4. For every $f \in \mathcal{T}([G_n])$, we denote by

$$W_f(g) = \int_{[N_n]} f(ug)\psi_n(u)^{-1} du, \quad g \in G_n(\mathbb{A})$$

its Whittaker function and, for $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{A}^n)$, we set

$$Z_{\psi}^{\mathrm{FR}}(s,f,\phi) := \int_{N'_n(\mathbb{A})\backslash G'_n(\mathbb{A})} W_f(h)\phi(e_nh)|\det h|^s \eta_{G'_n}(h)dh.$$

This expression is absolutely convergent for $\Re(s)$ sufficiently large. More precisely, for every N > 0, there exists c > 0 such that $Z_{w}^{FR}(s, f, \phi)$ converges for $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>c}$ (see [BPCZ22, Theorem 6.2.5.1]).

6.2.2. Flicker-Rallis period

Recall that for every $f \in \mathcal{C}([G_n])$, the period integral

$$P_{G'_n}(f) = \int_{[G'_n]} f(h) \eta_{G'_n}(h) dh$$

is convergent [BPCZ22, Theorem 6.2.6.1].

6.2.3. Hermitian cuspidal data

Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}(G_n)$ be a cuspidal datum. Then, we can find a pair (M,π) representing χ with

$$M = \prod_{i \in I} G_{n_i}^{\times d_i} \times \prod_{j \in J} G_{n_j}^{\times d_j} \times \prod_{k \in K} G_{n_k}^{\times d_k}$$

and

$$\pi = \bigotimes_{i \in I} \pi_i^{\boxtimes d_i} \boxtimes \bigotimes_{j \in J} \pi_j^{\boxtimes d_j} \boxtimes \bigotimes_{k \in K} \pi_k^{\boxtimes d_k}$$

for some disjoint finite sets I, J, K, families of positive integers $(n_l)_{l \in I \cup J \cup K}$, $(d_l)_{l \in I \cup J \cup K}$ and a family of distinct cuspidal automorphic representations $(\pi_l)_{l \in I \cup J \cup K}$ satisfying

- For every $i \in I$, $\pi_i \not\simeq \pi_i^*$;
- For every $j \in J$, $\pi_j \simeq \pi_j^*$ and $L(s, \pi_j, \operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}})$ has no pole at s = 1;
- For every $k \in K$, $\pi_k \simeq \pi_k^*$ and $L(s, \pi_k, \operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}})$ has a pole at s = 1.

Fixing data as above (which are unique up to reordering), we recall that χ is said *Hermitian* (see §4.1.3) if the following condition is satisfied:

(6.2.3.1) For every $i \in I$, there exists $i^* \in I$ such that $\pi_{i^*} \simeq \pi_i^*$ and for every $j \in J$, d_j is even.

6.2.4.

Assume furthermore that χ is regular in the sense of §4.1.3 or [BPCZ22, §2.9.7] and fix a pair (M, π) representing χ together with data I, J, K, $(n_l)_{l \in I \cup J \cup K}$, $(d_l)_{l \in I \cup J \cup K}$, $(\pi_l)_{l \in I \cup J \cup K}$ as in the previous paragraph. By the regularity assumption, we have $d_l = 1$ for every $l \in I \cup J \cup K$. Moreover, χ is Hermitian if and only if $J = \emptyset$ and there exists an involution $i \mapsto i^*$ of I without fixed point such that $\pi_{i^*} = \pi_i^*$ for every $i \in I$. If this is the case, we choose a subset $I' \subset I$ such that I is the disjoint union of

I' and $(I')^* = \{i^* \mid i \in I'\}$, and we define a Levi subgroup $L \supset M$ by

$$L:=\prod_{i\in I'}G_{n_i+n_{i^*}}\times\prod_{k\in K}G_{n_k}.$$

6.2.5.

Let P be a parabolic subgroup with Levi factor M. For every $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{M,\mathbb{C}}^*$ and $f \in \mathcal{C}([G_n])$, we set

$$\Pi_{\lambda} := \operatorname{Ind}_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{G_n(\mathbb{A})}(\pi_{\lambda})$$

and

$$W_{f,\Pi_{\lambda}} := W_{f_{\Pi_{\lambda}}},$$

where $f_{\Pi_{\lambda}} \in \mathcal{T}([G_n])$ is defined as in [BPCZ22, Eq. (2.9.8.14)]. Assuming that χ is Hermitian, we define for every $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ a linear form β_n on $\mathcal{W}(\Pi_{\lambda}, \psi_n)$ by setting

$$\beta_n(W) = (\Delta_{G'_n}^{S,*})^{-1} L^{S,*}(1, \Pi, \operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}}) \int_{N'_n(F_S) \setminus \mathcal{P}'_n(F_S)} W(p_S) \eta_{G'_n}(p_S) dp_S$$

for every $W \in \mathcal{W}(\Pi_{\lambda}, \psi_n)$, where S is a sufficiently large finite set of places of F (depending on W). That the above integral is convergent follows from [BP18, Proposition 2.6.1, Lemma 3.3.1], [JS81b], and moreover, the product stabilizes for S sufficiently large by the unramified computation of [Fli88, Proposition 3].

6.2.6.

Theorem 6.2.6.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^{\text{reg}}(G_n)$ for which we adopt the notation introduced in the previous three paragraphs. Then, for every $f \in \mathcal{C}_{\chi}([G_n])$ and $\phi \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{A}^n)$, we have

1. If χ is Hermitian, the function $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*} \mapsto \beta_n(W_{f,\Pi_\lambda})$ is Schwartz and the resulting map

$$C_{\chi}([G_n]) \to \mathcal{S}(i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}), \quad f \mapsto \left(\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*} \mapsto \beta_n(W_{f,\Pi_{\lambda}})\right)$$
 (6.2.6.1)

is continuous.

2. The function $s \mapsto (s-1)Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, {}^0f, \phi)$ admits an analytic continuation to $\mathcal{H}_{>1}$ with a limit at s=1, and setting $Z_{\psi}^{FR,*}(1, {}^0f, \phi) := \lim_{s \to 1^+} (s-1)Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, {}^0f, \phi)$, we have

$$Z_{\psi}^{\mathrm{FR},*}(1,{}^{0}f,\phi) = \begin{cases} 2^{1-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L})}\widehat{\phi}(0)\int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}}\beta_{n}(W_{f,\Pi_{\lambda}})d\lambda \ if \ \chi \ is \ Hermitian, \\ 0 \ otherwise. \end{cases}$$
 (6.2.6.2)

3. The equality

$$\widehat{\phi}(0)P_{G'_n}(f) = \frac{1}{2}Z_{\psi}^{\text{FR},*}(1,{}^0f,\phi). \tag{6.2.6.3}$$

6.2.7.

We note the following immediate corollary of Theorem 6.2.6.1.

Corollary 6.2.7.1. Let $\chi \in \mathfrak{X}^{reg}(G_n)$ for which we adopt the notation introduced in the paragraphs 6.2.4 and 6.2.5. Then, for every $f \in \mathcal{C}_{\nu}([G_n])$, we have

$$P_{G'_n}(f) = \begin{cases} 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} \beta_n(W_{f,\Pi_{\lambda}}) d\lambda \ if \ \chi \ is \ Hermitian, \\ 0 \ otherwise. \end{cases}$$
 (6.2.7.1)

6.2.8. Proof of Theorem 6.2.6.1 1. and 2.

Here, we prove parts 1 and 2 of Theorem 6.2.6.1. We will explain how to deduce the last part in the next subsection. The proof is actually along the same lines as that of [BPCZ22, Theorem 6.2.5.1]. Therefore, we will be brief on the parts that are similar.

Set

$$\mathcal{A} := (i\mathbb{R})^{I \cup J \cup K}$$

and let \mathcal{A}_0 be the subspace of vectors $\underline{x} = (x_\ell)_{\ell \in I \cup J \cup K} \in \mathcal{A}$ such that $\sum_{\ell \in I \cup J \cup K} x_\ell = 0$. We equip \mathcal{A} with the product of Lebesgue measures and \mathcal{A}_0 with the unique measure inducing on $\mathcal{A}/\mathcal{A}_0 \simeq i\mathbb{R}$ the Lebesgue measure via the map $\underline{x} \mapsto \sum_{\ell \in I \cup J \cup K} x_\ell$. We identify \mathcal{A} with $i\mathfrak{a}_M^*$ by sending $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}$ to the unramified character

$$g=(g_\ell)_{\ell\in I\cup J\cup K}\in M(\mathbb{A})=\prod_{\ell\in I\cup J\cup K}G_{n_\ell}(\mathbb{A})\mapsto \prod_{\ell\in I\cup J\cup K}|\mathrm{det}\,g_\ell|_{\mathbb{A}_E}^{x_\ell/n_\ell}.$$

We note that this isomorphism sends \mathcal{A}_0 onto $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{G_r,*}$. Furthermore, by our choice of measure on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^*$ (see §2.1.8 as well as [BPCZ22, Eq. (2.3.1.1)]), this isomorphism sends the Haar measure just described on \mathcal{A} to $(2\pi)^r P$ times the Haar measure on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^*$, where we have set

$$r = \dim(A_M) = |I \cup J \cup K|, \quad P = \prod_{\ell \in I \cup J \cup K} n_\ell.$$

Set $f_{\underline{x}} = f_{\Pi_{\underline{x}}}$ for every $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}$. Then, by a computation completely similar to that leading to [BPCZ22, Eq. (6.3.0.3)] (using one of the main results of [Lap13]), we have

$$Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, {}^{0}f, \phi) = \frac{n}{P} (2\pi)^{-r+1} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{0}} Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, f_{\underline{x}}, \phi) d\underline{x}$$

for $\Re(s) \gg 1$.

Let S_0 be a finite set of places of F including the Archimedean ones and outside of which π is unramified and let $S_{0,f} \subset S_0$ be the subset of finite places. We fix, for every $l \in I \cup J \cup K$ and $v \in S_{0,f}$, polynomials $Q_l(T), Q_{l,v}(T) \in \mathbb{C}[T]$ with all their roots in $\mathcal{H}_{]0,1[}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{]q_v^{-1},1[}$, respectively, such that the products $s \mapsto Q_l(s)L_{\infty}(s,\pi_l,\operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}})$ and $s \mapsto Q_{l,v}(q_v^{-s})L_v(s,\pi_l,\operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{n+1}})$ have no pole in $\mathcal{H}_{]0,1[}$. Let I_0 be the set of $i \in I$ for which there exists $i^* \in I$ (necessarily unique by regularity of χ) satisfying $\pi_{l^*} = \pi_l^*$ and fix a subset $I' \subset I_0$ such that I_0 is the disjoint union of I' and $(I')^*$. Set

$$P(s,\underline{x}) = \prod_{i \in I'} \left(s + \frac{x_i + x_{i^*}}{n_i} \right) \left(s + \frac{x_i + x_{i^*}}{n_i} - 1 \right) \prod_{k \in K} \left(s + \frac{2x_k}{n_k} \right) \left(s - 1 + \frac{2x_k}{n_k} \right)$$

$$\times \prod_{l \in I \cup J \cup K} Q_l \left(s + \frac{2x_l}{n_l} \right) \prod_{\substack{l \in I \cup J \cup K \\ v \in S_{0,f}}} Q_{l,v} \left(q_v^{-s - \frac{2x_l}{n_l}} \right).$$

Then, we can prove exactly as in [BPCZ22, §6.3] that the two functions

$$(s,\underline{x}) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathcal{A}_0 \mapsto P\left(s+\frac{1}{2},\underline{x}\right) Z_{\psi}^{\mathrm{FR}}\left(s+\frac{1}{2},f_{\underline{x}},\phi\right)$$

and

$$(s,\underline{x}) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathcal{A}_0 \mapsto P\left(\frac{1}{2} - s,\underline{x}\right) Z_{\psi^{-1}}^{\mathrm{FR}}\left(s + \frac{1}{2},\widetilde{f}_{\underline{x}},\widehat{\phi}\right),\,$$

where $\widetilde{f_x}(g) = f_x({}^tg^{-1})$, satisfy the conditions of [BPCZ22, Corollary A.0.11.1]. Therefore, by the conclusion of this corollary, the map

$$s \mapsto F_s := \left(\underline{x} \mapsto \prod_{i \in I'} \left(s + \frac{x_i + x_{i^*}}{n_i} - 1 \right) \prod_{k \in K} \left(s + \frac{2x_k}{n_k} - 1 \right) Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, f_{\underline{x}}, \phi) \right)$$

induces a holomorphic map $\mathcal{H}_{1-\epsilon} \to \mathcal{S}(\mathcal{A}_0)$ for some $\epsilon > 0$. This already implies that

$$s \mapsto Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, {}^{0}f, \phi) = \frac{n}{P} (2\pi)^{-r+1} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{0}} \prod_{i \in I'} \left(s + \frac{x_{i} + x_{i^{*}}}{n_{i}} - 1 \right)^{-1} \prod_{k \in K} \left(s + \frac{2x_{k}}{n_{k}} - 1 \right)^{-1} F_{s}(\underline{x}) d\underline{x}$$

has an analytic continuation to $\mathcal{H}_{>1}$. Moreover, if χ is not Hermitian, the linear forms $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}_0 \mapsto x_i + x_{i^*}$, $i \in I'$, and $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}_0 \mapsto x_k$, $k \in K$, are linearly independent, and thus, by [BP21, Lemma 3.11], $Z_{ll}^{FR}(s, {}^0f, \phi)$ has a limit as $s \to 1$.

We assume from now on that χ is Hermitian so that $I = I' \cup (I')^*$ and $J = \emptyset$. Set $\mathcal{A}^L = (i\mathbb{R})^{I'}$, $\mathcal{A}' = (i\mathbb{R})^{I' \cup K}$ and let \mathcal{A}'_0 be the subspace of $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}'$ such that $\sum_{i \in I'} x_i + \sum_{k \in K} x_k = 0$. We have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathcal{A}^L \to \mathcal{A}_0 \to \mathcal{A}'_0 \to 0$$

where the first map sends $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}^L$ to the vector $\underline{y} \in \mathcal{A}_0$ with coordinates $y_i = x_i$ for $i \in I'$, $y_i = -x_{i^*}$ for $i \in (I')^*$ and $y_k = 0$ for $k \in K$, whereas the second map is given by

$$\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}_0 \mapsto ((x_i + x_{i^*})_{i \in I'}, (x_k)_{k \in K}).$$

We equip \mathcal{A}^L and \mathcal{A}' with the products of Lebesgue measures and \mathcal{A}'_0 as before with the unique measure inducing on $\mathcal{A}'/\mathcal{A}'_0 \simeq i\mathbb{R}$ the Lebesgue measure. Then, it is easy to see that the above exact sequence is compatible with the different Haar measures. In particular, we have

$$Z_{\psi}^{\mathrm{FR}}(s,{}^{0}f,\phi) = \frac{n}{P}(2\pi)^{-r+1} \int_{\mathcal{A}_{0}'} \prod_{i \in I'} \left(s + \frac{y_{i}}{n_{i}} - 1\right)^{-1} \prod_{k \in K} \left(s + \frac{2y_{k}}{n_{k}} - 1\right)^{-1} \int_{\mathcal{A}^{L}} F_{s}(\underline{x} + \underline{y}) d\underline{x} d\underline{y}.$$

From this and [BP21, Proposition 3.12], we obtain

$$\lim_{s \to 1^{+}} (s-1) Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, {}^{0}f, \phi) = \frac{n}{P} (2\pi)^{-r+1} \frac{\prod_{i \in I'} n_{i} \prod_{k \in K} \frac{n_{k}}{2}}{\sum_{i \in I'} n_{i} + \sum_{k \in K} \frac{n_{k}}{2}} (2\pi)^{|I' \cup K| - 1} \int_{\mathcal{A}^{L}} F_{1}(\underline{x}) d\underline{x}$$

$$= \frac{(2\pi)^{-|I'|}}{P'} 2^{1-|K|} \int_{\mathcal{A}^{L}} F_{1}(\underline{x}) d\underline{x},$$
(6.2.8.1)

where we have set $P' = \prod_{i \in I'} n_i$. Furthermore, from the unramified computation of [Fli88, Proposition 3] and [BP21, Lemma 2.16.3], we have

$$F_1(\underline{x}) = \lim_{s \to 1^+} (s - 1)^{|I' \cup K|} Z_{\psi}^{FR}(s, f_{\underline{x}}, \phi) = \widehat{\phi}(0) \beta_n(W_{f_{\underline{x}}})$$
(6.2.8.2)

for $\underline{x} \in \mathcal{A}^L$. However, the isomorphism $\mathcal{A} \simeq i\mathfrak{a}_M^*$ sends \mathcal{A}^L onto $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and sends the measure on \mathcal{A}^L to $\frac{(2\pi)^{|I'|}P'}{2^{|I'|}}$ times the measure on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$. As, by [BPCZ22, Corollary A.0.11.1], the function F_1 is Schwartz, so is the function $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*} \mapsto \beta_n(W_{f,\Pi_\lambda})$. Moreover, that the map (6.2.6.1) is continuous follows from (6.2.8.2) together with [BPCZ22, Theorem 6.2.5.1 1., Eq. (A.0.4.3)] and the closed graph theorem. Finally, combining (6.2.8.1) with (6.2.8.2) and the above comparison of measures readily gives the identity (6.2.6.2) and ends the proof of Theorem 6.2.6.1 2.

6.2.9. Proof of Theorem 6.2.6.1 3.

The proof of [BPCZ22, Theorem 6.2.6.1] applies verbatim noting that in *loc. cit.* the condition that χ is *-regular is only used at the end of the proof to show that the family of bilinear forms denoted by

$$s \mapsto P_{G'_r} \widehat{\otimes} \mathcal{Z}_{n-r}^{FR}(s)$$

on $C_{\chi}([M_r]) \times S(\mathbb{A}^{n-r})$ extends holomorphically to $\mathcal{H}_{s>1}$. However, thanks to the proof of part 2 of Theorem 6.2.6.1 given in the previous subsection, we know that this property continues to hold for cuspidal data that are only assumed to be regular.

6.3. Proof of Theorem 6.1.1.1

Since χ is *H*-regular, by [BPCZ22, Theorem 7.1.3.1], the period integral

$$P_H: \phi \in \mathcal{S}_{\chi}([G]) \mapsto \int_{[H]} \phi(h) dh$$

extends continuously to a linear form on $\mathcal{T}_{\chi}([G])$ that we shall denote by P_H^* . Then, by the very same argument as for [BPCZ22, Eq. (8.2.3.5)], we have

$$I_{\chi}(f) = P_H^* \left(\int_{[G']} K_{f,\chi}(.,g') \eta_{G'}(g') dg' \right), \tag{6.3.0.1}$$

where the inner integral is taken in $\mathcal{T}_N([G])$ for N large enough. Furthermore, applying Corollary 6.2.7.1 instead of [BPCZ22, Corollary 6.2.7.1], the discussion of [BPCZ22, §8.2.4] shows that this inner integral is identically zero if χ is not Hermitian, whereas otherwise, it leads to the following expansion:

$$\int_{[G']} K_{f,\chi}(.,g') \eta_{G'}(g') dg' = 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} \sum_{\phi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(.,I_P(\lambda,f)\phi,\lambda) \overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\phi,\lambda))} d\lambda \quad (6.3.0.2)$$

for $\mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}$ a K-basis of $I_{P(\mathbb{A})}^{G(\mathbb{A})}(\pi)$. We assume from now on that χ is Hermitian. We claim the following:

(6.3.0.3) There exists N > 0 such that for every $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, the series

$$\sum_{\phi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(., I_P(\lambda, f)\phi, \lambda) \overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\phi, \lambda))}$$
(6.3.0.4)

converges absolutely in $\mathcal{T}_N([G])$, and furthermore, the integral over $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ in the right-hand side of (6.3.0.2) converges absolutely in $\mathcal{T}_N([G])$.

Indeed, that the series (6.3.0.4) converges absolutely in $\mathcal{T}_N([G])$ for large enough N (independent of λ) follows from [BPCZ22, Theorem 2.9.8.1]. Note that for every $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and $g \in [G]$, we have

$$\sum_{\phi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(g,I_P(\lambda,f)\phi,\lambda) \overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\phi,\lambda))} = \beta_{\eta}(K_f(g,.)_{\Pi_{\lambda}}),$$

where $K_f(g,.)_{\Pi_{\lambda}}$ denotes the projection of the function $K_f(g,.) \in \mathcal{S}([G])$ to Π_{λ} as defined in [BPCZ22, Eq. (2.9.8.14)]. Moreover, by [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.10.1.1], for every continuous semi-norm μ on $\mathcal{S}([G])$, we can find $N_{\mu} > 0$ such that for every $f' \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, we have

$$\mu(K_{f'}(g,.)) \ll_{\mu,f'} ||g||_G^{N_{\mu}}, \text{ for } g \in [G].$$

In particular, combining this estimate with the first part of Theorem 6.2.6.1, we deduce that for each d > 0, we can find $N_d > 0$ such that, for $f' \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, we have

$$\left| \sum_{\phi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} E(g, I_P(\lambda, f')\phi, \lambda) \overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\phi, \lambda))} \right| = \left| \beta_{\eta}(K_{f'}(g, .)_{\Pi_{\lambda}}) \right| \ll_{d,f'} \|g\|_{G}^{N_d} (1 + \|\lambda\|)^{-d}$$

for $(\lambda, g) \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*} \times [G]$. Choosing d such that $\lambda \mapsto (1 + \|\lambda\|)^{-d}$ is integrable on $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and applying the above inequality to f' = R(X)f for $X \in \mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$ gives the second part of (6.3.0.3).

We now need to recall how the extension P_H^* is defined in [BPCZ22, Theorem 7.1.3.1]: for $\Phi \in \mathcal{T}_{\mathcal{X}}([G])$, the integral

$$Z_{\psi}^{RS}(s,\Phi) = \int_{N_H(\mathbb{A})\backslash H(\mathbb{A})} W_{\Phi}(h) |\det h|_{\mathbb{A}_E}^s dh,$$

where $W_{\Phi}(h) := \int_{[N]} \Phi(uh) \psi_N(u)^{-1} du$, a priori only defined when $\Re(s)$ is sufficiently large, admits an analytic continuation to \mathbb{C} and we have

$$P_H^*(\Phi) = Z_{u}^{RS}(0, \Phi).$$

Therefore, by continuity of P_H^* , (6.3.0.2) and (6.3.0.3), we obtain

$$\begin{split} P_H^*\left(\int_{[G']} K_{f,\chi}(.,g')\eta_{G'}(g')dg'\right) &= 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} \sum_{\phi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} P_H^*(E(.,I_P(\lambda,f)\phi,\lambda)) \overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\phi,\lambda))} d\lambda \\ &= 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} \sum_{\phi \in \mathcal{B}_{P,\pi}} Z_{\psi}^{RS}(0,W(I_P(\lambda,f)\phi,\lambda)) \overline{\beta_{\eta}(W(\phi,\lambda))} d\lambda \\ &= 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L)} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}} I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}(f) d\lambda. \end{split}$$

Together with (6.3.0.1), this ends the proof of the theorem.

7. Proof of Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture: Eisenstein case

7.1. Global comparison of relative characters

7.1.1. Notations

We follow the notations of Sections 3 and 4. In particular, we fix an integer $n \ge 1$. We consider the group $G = G_n \times G_{n+1}$ and, for $h \in \mathcal{H}_n$, the groups $U'_h \subset U_h$. Since n is fixed, we drop it from the notation: $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_n$. The various Haar measures are those considered in §2.1.8.

7.1.2.

Let $V_{F,\infty} \subset S_0 \subset V_F$ be a finite set of places containing all the places that are ramified in E. For every $v \in V_F$, we set $E_v = E \otimes_F F_v$, and when $v \notin V_{F,\infty}$, we denote by $\mathcal{O}_{E_v} \subset E_v$ its ring of integers. Let $\mathcal{H}^{\circ} \subset \mathcal{H}$ be the (finite) subset of Hermitian spaces of rank n over E that admits a selfdual \mathcal{O}_{E_v} -lattice for every $v \notin S_0$. For each $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$, the group U_h is then defined over $\mathcal{O}_F^{S_0}$, and we fix a choice of such a model. For $v \notin S_0$, we define the open compact subgroups $K_{h,v} = U_h(\mathcal{O}_v)$ and $K_v = G(\mathcal{O}_v)$, respectively, of $U_h(F_v)$ and $G(F_v)$. We set

$$K_h^{\circ} = \prod_{v \notin S_0} K_{h,v}$$
 and $K^{\circ} = \prod_{v \notin S_0} K_v$.

We choose also for each $v \in S_0$ some maximal compact subgroup $K_{h,v} \subset U_h(F_v)$ and $K_v \subset G(F_v)$ (see §3.1.3).

Let $v \notin S_0$. We denote by $S^{\circ}(U_h(F_v))$, resp. $S^{\circ}(G(F_v))$, the corresponding spherical Hecke algebra. We have the base change homomorphism

$$BC_{h,v}: \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(G(F_v)) \to \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(U_h(F_v)).$$

We denote by $S^{\circ}(U_h(\mathbb{A}^{S_0}))$, resp. $S^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A}^{S_0}))$, the restricted tensor product of $S^{\circ}(U_h(F_v))$, resp. $S^{\circ}(G(F_v))$, for $v \notin S_0$. We set $BC_h^{S_0} = \bigotimes_{v \notin S_0} BC_{h,v}$.

We also denote by $S^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A})) \subset S(G(\mathbb{A}))$ and $S^{\circ}(U_h(\mathbb{A})) \subset S(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$, for $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$, the subspaces of functions that are, respectively, bi- K° -invariant and bi- K°_h -invariant.

7.1.3. Transfer

Let $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$. We shall say that $f_{S_0} \in \mathcal{S}(G(F_{S_0}))$ and $f_{S_0}^h \in \mathcal{S}(U_h(F_{S_0}))$ are transfers if the functions f_{S_0} and $f_{S_0}^h$ have matching regular orbital integrals in the sense of [BLZZ21, Definition 4.4].

7.1.4. Cuspidal datum χ_0 and H-regular Hermitian Arthur parameter Π

Let P be a standard parabolic subgroup of G and π be a cuspidal automorphic representation of $M = M_P$. Let $\chi_0 \in \mathfrak{X}(G)$ be the class of the pair (M_P, π) . We assume henceforth that χ_0 is a Hermitian (G, H)-regular cuspidal datum in the sense of §4.1.3. We assume also that (M, π) satisfies the conditions of §4.1.4 and that L is the standard Levi subgroup containing M defined in this §. Set $\Pi = \operatorname{Ind}_P^G(\pi)$: this is a H-regular Hermitian Arthur parameter in the sense of §1.2.1. We assume that S_0 is large enough so that Π admits K° -fixed vectors. Let Π_0 be the discrete component of Π (see §1.1.2).

The group $S_{\Pi} = S_{\Pi_0}$ is defined in §§1.1.2 and 1.1.4. Its order can be computed as follows:

$$|S_{\Pi}| = 2^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_L) - \dim(\mathfrak{a}_M^L)}. \tag{7.1.4.1}$$

For any $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, we shall use the distribution $I_{P,\pi}(\lambda,\cdot)$ on $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ defined in §4.1.7.

7.1.5.

Let S_0' be the union of $S_0 \setminus V_{F,\infty}$ and the set of all finite places of F that are inert in E. Let $h \in \mathcal{H}^\circ$ and let $\mathfrak{X}_\Pi^h \subset \mathfrak{X}(U_h)$ be the set of cuspidal data represented by pairs (M_h, σ) such that M_h is the standard Levi factor of a standard parabolic sugroup P_h of U_h and σ is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $M_h(\mathbb{A})$ such that

- Π is a weak base change of (P_h, σ) (in the sense of §§1.1.3 and 1.1.4);
- σ is $\prod_{v \notin S_0} (M_h(F_v) \cap K_{h,v})$ -unramified;

• with the identifications $M_h = G^{\sharp} \times U$ where G^{\sharp} is a product of linear groups and $U = U(h_{n_0}) \times U(h_{n_0'})$ for some $h_{n_0'} \in \mathcal{H}_{n_0}$ and $h_{n_0} \in \mathcal{H}_{n_0'}$ and $\sigma = \sigma^{\sharp} \boxtimes \sigma_0$ accordingly (where σ_0 is a cuspidal automorphic representation of $U(\mathbb{A})$, for all $v \notin S'_0 \cup V_{F,\infty}$, the representation $\Pi_{0,v}$ is the split base change of the representation $\sigma_{0,v}$.

Since Π is a H-regular Hermitian Arthur parameter, the class of (M_h, σ) is (U, U')-regular in the sense of §3.5.2. Moreover, there is a natural isomorphism

$$bc = bc_{(M_h,\sigma)} : \mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*} \to \mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*. \tag{7.1.5.1}$$

More precisely, we wrote $M_h = G^{\sharp} \times U$, where G^{\sharp} is a product of linear groups G_{m_i} for some integers m_i and $1 \le i \le s$ so that $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^* = \bigoplus_{i=1}^s \mathfrak{a}_{G_{m_i}}^*$. But the product $\prod_{i=1}^s (G_{m_i} \times G_{m_i})$ is also a factor in the decomposition of M into a product of linear groups. So the space $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^* \oplus \mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^* = \bigoplus_{i=1}^s (\mathfrak{a}_{G_{m_i}}^* \oplus \mathfrak{a}_{G_{m_i}}^*)$ is a subspace of $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*$. The antidiagonal map $x \mapsto (x, -x)$ then identifies $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*$ with a subspace of $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^* \oplus \mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*$ and thus of \mathfrak{a}_M^* , and this subspace is precisely $\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$.

Remarks 7.1.5.1. The base change map bc depends implicitly on the choice of the pair (M_h, σ) . Indeed, if $(M_{1,h}, \sigma_1)$ is a pair equivalent to (M_h, σ) and if $w \in W(M_h, M_{1,h})$ is such that $\sigma_1 = w \cdot \sigma$, then $bc_{(M_{1,h},\sigma_1)} = w \circ bc_{(M_h,\sigma)}$ (where we view w as a map $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^* \to \mathfrak{a}_{M_{1,h}}^*$). In order to not burden the notation, we shall omit the subscript (M_h, σ) from the notation bc in (7.1.5.1).

We warn also the reader that the map (7.1.5.1) does not preserve the various choices of Haar measures. In fact, the pullback of the measure on $\mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*$ is $2^{\dim(\mathfrak{a}_M^L)}$ times the measure on $\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$.

For any $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}$, we set

$$J_{\Pi}^{h}(\lambda, f) = \sum_{(M_{h}, \sigma)} J_{P_{h}, \sigma}^{h}(bc(\lambda), f), \tag{7.1.5.2}$$

where the sum is over a set of representatives (M_h, σ) of classes in \mathfrak{X}_{Π}^h and $J_{P_h, \sigma}^h(bc(\lambda), f) =$ $J_{P_h,\sigma}^{U_h}(bc(\lambda),f)$ is the distribution introduced in §3.5.5. By Proposition 3.5.5.1 and remarks 7.1.5.1, the distribution does not depend on the choice of the representative.

The sum above is a priori absolutely convergent and the convergence is uniform on compact subset of $i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}$ (as follows from from a reinforcement of [BPCZ22, proposition 2.8.4.1] based on results of Müller; see [Mül98, corollary 0.3]). In particular, the expression $J_{\Pi}^{h}(\lambda, f)$ is holomorphic for $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}$.

7.1.6. A global relative characters identity

Theorem 7.1.6.1. Let $f \in S^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ and $f^h \in S^{\circ}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$ for every $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$. Assume that the following properties are satisfied for every $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$:

- 1. $f = (\Delta_H^{S_0,*} \Delta_{G'}^{S_0,*}) f_{S_0} \otimes f^{S_0}$ with $f_{S_0} \in \mathcal{S}(G(F_{S_0}))$ and $f^{S_0} \in \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A}^{S_0}))$. 2. $f^h = (\Delta_{U'_h}^{S_0})^2 f_{S_0}^h \otimes f^{h,S_0}$ with $f_{S_0}^h \in \mathcal{S}(U_h(F_{S_0}))$ and $f^{h,S_0} \in \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(U_h(\mathbb{A}^{S_0}))$.
- 3. The functions f_{S_0} and $f_{S_0}^h$ are transfers.
- 4. $f^{h,S_0} = BC_h^{S_0}(f^{S_0})$
- 5. The function f^{S_0} is a product of a smooth compactly supported function on the restricted product $\prod'_{v \notin S'_0 \cup V_{F,\infty}} G(F_v)$ by the characteristic function of $\prod_{v \in S'_0 \setminus S_0} G(\mathcal{O}_v)$.

Then for any $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}$, we have

$$\sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}} J_{\Pi}^{h}(\lambda, f^{h}) = |S_{\Pi}|^{-1} I_{P, \pi}(\lambda, f). \tag{7.1.6.1}$$

Remark 7.1.6.2. If Π is a discrete Arthur parameter (that is, L = M), the statement reduces to [BPCZ22, proposition 10.1.6.1]. As we observed in [BPCZ22], if the assumptions hold for the set S_0 , they also hold for any large enough finite set containing S_0 .

7.1.7. Proof of Theorem 7.1.6.1

As in [BLZZ21] and [BPCZ22], our proof is based on the global comparison of Jacquet-Rallis trace formulas and the use of multipliers to isolate some spectral contributions. However, the spectral contributions we consider here are continuous in nature, and we need further considerations.

In [BPCZ22, Theorem 3.2.4.1], we defined a distribution I on $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$: this is the 'Jacquet-Rallis trace formula' for G. For unitary groups, we have an analogous distribution $J^h = J^{U_h}$ on $\mathcal{S}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$ for each $h \in \mathcal{H}$ (see Theorem 3.2.3.1). By [CZ21, théorème 1.6.1.1], we have for functions f and f^h as in the statement

$$I(f) = \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}} J^h(f^h). \tag{7.1.7.1}$$

In the following, for each finite place outside S_0 , we fix open compact subgroups $K'_{\nu} \subset K_{\nu}$ and $K'_{h,\nu} \subset K_{h,\nu}$ of finite index. We set

$$K_1^{\infty} = \prod_{v \in S_0 \setminus V_{F,\infty}} K_v' \prod_{v \notin S_0} K_v \text{ and } K_{h,1}^{\infty} = \prod_{v \in S_0 \setminus V_{F,\infty}} K_{h,v}' \prod_{v \notin S_0} K_{h,v}.$$

We denote by $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}), K_1^{\infty}) \subset \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, resp. $\mathcal{S}(U_h(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^{\infty}) \subset \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$, the subalgebras of bi- K_1^{∞} (resp. bi- $K_{h,1}^{\infty}$) invariant functions. Since we can shrink K_1^{∞} and $K_{h,1}^{\infty}$ if necessary, it suffices to prove the theorem for functions in these subalgebras.

We denote by $\mathcal{M}^{S'_0}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, resp. $\mathcal{M}^{S'_0}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$, the algebra of S'_0 -multipliers defined in [BLZZ21, definition 3.5] relatively to the subgroup $\prod_{v \notin S'_0} K_v$, resp. $\prod_{v \notin S'_0} K_{h,v}$. Any multiplier $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{S'_0}(G(\mathbb{A}))$, resp. $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{S'_0}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$, gives rise to a linear operator $\mu*$ of the algebra $\mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}), K_1^\infty)$, resp. $\mathcal{S}(U_h(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^\infty)$. For every admissible irreducible representation ρ of $G(\mathbb{A})$, resp. of $U_h(\mathbb{A})$, there exists a complex number $\mu(\rho)$ such that $\rho(\mu*f) = \mu(\rho)\rho(f)$ for all $f \in \mathcal{S}^\circ(G(\mathbb{A}), K_1^\infty)$, resp. $f \in \mathcal{S}^\circ(U_h(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^\infty)$. Note that $\mu(\rho)$ depends only on the infinitesimal character of the archimedean component of ρ and on the components outside S'_0 . Moreover, if Q is a standard parabolic subgroup of G, resp. U_h , and if ρ is an admissible irreducible representation of the Levi component $M_Q(\mathbb{A})$, then we have for any $\lambda \in \mathfrak{a}_{Q,\mathbb{C}}^*$ and $R_\lambda = \operatorname{Ind}_Q^G(\rho_\lambda)$, resp. $\operatorname{Ind}_Q^{U_h}(\rho_\lambda)$,

$$R_{\lambda}(\mu * f) = \mu(R_{\lambda})R_{\lambda}(f),$$

where $\mu(R_{\lambda}) \in \mathbb{C}$ and the map $\lambda \mapsto \mu(R_{\lambda})$ is holomorphic.

The following two lemmas are based on [BLZZ21, theorem 3.17] and a strong multiplicity one theorem of Ramakrishnan; see [Ram18].

Lemma 7.1.7.1. Let $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ and $\lambda \in \mathfrak{ia}_{M}^{L,*}$ in general position. Then there exists a multiplier $\mu_{h} \in \mathcal{M}^{S'_{0}}(U_{h}(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

1. For all $f^h \in \mathcal{S}(U_h(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^{\infty})$, the right convolution by $\mu_h * f^h$ sends $L^2([U_h])$ into

$$\widehat{\oplus}_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^h} L_{\chi}^2([U_h]).$$

2. For $(M_h, \sigma) \in \mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^h$, we have $\mu_h(\operatorname{Ind}_{P_h}^{U_h}(\sigma_{bc(\lambda)})) = 1$.

Proof. By [GRS11], there exists at least one $h^{\flat} \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ such that the set $\mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^{h^{\flat}}$ is nonempty. We fix such a form h^{\flat} and a pair $(M_{h^{\flat}}, \sigma^{\flat})$. Let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}$ in general position. Let $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ and let $\mathfrak{X}_{\lambda}^{h}$ be the set of

cuspidal data of U_h represented by pairs (M_Q, ρ) with $Q \subset U_h$ a standard parabolic subgroup for which there exists $\lambda' \in \mathfrak{a}_{O,\mathbb{C}}^*$ such that

- (A) the Archimedean infinitesimal characters of $\operatorname{Ind}_{P,\,\flat}^{U_h\flat}(\sigma_{hc(\lambda)}^{\flat})$ and $\operatorname{Ind}_{O}^{U_h}(\rho_{\lambda'})$ are the same;
- (B) for all finite places v outside S_0' , the irreducible representation $\operatorname{Ind}_{P_{h^{\flat}}(F_v)}^{U_{h^{\flat}}(F_{v})}(\sigma_{bc(\lambda),v}^{\flat})$ is a constituent of $\operatorname{Ind}_{Q(F_{\nu})}^{U_{h}(F_{\nu})}(\rho_{\lambda',\nu}).$

By [BLZZ21, theorem 3.19], there exists a S_0' -multiplier μ_h such that

(C) For all $f^h \in \mathcal{S}(U_h(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^{\infty})$, the right convolution by $\mu_h * f^h$ sends $L^2([U_h])$ into

$$\widehat{\oplus}_{\chi \in \mathfrak{X}_{1}^{h}} L_{\chi}^{2}([U_{h}]).$$

(D)
$$\mu_h(\operatorname{Ind}_{P_{h^{\flat}}}^{U_{h^{\flat}}}(\sigma_{bc(\lambda)}^{\flat})) = 1.$$

Let $\lambda' \in \mathfrak{a}_{Q,C}^*$ and (M_Q, ρ) be a representative of an element \mathfrak{X}_{λ}^h such that conditions (A) and (B) hold. We can write the Levi factor M_Q of Q as a product $G^{\sharp} \times U_0$, where G^{\sharp} is a product of linear groups and U_0 is a product of two unitary groups. Accordingly, we write $\rho = \rho^{\sharp} \times \rho_0$. Let $Q_E = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F}(Q \times_F E)$ and let $\lambda_E' \in \mathfrak{a}_{O_E}^*$ be the base change of λ' . Observe that Π_{ν} is generic for all places ν and is the split base of the representation $\operatorname{Ind}_{P_{h^{\flat}}(F_{v})}^{U_{h^{\flat}}(F_{v})}(\sigma_{bc(\lambda),v}^{\flat})$ for finite $v \notin S_{0}'$. So the representation $\operatorname{Ind}_{P_{h^{\flat}}(F_{v})}^{U_{h^{\flat}}(F_{v})}(\sigma_{bc(\lambda),v}^{\flat})$ is also generic, and thus, $\operatorname{Ind}_{Q(F_v)}^{U_h(F_v)}(\rho_{\lambda',v})$ and $\rho_{\lambda',v}$ are also generic for finite $v \notin S_0'$. By [BLZZ21, Theorem 4.14 (1)], there exists an isobaric automorphic representation ρ_E of M_{Q_E} such that the split base change of ρ is ρ_E at almost all split places. By the strong multiplicity one theorem of Ramakrishnan (see [Ram18]), we deduce that the isobaric automorphic representations of $G(\mathbb{A})$ associated to $(P, \pi \otimes \lambda)$ and $(Q_E, \rho_E \otimes \lambda_F')$ are isomorphic. Using [JS81a, theorem 4.4] and the fact that λ is in general position, we conclude that, up to a change of representative, we have $P \subset Q_E$, the inclusion given by base change $\mathfrak{a}_Q^* \subset \mathfrak{a}_{Q_E}^*$ induces an isomorphism of \mathfrak{a}_Q^* onto $\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ which identifies λ' to $bc(\lambda)$, the representation Π_0 is the weak base change of ρ_0 and $\operatorname{Ind}_{Q_E}^{\widetilde{G}}(\rho^{\sharp} \boxtimes \Pi_0 \boxtimes \rho^{\sharp,*}) = \Pi$. Using condition (B), we deduce that $\Pi_{0,\nu}$ is also the split base change of $\rho_{0,\nu}$ for all finite places ν outside S_0' . We get that $\mathfrak{X}_{\lambda}^h \subset \mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^h$, and so (C) implies assertion 1.

Still, we have to check assertion 2. Let (M_Q, ρ) be a representative of an element in \mathfrak{X}_{Π}^h . We claim that $\operatorname{Ind}_{Q}^{U_h}(\rho)$ and $\operatorname{Ind}_{P_h^{\flat}}^{U_h^{\flat}}(\sigma_{bc(\lambda)}^{\flat})$ have the same Archimedean infinitesimal character and have the same local component for all finite places v outside S_0' . The latter condition follows directly from the definition of the set \mathfrak{X}_{Π}^{h} and the fact that the split base is injective. The former condition follows from [BLZZ21, Theorem 4.14 (4)] (applied to ρ) and the fact that the base change map is injective at the level of archimedean infinitesimal characters. Since condition 2 depends only on the components of $\operatorname{Ind}_{O}^{U_h}(\rho)$ on $V_F \setminus S_0'$, we see that (D) implies assertion 2.

Lemma 7.1.7.2. Let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}$. Then there exists a multiplier $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{S'_{0}}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

- 1. For all $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^{\infty})$, the right convolution by $\mu * f$ sends $L^2(G(F)A_G(\mathbb{A})\backslash G(\mathbb{A}))$ into $L^2_{\chi_0}([G]).$ 2. We have $\mu(\Pi_{\lambda}) = 1.$

Proof. The proof is similar to (but simpler than) that of Lemma 7.1.7.1 and is based on [BLZZ21, Theorem 1.3]).

Let λ_0 be an element of $i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ in general position. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{M}^{S_0'}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ and $\mu_h \in \mathcal{M}^{S_0'}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$ for $h \in \mathcal{H}^\circ$ satisfying assertions of Lemmas 7.1.7.1 and 7.1.7.2 for $\lambda = \lambda_0$. We may and we shall also assume that μ^h is the 'base change' of μ (see [BLZZ21, Lemma 4.12]). Let $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}), K_1^{\infty})$, and for $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$,

let $f^h \in \mathcal{S}(U_h(\mathbb{A}), K_{h,1}^{\infty})$ that satisfy the hypotheses of Theorem 7.1.6.1. Then $\mu * f$ and $\mu^h * f^h$, for $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ still satisfy the hypotheses (see [BLZZ21, Proposition 4.8]). Hence, by (7.1.7.1), we have

$$I(\mu * f) = \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}} J^{h}(\mu^{h} * f^{h}). \tag{7.1.7.2}$$

It follows from Lemma 7.1.7.2 and [BPCZ22, Proposition 3.3.3.1 and Theorem 3.3.9.1] that we have $I(\mu * f) = I_{\chi_0}(\mu * f)$. In the same way, Lemma 7.1.7.1 and Corollary 3.3.5.2 show that the right-hand side of (7.1.7.2) reduces to

$$\sum_{h\in\mathcal{H}^{\circ}}\sum_{\chi\in\mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^{h}}J_{\chi}^{h}(\mu_{h}*f^{h}).$$

By Theorems 3.5.7.1 and 4.1.8.1 and by an elementary change of variables, we get

$$2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{L})} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} I_{P,\pi}(\lambda,\mu*f) d\lambda = \sum_{h\in\mathcal{H}^{\circ}} \sum_{(M_{h},\sigma)\in\mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^{h}} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{*}} J_{P_{h},\sigma}^{h}(bc(\lambda),\mu_{h}*f^{h}) d\lambda$$

$$= 2^{-\dim(\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L})} \sum_{h\in\mathcal{H}^{\circ}} \int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}} J_{\Pi}^{h}(\lambda,\mu_{h}*f^{h}) d\lambda. \tag{7.1.7.3}$$

Let v_1, v_2 two finite places outside S_0' with distinct residual characteristics. Let $S_1 \subset V_F \setminus S_0'$ be a finite set of finite places. We assume that S_1 contains v_1 and v_2 . Let \mathcal{A}_{S_1} be the spherical algebra $\otimes_{v \in S_1} \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(G(F_v))$. Let $g \in \mathcal{A}_{S_1}$. For all $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$, let $g^h = (\otimes_{v \in S_1} BC_{h,v})(g)$ be its base change to $\otimes_{v \in S_1} \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(U_h(F_v))$. The assumptions of Theorem 7.1.6.1 still hold for the convolutions f * g and $f^h * g^h$. Note that we have for any $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$,

$$J_{\Pi}^h(\lambda,\mu_h*(f^h*g^h))=J_{\Pi}^h(\lambda,\mu_h*f^h)\hat{g}(\Pi_{\lambda,S_1}),$$

where \hat{g} is the Satake transform and $\hat{g}(\Pi_{\lambda,S_1})$ is the scalar by which g acts on $\Pi_{\lambda,S_1} = \bigotimes_{v \in S_1} \Pi_{\lambda,v}$. For all $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, we set

$$h(\lambda) = |S_\Pi|^{-1} I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, \mu * f) - \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}^\circ} J_\Pi^h(\lambda, \mu_h * f^h).$$

The equality (7.1.7.3) implies that for all $g \in A_{S_1}$, we have

$$\int_{i\mathfrak{a}_{M}^{L,*}}\hat{g}(\Pi_{\lambda,S_{1}})h(\lambda)\,d\lambda=0.$$

Let $\mathcal{T}_{S_1}: \lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*} \mapsto \Pi_{\lambda,S_1}$. Because v_1 and v_2 have distinct residual characteristics, the morphism from $i\mathfrak{a}_M^*$ to the group of unramified characters of $M(F_{v_1} \times F_{v_2})$ given by $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^* \mapsto (x \in M(F_{v_1} \times F_{v_2}) \mapsto \exp(\langle \lambda, H_P(x) \rangle)$ is injective. We deduce that the map $\mathcal{T}_{\{v_1,v_2\}}$ has finite fibers of uniformly bounded cardinality. In particular, the map \mathcal{T}_{S_1} has the same property with the same bound. By Stone-Weierstrass theorem, the set $\{\hat{g} \mid g \in \mathcal{A}_{S_1}\}$ is dense in the set of continuous fonctions on the unramified unitary dual of $\prod_{v \in S_1} G(F_v)$. The push-forward of the measure $h(\lambda) d\lambda$ by the map \mathcal{T}_{S_1} is thus zero. In this way, we get that for almost all $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$,

$$\sum_{\lambda_1 \in \mathcal{T}_{S_1}^{-1}(\Pi_{\lambda, S_1})} h(\lambda_1) = 0 \tag{7.1.7.4}$$

for all finite sets S_1 , as above. By continuity of h, this equality holds for all $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$ and in particular for $\lambda = \lambda_0$.

Let us write $\mathcal{T}_{S_1}^{-1}(\Pi_{\lambda_0,S_1})=\{\lambda_0,\lambda_1,\ldots,\lambda_j\}$, where j+1 is the cardinality of this set. Let $1\leqslant i\leqslant j$. If $\Pi_{\lambda_i}\neq\Pi_{\lambda_0}$, by the strong multiplicity one theorem of Ramakrishnan (see [Ram18]), there exists a finite place $v_i\notin S_0'\cup S_1$ such that $\Pi_{\lambda_i,v_i}\neq\Pi_{\lambda_0,v_i}$. Since we may enlarge S_1 by adding such a place v_i , we will assume without loss of generality that for any $\lambda\in\mathcal{T}_{S_1}^{-1}(\Pi_{\lambda_0,S_1})$, we have $\Pi_\lambda=\Pi_{\lambda_0}$. By [JS81a, theorem 4.4] and the fact that the cuspidal datum (M,π) is G-regular, we have even $\pi_\lambda=\pi_{\lambda_0}$, and thus, $\lambda=\lambda_0$. So (7.1.7.4) reduces to $h(\lambda_0)=0$. Because λ_0 is in general position, we may use Condition 2 of Lemmas 7.1.7.1 and 7.1.7.2: we get

$$h(\lambda_0) = |S_\Pi|^{-1} I_{P,\pi}(\lambda_0, f) - \sum_{h \in \mathcal{H}^\circ} J_\Pi^h(\lambda_0, f^h).$$

So we get (7.1.6.1) for λ in general position, and so for all $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L,*}$, since both members of (7.1.6.1) are continuous (and even analytic).

7.2. Proof of Theorem 1.2.3.1

7.2.1.

Once we have Theorem 7.1.6.1, the proof of Theorem 1.2.3.1 is very similar to the proof of [BPCZ22, theorem 1.1.5.1]. For the reader's convenience, we recall some steps. We use notations of Section 7.1. Let $\Pi = \operatorname{Ind}_P^G(\pi)$ be a H-regular Hermitian Arthur parameter of G and let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_M^{L*}$. The relative character I_{Π_λ} defined in (4.2.8.1) is built upon two linear forms – namely, $Z^{RS}(0)$ and β_η . The linear form β_η is not identically zero (as a consequence of [GK72], [Jac10, Proposition 5] and [Kem15]) and $Z^{RS}(0)$ is nonzero if and only if $L(\frac{1}{2},\Pi_\lambda) \neq 0$ (as follows from the work Jacquet, Piatetski-Shapiro and Shalika [JPSS83], [Jac04]). Since by Theorem 4.2.8.1, we have $I_{\Pi_\lambda} = I_{P,\pi}(\lambda)$, we deduce that $I_{P,\pi}(\lambda)$ is nonzero if and only if $L(\frac{1}{2},\Pi_\lambda) \neq 0$.

Let us consider $h \in \mathcal{H}$, a parabolic subgroup $P_h = M_h N_{P_h}$ of U_h and a cuspidal subrepresentation σ of M_h . Let $\mathcal{A}_{P_h,\sigma_h}(U_h) \subset \mathcal{A}_{P_h}(U_h)$ be the space of forms $\varphi \in \mathcal{A}_P(G)$ such that

$$m \in [M_P] \mapsto \exp(-\langle \rho_P, H_P(m) \rangle) \varphi(mg)$$

belongs to the space of σ for every $g \in G(\mathbb{A})$. By a variation on §3.5.5, we define for $\mu \in \mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*$ the relative character

$$J_{P_h,\sigma}^{U_h}(\mu,f) = \sum_{\varphi \in \mathcal{B}_{P_h,\sigma}} \mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(I_{P_h}(\mu,f)\varphi,\mu) \overline{\mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\varphi,\mu)},$$

where $\mathcal{B}_{P_h,\sigma}$ is a K-basis of $\mathcal{A}_{P_h,\sigma_h}(U_h)$; that is, it is the union over of $\tau \in \hat{K}_h$ of orthonormal bases $\mathcal{B}_{P_h,\sigma,\tau}$ for the Petersson inner product of the finite dimensional subspaces $\mathcal{A}_{P_h,\sigma}(U_h,\tau)$ of functions in $\mathcal{A}_{P_h,\sigma}(U_h)$ which transform under K_h according to τ .

Let us assume that Π is the weak base change of (P_h, σ) . Then we have the map $bc: a_M^{L,*} \to \mathfrak{a}_{M_h}^*$; see (7.1.5.1). It is clear that the distribution $J_{P_h,\sigma}^h(bc(\lambda))$ is nonzero if and only if the period integral $\mathcal{P}_{U_h'}(\cdot,bc(\lambda))$ induces a nonzero linear form on the space of σ . Then Theorem 1.2.3.1 reduces to the equivalence between the two assertions:

- (A) The distribution $I_{P,\pi}(\lambda)$ is nonzero.
- (B) There exist $h \in \mathcal{H}$, a parabolic subgroup $P_h = M_h N_{P_h}$ of U_h and a cuspidal subrepresentation σ of M_h such that Π is the weak base change of (P_h, σ) and $J_{P_h, \sigma}^h(bc(\lambda), f) \neq 0$.

7.2.2. Proof of $(A) \Rightarrow (B)$

Let S_0 be the finite set of §7.1.2 such that I_{Π} is not identically zero on $S^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A}))$. Then by results of [Xue19] towards the archimedean transfert and the existence of p-adic transfer of [Zha14b], we see that

there exist functions f and f^h for $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ satisfying the hypotheses of Theorem 7.1.6.1 and such that $I_{P,\pi}(\lambda, f) \neq 0$. Then (B) follows from (7.1.6.1).

7.2.3. Proof of $(B) \Rightarrow (A)$

We may choose the set S_0 so that there exist $h_0 \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$, a parabolic subgroup $P_{h_0} = M_{h_0} N_{P_{h_0}} \subset U_{h_0}$, a cuspidal subrepresentation σ_0 of $M_{h_0}(\mathbb{A})$ and a function $\xi \in \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(U_{h_0}(\mathbb{A}))$ such that

- the class of (M_{h_0}, σ_0) belongs to $\mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^{h_0}$;
- $J_{P_{h_0},\sigma_0}^{h_0}(bc(\lambda),\xi) \neq 0.$

We set $f_0^{h_0} = \xi * \xi^{\vee}$, where $\xi^{\vee}(g) = \overline{\xi(g^{-1})}$. Then (see [Zha14b, p. 993]) we have $J_{P,\sigma}^{h_0}(bc(\lambda), f_0^{h_0}) \ge 0$ for all pairs (P,σ) whose class belongs to $\mathfrak{X}_{\Pi}^{h_0}$. Moreover, $J_{P_{h_0},\sigma_0}^{h_0}(bc_{h_0}(\lambda), f_0^{h_0}) > 0$. For any $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ such that $h \ne h_0$, we set $f_0^h = 0$. Up to enlarging S_0 , we may and shall assume that the family $(f_0^h)_{h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}}$ satisfies conditions 2 and 5 of Theorem 7.1.6.1. The left-hand side of (7.1.6.1) for the family $(f_0^h)_{h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}}$ is nonzero. By the existence of transfer in [Zha14b] and the results towards archimedean transfer in [Xue19], we can find test functions $f \in \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ and $f^h \in \mathcal{S}^{\circ}(U_h(\mathbb{A}))$, for $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$, satisfying all the conditions of Theorem 7.1.6.1 and such that the left-hand side of (7.1.6.1) is nonzero. Assertion (A) is then clear.

7.3. Proof of Theorem 1.2.4.1

7.3.1.

Let $h \in \mathcal{H}$. Let $P = M_P N_P$ be a parabolic subgroup of U_h and σ be a cuspidal automorphic subrepresentation of $M_P(\mathbb{A})$ which is tempered everywhere. Then the group $\mathrm{Res}_{E/F}(P \times_F E)$ obtained by extension to E and restriction of scalars to F can be identified to a parabolic subgroup $Q = M_Q N_Q$ of G. Then by [Mok15], [KMSW], σ admits a strong base-change π to M_Q ; namely, for every place v of F, the local base-change of σ_v (defined in [Mok15] and [KMSW]) coincides with π_v . Let $\Pi = \mathrm{Ind}_Q^G(\pi)$. It follows that π and Π are also tempered everywhere. We assume that Π is a H-regular hermitian Arthur parameter. As in §1.1.3, we shall not distinguish in the notation the spaces \mathfrak{a}_Π^* and \mathfrak{a}_P^* . Let $\lambda \in i\mathfrak{a}_\Pi^*$.

We choose a finite set of places S_0 as in §7.1.2 such that $h \in \mathcal{H}^{\circ}$ and σ as well as the additive character ψ' used to normalize local Haar measures in §2.1.8 are unramified outside of S_0 .

We have a decomposition $\sigma = \bigotimes_{v \in V_F} \sigma_v$. Let $\Sigma_{\lambda,v}$ be the full induced representation $\operatorname{Ind}_{P(F_v)}^{U_h(F_v)}(\sigma_v \otimes \lambda)$. Let $v \in V_F$. We define a distribution $J_{\Sigma_{\lambda,v}}$ on $S(U_h(F_v))$ by

$$J_{\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}}(f_{\nu}^{h}) = \int_{U_{h}'(F_{\nu})} \operatorname{Trace}(\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}(h_{\nu})\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}(f_{\nu}^{h}))dh_{\nu}, \quad f_{\nu}^{h} \in \mathcal{S}(U_{h}(F_{\nu})),$$

where

$$\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}(f_{\nu}^{h}) = \int_{U_{h}(F_{\nu})} f_{\nu}^{h}(g_{\nu}) \Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}(g_{\nu}) dg_{\nu}.$$

By [Har14], since the representations $\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}$ are all tempered, the expression defining $J_{\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}}$ is absolutely convergent, and for every $\nu \notin S_0$, we have

$$J_{\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}}(\mathbf{1}_{U_h(\mathcal{O}_{\nu})}) = \Delta_{U_h',\nu}^{-2} \frac{L\left(\frac{1}{2},\Pi_{\lambda,\nu}\right)}{L(1,\Pi_{\lambda,\nu},\mathrm{As'})}.$$

If there exists a place $v \in S_0$ such that σ_v does not support any nonzero continuous $U_h'(F_v)$ -invariant functional, both sides of (1.2.4.1) in Theorem 1.2.4.1 are clearly automatically zero. So we shall assume that for every $v \in S_0$, the local representation σ_v supports a nonzero continuous

 $U_h'(F_v)$ -invariant functional. Then the semi-local distribution $\prod_{v \in S_0} J_{\Sigma_{\lambda,v}}(f_v^h)$ does not vanish identically by [BP20, theorem 8.2.1]. According to our choice of local measure, Theorem 1.2.4.1 is then equivalent to the following assertion: for all factorizable test function $f^h \in \mathcal{S}(U_{h_0}(\mathbb{A}))$ of the form $f^h = (\Delta_{U_1'}^{S_0})^2 \prod_{v \in S_0} f_v^h \times \prod_{v \notin S_0} \mathbf{1}_{U_h(\mathcal{O}_v)}$, we have

$$J_{P,\sigma}^{h}(\lambda, f^{h}) = |S_{\Pi}|^{-1} \frac{L^{S_{0}}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \Pi_{\lambda}\right)}{L^{S_{0}}(1, \Pi_{\lambda}, \operatorname{As}')} \prod_{v \in S_{0}} J_{\Sigma_{\lambda, v}}(f_{v}^{h}). \tag{7.3.1.1}$$

7.3.2.

By Theorem 4.2.8.1 and the definition of $I_{\Pi_{\lambda}}$ there, for every factorizable test function $f \in \mathcal{S}(G(\mathbb{A}))$ of the form $f = \Delta_H^{S_0,*} \Delta_{G'}^{S_0,*} \prod_{\nu \in S_0} f_{\nu} \times \prod_{\nu \notin S_0} \mathbf{1}_{G(\mathcal{O}_{\nu})}$, we have

$$I_{Q,\pi}(\lambda, f) = \frac{L^{S_0}\left(\frac{1}{2}, \Pi_{\lambda}\right)}{L^{S_0,*}(1, \Pi_{\lambda}, As')} \prod_{v \in S_0} I_{\Pi_{\lambda,v}}(f_v), \tag{7.3.2.1}$$

where for for every place $v \in S_0$, we introduce the local relative character $I_{\Pi_{\lambda,v}}$ defined by

$$I_{\Pi_{\lambda,\nu}}(f_{\nu}) = \sum_{W_{\nu}} \frac{\alpha_{\nu}(\Pi_{\nu}(f_{\nu})W_{\nu})\overline{\beta_{\eta,\nu}(W_{\nu})}}{\langle W_{\nu}, W_{\nu}\rangle_{\text{Whitt},\nu}}, \ f_{\nu} \in \mathcal{S}(G(F_{\nu})).$$

Here, the sum runs over a K_{ν} -basis of the Whittaker model $\mathcal{W}(\Pi_{\lambda,\nu},\psi_{N,\nu})$, and $\lambda_{\nu},\beta_{\eta,\nu},\langle.,.\rangle_{\text{Whitt},\nu}$ are given by

$$\begin{split} &\alpha_{v}(W_{v}) = \int_{N_{H}(F_{v})\backslash H(F_{v})} W_{v}(h_{v})dh_{v} \\ &\beta_{\eta,v}(W_{v}) = \int_{N'(F_{v})\backslash \mathcal{P}'(F_{v})} W_{v}(p_{v})\eta_{G',v}(p_{v})dp_{v}, \\ &\langle W_{v}, W_{v}\rangle_{\text{Whitt},v} = \int_{N(F_{v})\backslash \mathcal{P}(F_{v})} |W_{v}(p_{v})|^{2}dp_{v}. \end{split}$$

The above expressions, especially $\alpha_{\nu}(W_{\nu})$, are all absolutely convergent due to the fact that $\Pi_{\lambda,\nu}$ is tempered (see [JPSS83, Proposition 8.4]). The above definition implicitly depends on the choice of an additive character ψ of \mathbb{A}_E/E trivial on \mathbb{A} which, up to enlarging S_0 , we may assume to be unramified outside of S_0 .

7.3.3.

Let f^h be a test function as in (7.3.1.1). Since both sides of (7.3.1.1) are continuous functionals in f_v^h for $v \in S_0$, we may assume that the function f_v^h admits a transfer $f_v \in \mathcal{S}(G(F_v))$ for every $v \in S_0$ using results of [Xue19] and [Zha14b]. Moreover, by the results of those references, we may also assume that for every $h' \in \mathcal{H}^\circ$ with $h' \neq h$, the zero function on $U_{h'}(F_{S_0})$ is a transfer of $f_{S_0} = \prod_{v \in S_0} f_v$. We set $f = \Delta_H^{S_0,*} \Delta_{G'}^{S_0,*} f_{S_0} \times \prod_{v \notin S_0} \mathbf{1}_{G(\mathcal{O}_v)}$. Then, setting $f^{h'} = 0$ for every $h' \in \mathcal{H}^\circ \setminus \{h\}$, the functions f and $(f^{h'})_{h' \in \mathcal{H}^\circ}$ satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 7.1.6.1. Therefore, we have

$$J_{\Pi}^{h}(\lambda, f^{h}) = |S_{\Pi}|^{-1} I_{Q,\pi}(\lambda, f). \tag{7.3.3.1}$$

7.3.4.

By the local Gan-Gross-Prasad Conjecture [BP20], the classification of cuspidal automorphic representations of U_h in terms of local L-packets [Mok15], [KMSW], all the terms in the definition of $J_{\Pi}^h(\lambda, f^h)$

(see (7.1.5.2)) vanish except possibly $J_{P,\sigma}^h(\lambda, f^h)$. So (7.3.3.1) reduces to

$$J_{P,\sigma}^{h}(\lambda, f^{h}) = |S_{\Pi}|^{-1} I_{Q,\pi}(\lambda, f). \tag{7.3.4.1}$$

By [BP21, Theorem 5.4.1] and since Π_{ν} is the local base-change of σ_{ν} , there are explicit constants $\kappa_{\nu} \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ for $\nu \in S_0$ satisfying $\prod_{\nu \in S_0} \kappa_{\nu} = 1$ and such that

$$I_{\Pi_{\lambda,\nu}}(f_{\nu}) = \kappa_{\nu} J_{\Sigma_{\lambda,\nu}}(f_{\nu}^{h}) \tag{7.3.4.2}$$

for every $v \in S_0$. Now (7.3.1.1) results from the combination of (7.3.4.1), the factorization (7.3.2.1) and the local comparison (7.3.4.2).

8. Application to the Gan-Gross-Prasad and Ichino-Ikeda conjectures for Bessel periods

8.1. Groups

8.1.1. Notations

They are as in Sections 2, 3 and 4. In particular, E/F is a quadratic extension of number fields. For every place v of F, we set $E_v = F_v \otimes_F E$ and we let \mathcal{O}_{E_v} be the 'ring of integers' in the quadratic étale extension E_v of F_v . We denote by $\mathbb{A}_E = \prod_v' E_v$ the ring of adeles of E. We fix a nontrivial character $\psi : \mathbb{A}_E/E \to \mathbb{C}^\times$ that is trivial on \mathbb{A} . We also set (see §2.1.7)

$$||x||_G = \inf_{\gamma \in G(F)} ||\gamma x||,$$

$$\sigma(x) = 1 + \log||x||, \text{ for } x \in G(\mathbb{A}).$$

If V is a finite dimensional vector space over F, we also fix a height $\|.\|_{V_{\mathbb{A}}}: V_{\mathbb{A}} = V \otimes_F \mathbb{A} \to \mathbb{R}_{\geqslant 1}$ as in [BPCZ22, §2.4.2], and for every place v of F, we denote by $\|.\|_{V_v}$ the restriction of $\|.\|_{V_{\mathbb{A}}}$ to $V_v := V \otimes_F F_v$. We will also write $\mathcal{S}(V_v)$ for the usual Schwartz-Bruhat space on the vector space V_v (i.e., the usual Schwartz space if v is Archimedean or the space of compactly supported locally constant functions when v is non-Archimedean).

Recall also, that for every integer $n \ge 0$, \mathcal{H}_n stands for the set of isomorphism classes of Hermitian forms of rank n for the extension E/F. For each $n \in \mathcal{H}_n$, we denote by U(n) the corresponding unitary group. We also fix, as in 3.1, some Hermitian form of rank one $n \in \mathcal{H}_1$.

8.1.2. Linear groups

For every $k \ge 0$, we set $G_k = \operatorname{Res}_{E/F} \operatorname{GL}_{k,E}$ equipped with the pair (B_k, T_k) as in §4.1.1. Let $N_k \subset B_k$ be the unipotent radical of B_k . We define two generic characters $\psi_k, \psi_{-k} : [N_k] \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ by

$$\psi_k(u) = \psi\left(\sum_{i=1}^{k-1} u_{i,i+1}\right).$$

$$\psi_{-k}(u) = \psi\left(-\sum_{i=1}^{k-1} u_{i,i+1}\right), \quad u \in [N_k].$$

We also let $P_k \subset G_k$ be the *mirabolic* subgroup consisting of matrices with last row (0, ..., 0, 1) and $K_k = \prod_v K_{k,v}$ be the standard maximal compact subgroup of $G_k(\mathbb{A})$.

8.1.3. Unitary groups

We define the Hermitian form $h_s \in \mathcal{H}_2$ by $h_s = h_0 \oplus -h_0$. We also fix a basis (x, y) of E^2 consisting of isotropic vectors for h_s (i.e. $h_s(x, x) = h_s(y, y) = 0$) such that $h_s(x, y) = 1$, and we set X = Ex, Y = Ey.

We fix once and for all two positive integers $n \ge m$ of the same parity. Thus, n = m + 2r for some $r \ge 0$. Let $h_m \in \mathcal{H}_m$. We set $h_{m+1} = h_m \oplus h_0$, $h_n = h_s^{\oplus r} \oplus h_m$, $h_{n+1} = h_n \oplus h_0 = h_s^{\oplus r} \oplus h_{m+1}$ and

$$U_m = U(h_m), \ U_{m+1} = U(h_{m+1}), \ U_n = U(h_n), \ U_{n+1} = U(h_{n+1}).$$

Note that we have natural inclusions $U_m \hookrightarrow U_{m+1} \hookrightarrow U_n \hookrightarrow U_{n+1}$. We also define the following products:

$$G = U_m \times U_{n+1}, \quad U = U_n \times U_{n+1}, \quad \tilde{U} = U_m \times U_{m+1}.$$
 (8.1.3.1)

For every $0 \le i \le r$, we set

$$x_i = (\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{2i-2}, x, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{1+m+2r-2i}), \ y_i = (\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{2i-2}, y, \underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{1+m+2r-2i}), \ v_0 = (\underbrace{0, \dots, 0}_{2r+m}, 1) \in E^{n+1},$$

and we define the subvector spaces $X_i = \langle x_1, \dots, x_i \rangle$ and $Y_i = \langle y_1, \dots, y_i \rangle$ of E^{n+1} spanned by (x_1, \dots, x_i) and (y_1, \dots, y_i) , respectively. Then, $0 = X_0 \subseteq X_1 \dots \subseteq X_r$ is a flag of h_{n+1} -isotropic subspaces, and we let $P \subset U_{n+1}$ be the parabolic subgroup stabilizing it. Let N be the unipotent radical of P. We define a character $\psi_N : [N] \to \mathbb{C}^\times$ by

$$\psi_N(u) = \psi\left(\sum_{i=1}^{r-1} h_{n+1}(ux_{i+1}, y_i) + h_{n+1}(uv_0, y_r)\right), \quad u \in [N].$$

The subgroup $U_m \subset U_{n+1}$ normalizes N, and ψ_N is invariant by $U_m(\mathbb{A})$ -conjugation. We define the following three subgroups of the respective groups in (8.1.3.1):

$$\mathcal{B} = U_m \ltimes N, \quad U' = U_n, \quad , \widetilde{U}' = U_m, \tag{8.1.3.2}$$

where the embedding $\mathcal{B} \subset \mathcal{G}$ is the product of the inclusion $\mathcal{B} \subset U_{n+1}$ and the natural projection $\mathcal{B} \to U_m$, whereas the embeddings $U' \subset U$, $\widetilde{U}' \subset \widetilde{U}$ are the diagonal ones. We also let $\psi_{\mathcal{B}} : [\mathcal{B}] \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ be the character that coincides with ψ_N on [N] and is trivial on $[U_m]$.

We will also need some auxiliary parabolic subgroups. First, we let $P' = P \cap U_n$ be the stabilizer of the flag $X_0 \subseteq \ldots \subseteq X_r$ in U_n . We also let $Q_{n+1} \subset U_{n+1}$ (resp. $Q_n \subset U_n$) be the parabolic subgroup stabilizing the h_{n+1} -isotropic (resp. h_n -isotropic) subspace X_r and we denote by V_{n+1} (resp. V_n) its unipotent radical.

Using the basis (x_1, \ldots, x_r) of X_r , we will identify G_r as the subgroup of elements in both U_n and U_{n+1} that stabilize the two isotropic subspaces X_r , Y_r and act trivially on the orthogonal complement $(X_r \oplus Y_r)^{\perp}$. We then have a semi-direct decomposition

$$N = N_r \ltimes V_{n+1}$$
.

We also let $L_n \subset Q_n$ be the Levi factor of Q_n stabilizing Y_r . We have

$$L_n = R_{E/F}GL(X_r) \times U(h_m) = G_r \times U_m. \tag{8.1.3.3}$$

We will also use the natural identification $a_{Q_n}^* \simeq a_{G_r}^* \simeq \mathbb{C}$ sending $s \in \mathbb{C}$ to the unramified character $(g_r,h) \in L_n(\mathbb{A}) \mapsto |\det(g_r)|_{\mathbb{A}_E}^s$. Similarly, for any representation τ of $L_n(\mathbb{A})$, we will denote by τ_s the twist of τ by this character. Also, once we have fixed suitable maximal compact subgroups below giving rise to a Harish-Chandra map $H_{Q_n}: U_n(\mathbb{A}) \to a_{Q_n}$, for each $\phi_n \in I_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\tau)$ and $s \in \mathbb{C}$, we will denote by $\phi_{n,s} \in I_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\tau_s)$ the section given by $g \mapsto \exp(s\langle \det, H_{Q_n}(g) \rangle)\phi_n(g)$. This applies in particular to

 $\phi_n \in \mathcal{A}_{Q_n}(U_n)$, and we will write $E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, s)$ for the Eisenstein series

$$E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(g,\phi_n,s) := \sum_{\gamma \in Q_n(F) \backslash U_n(F)} \phi_{n,s}(\gamma g),$$

which converges absolutely when $\Re(s)$ is large enough.

We also set $Q = Q_n \times U_{n+1}$ (a maximal parabolic subgroup of U) and

$$L = L_n \times U_{n+1} = G_r \times \mathcal{G}$$

(a Levi factor of Q). We define the following subgroup of L:

$$\mathcal{B}^L = N_r \times \mathcal{B}$$

as well as the character $\psi^L_{\mathcal{B}} = \psi_{-r} \boxtimes \psi_{\mathcal{B}}$ of $[\mathcal{B}^L]$. We also set

$$\mathcal{B}' = U' \cap \mathcal{B} = (N_r \times U_m) \ltimes V_n.$$

We fix a finite set S of places of F containing the Archimedean places as well a the places dividing 2 and such that the character ψ and the Hermitian form h_m are both unramified outside S (i.e., there exists a lattice $\Lambda_m \subset E^m$ such that $\Lambda_{m,v} := \Lambda_m \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_E} \mathcal{O}_{E_v}$ is self-dual with respect to h_m for every $v \notin S$). Then, the same holds for the lattices $\Lambda_{m+1} = \Lambda_m \oplus \mathcal{O}_E$, $\Lambda_n = \mathcal{O}_E^{\oplus 2r} \oplus \Lambda_m$ and $\Lambda_{n+1} = \Lambda_n \oplus \mathcal{O}_E$ with respect to the Hermitian forms h_{m+1} , h_n and h_{n+1} , respectively.

For $\ell \in \{m, m+1, n, n+1\}$, we fix a maximal compact subgroup $K_{\ell}^U = \prod_{\nu} K_{\ell, \nu}^U \subset U_{\ell}(\mathbb{A})$ such that for every $\nu \notin S$, $K_{\ell, \nu}^U$ is the stabilizer of the lattice $\Lambda_{\ell} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_E} \mathcal{O}_{E_{\nu}}$.

8.2. Measures

8.2.1.

For every linear algebraic group \mathbb{G} defined over F, we have equipped $\mathbb{G}(\mathbb{A})$ with its (left) Tamagawa measure dg; see §2.1.8. Also, for each $\mathbb{G} \in \{U_m, U_n, U_{n+1}, U_{n+2}, G_r, V_n\}$, we fix a factorization $dg = \prod_{\nu} dg_{\nu}$ into local Haar measures giving $\mathbb{G}(\mathcal{O}_{\nu})$ measure one for almost all ν . In the case where $\mathbb{G} = N_k$, it will be convenient to fix more precisely the local measures as follows: for every place ν of F, let $d_{\psi_{\nu}}x_{\nu}$ be the Haar measure on E_{ν} that is self-dual with respect to ψ_{ν} . Then we equip $N_k(F_{\nu})$ with the product measure

$$du_v = \prod_{1 \leq i < j \leq k} d_{\psi_v} u_{v,i,j}.$$

It is well known, and easy to check, that $du = \prod_{v} du_{v}$ is indeed the global Tamagawa measure on $N_{k}(\mathbb{A})$ (i.e., it gives $[N_{k}]$ volume one).

Similarly, for every ν , there is another natural measure on $G_k(F_\nu) = GL_k(E_\nu)$ defined by

$$d_{\psi_{v}}g_{v} = \frac{\prod_{1 \leq i, j \leq k} d_{\psi_{v}}g_{v,i,j}}{|\det(g_{v})|_{E_{v}}^{k}}.$$

We will denote by $\nu(G_{k,\nu}) \in \mathbb{R}_{>0}$ the quotient $dg_{\nu}(d_{\psi_{\nu}}g_{\nu})^{-1}$ between the Haar measure we have fixed on $G_r(F_{\nu})$ and the above one. Set

$$\Delta_{G_k}^* = \zeta_E^*(1) \prod_{i=2}^k \zeta_E(i),$$

where $\zeta_E(s)$ denotes the completed Dedekind Zeta function of E and $\zeta_E^*(1)$ its residue at s = 1. Similarly for every place v (resp. every finite set T of places), we set

$$\Delta_{G_k, v} = \prod_{i=1}^k \zeta_{E_v}(i) \quad (\text{resp. } \Delta_{G_k}^{T,*} = \zeta_E^{T,*}(1) \prod_{i=2}^k \zeta_E^{T}(i)),$$

where ζ_{E_v} denotes the local Eulerian factor¹ of ζ_E at v (resp. $\zeta_E^T(s)$ denotes the corresponding partial Dedekind zeta function and $\zeta_E^{T,*}(1)$ is its residue at s=1). Then, for every non-Archimedean v where ψ_v is unramified, we have

$$vol(K_{k,v}, d_{\psi_{v}}g_{v}) = \Delta_{G_{k},v}^{-1},$$

and the global Tamagawa measure on $G_k(\mathbb{A})$ is, by definition,

$$dg = (\Delta_{G_k}^*)^{-1} \prod_{\nu} \Delta_{G_k,\nu} d_{\psi_{\nu}} g_{\nu}.$$

In particular, it follows that if T is a sufficiently large finite set of places, we have $\nu(G_{k,\nu}) = \Delta_{G_k,\nu}$ for $\nu \notin T$ and

$$\prod_{v \in T} \nu(G_{k,v}) = (\Delta_{G_k}^{T,*})^{-1}.$$
(8.2.1.1)

8.2.2.

Finally, we record the following Fourier inversion formula: for every $f \in C_c^{\infty}(P_{k+1}(F_v))$ setting

$$W_f(g_1,g_2) = \int_{N_{k+1}(F_v)} f(g_1^{-1}u_vg_2)\psi_{k+1}(u_v)du_v, \quad g_1,g_2 \in P_{k+1}(F_v),$$

we have

$$f(p) = \int_{N_k(F_v)\backslash G_k(F_v)} W_f(\gamma, \gamma p) d_{\psi_v} \gamma$$

for every $p \in P_{k+1}(F_v)$, where $d_{\psi_v} \gamma$ denotes the quotient of the Haar measure $d_{\psi_v} g_v$ on $G_k(F_v)$ by the Haar measure $du_v = d_{\psi_v} u_v$ on $N_k(F_v)$. In particular, replacing $d_{\psi_v} \gamma$ by the quotient measure $d\gamma$ of dg_v by du_v , we obtain the following renormalized inversion formula:

$$f(p) = \nu(G_{k,\nu})^{-1} \int_{N_k(F_{\nu})\backslash G_k(F_{\nu})} W_f(\gamma, \gamma p) d\gamma.$$
 (8.2.2.1)

8.3. Global periods

8.3.1.

We define the Whittaker period on G_r as the linear form

$$\mathcal{P}_{N_r,\psi_{-r}}:\mathcal{A}([G_r])\ni\phi\mapsto\int_{[N_r]}\phi(u)\psi_{-r}(u)du.$$

(Note the minus sign.)

¹More precisely, this is really a product of two such factors when ν splits in E.

8.3.2.

Under extra assumptions ensuring absolute convergence (e.g., cuspidality), we will consider the following global Bessel period for $\phi \in \mathcal{A}([\mathcal{G}])$ (resp. $\phi \in \mathcal{A}([U])$):

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}}(\phi) = \int_{[\mathcal{B}]} \phi(s)\psi_{\mathcal{B}}(s)ds.$$

(resp.
$$\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\phi) = \int_{[U']} \phi(h) dh$$
.)

For example, it is readily seen that the period $\mathcal{P}_{U'}(\phi)$ is absolutely convergent for $\phi = \phi_n \otimes \phi_{n+1}$, where $\phi_n \in \mathcal{A}([U_n])$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \mathcal{A}_{cusp}([U_{n+1}])$.

8.3.3.

Again provided it is convergent, for $\phi \in \mathcal{A}([L])$, we define the *mixed Whittaker-Bessel period*

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L}(\phi) = \int_{[\mathcal{B}^L]} \phi(s) \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L(s) ds.$$

For example, this period is absolutely convergent when $\phi = \phi_r \otimes \phi'$ where $\phi_r \in \mathcal{A}([G_r])$ and $\phi' \in \mathcal{A}_{cusp}([\mathcal{G}])$, in which case we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L}(\phi) = \mathcal{P}_{N_r,\psi_{-r}}(\phi_r)\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}}(\phi').$$

8.4. Local Bessel periods

8.4.1

Let v be a place of F. For every connected reductive group \mathbb{G} defined over F_v , we let $\mathcal{C}^w(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ be the space of *tempered functions* on $\mathbb{G}(F_v)$ as defined in [BP20, §1.5] (where it is called the *weak Harish-Chandra Schwartz space*). Since we will need it, let us recall quickly its definition. Let $\Xi^{\mathbb{G}}$ Harish-Chandra special spherical function on $\mathbb{G}(F_v)$, which, strictly speaking, depends on the choice of a maximal compact subgroup $\mathbb{K}_v \subset \mathbb{G}(F_v)$ (such a choice has already been made for all the groups we will have to consider). For each d > 0, we let $\mathcal{C}^w_d(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ be the space of functions $f : \mathbb{G}(F_v) \to \mathbb{C}$ such that:

• If v is non-Archimedean, f is biinvariant by a compact-open subgroup and we have

$$|f(g)| \ll \Xi^{\mathbb{G}}(g)\sigma(g)^d$$
, for $g \in \mathbb{G}(F_v)$;

• If v is Archimedean, f is C^{∞} and for every $X, Y \in \mathcal{U}(\text{Lie}(\mathbb{G}(F_{v})))$,

$$|(L(X)R(Y)f)(g)| \ll_{X,Y} \Xi^{\mathbb{G}}(g)\sigma(g)^d, \text{ for } g \in \mathbb{G}(F_v).$$

When v is Archimedean, $\mathcal{C}^w_d(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ is naturally a Fréchet space, whereas if v is non-Archimedean, $\mathcal{C}^w_d(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ is a strict LF space. By definition, the space of tempered functions is $\mathcal{C}^w(\mathbb{G}(F_v)) = \bigcup_{d>0} \mathcal{C}^w_d(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$. It is equipped with the direct limit locally convex topology, and it contains $\mathcal{C}^\infty_c(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ as a dense subspace. (However, note that $\mathcal{C}^\infty_c(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ is not dense in $\mathcal{C}^w_d(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$ for any d>0.)

8.4.2.

By definition, the local period $\mathcal{P}_{U',v}$ is the linear form

$$\mathcal{P}_{U',v}: \mathcal{C}^w(U(F_v)) \ni f \mapsto \int_{U'(F_v)} f(h)dh,$$

the integral being absolutely convergent by [BP20, Lemma 6.5.1(i)].

Moreover, it is shown in [BP20, Proposition 7.1.1] that the linear form

$$C_c^{\infty}(\mathcal{G}(F_v)) \ni f_v \mapsto \int_{\mathcal{B}(F_v)} f_v(s) \psi_{\mathcal{B},v}(s) ds$$

extends by continuity to $C^w(\mathcal{G}(F_v))$. We denote this unique continuous extension by $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}},v}$ and call it the *local Bessel period*.

A similar argument shows that the linear forms

$$C_c^{\infty}(G_r(F_v)) \ni f_v \mapsto \int_{N_r(F_v)} f_v(u) \psi_{-r,v}(u) du,$$

$$C_c^{\infty}(L(F_v)) \ni f_v \mapsto \int_{\mathcal{B}^L(F_v)} f_v(s) \psi_{\mathcal{B},v}^L(s) ds$$

extend by continuity to $C^w(G_r(F_v))$ and $C^w(L(F_v))$, respectively. We denote these unique continuous extensions by $\mathcal{P}_{N_r,\psi_{-r},v}$, $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L,v}$ and call them the local *Whittaker period* and *Whittaker-Bessel period*, respectively.

8.4.3.

Let $(\mathbb{G}, \mathbb{H}) \in \{(U, U'), (\mathcal{G}, (\mathcal{B}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}})), (L, (\mathcal{B}^L, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L)), (G_r, (N_r, \psi_{-r}))\}$. Then, for any tempered irreducible representation σ_v of $\mathbb{G}(F_v)$ equipped with an invariant inner product $(\cdot, \cdot)_v$ and vectors $\phi_v, \phi_v' \in \sigma_v$, the matrix coefficient

$$f_{\phi_v,\phi_v'}:g\in\mathbb{G}(F_v)\mapsto (\sigma_v(g)\phi_v,\phi_v')_v$$

belongs to $\mathcal{C}^w(\mathbb{G}(F_v))$. We set

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{H},v}(\phi_v,\phi_v') := \mathcal{P}_{\mathbb{H},v}(f_{\phi_v,\phi_v'}).$$

8.5. Relation between global periods

8.5.1.

Proposition 8.5.1.1. Let $\phi_n \in \mathcal{A}_{Q_n}(U_n)$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \mathcal{A}_{cusp}(U_{n+1})$. Then, there exists c > 0 such that for $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>c}$, we have the identity

$$\mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, s) \otimes \phi_{n+1}) = \int_{\mathcal{B}'(\mathbb{A}) \setminus U'(\mathbb{A})} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L} \left(R(h)(\phi_{n,s} \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \right) dh,$$

where the right expression is absolutely convergent.

Proof. For $\Re(s)$ sufficiently large, we have

$$E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(h,\phi_n,s) = \sum_{\gamma \in Q_n(F) \setminus U_n(F)} \phi_{n,s}(\gamma h), \quad h \in [U_n],$$

so that (the resulting expression being absolutely convergent by cuspidality of ϕ_{n+1})

$$\mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, s) \otimes \phi_{n+1}) = \int_{[U_n]} \sum_{\gamma \in Q_n(F) \setminus U_n(F)} \phi_{n,s}(\gamma h) \phi_{n+1}(h) dh$$

$$= \int_{Q_n(F) \setminus U_n(\mathbb{A})} \phi_{n,s}(h) \phi_{n+1}(h) dh$$

$$= \int_{L_n(F) \setminus V_n(\mathbb{A}) \setminus U_n(\mathbb{A})} \phi_{n,s}(h) \phi_{n+1,V_n}(h) dh,$$
(8.5.1.1)

where

$$\phi_{n+1,V_n}(h) := \int_{[V_n]} \phi_{n+1}(vh) dv.$$

We claim that we have a Fourier expansion

$$\phi_{n+1,V_n}(h) = \sum_{\delta \in N_r(F) \setminus G_r(F)} \phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(\delta h)$$
 (8.5.1.2)

for every $h \in U_{n+1}(\mathbb{A})$ where we have set

$$\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(h) := \int_{[N_{r+1}]} \phi_{n+1,V_n}(uh)\psi_{r+1}(u)du = \int_{[N]} \phi_{n+1}(uh)\psi_N(u)du.$$

Indeed, the subgroup G_rN of U_{n+1} contains V_n as a normal subgroup, and the quotient G_rN/V_n can be identified with the mirabolic subgroup P_{r+1} of G_{r+1} via restriction to the subspace $\langle x_1,\ldots,x_r,x_{r+1}\rangle$, where we have set $x_{r+1}=v_0$. It readily follows from the cuspidality of ϕ_{n+1} that for any $h\in U_{n+1}(\mathbb{A})$, the function $p\in [P_{r+1}]\mapsto \phi_{n+1,V_n}(ph)$ is cuspidal in the sense of [Cog08, §1.1] and therefore by *loc. cit.* that we have the Fourier expansion (8.5.1.2).

Replacing ϕ_{n+1,V_n} by its Fourier expansion (8.5.1.2) in (8.5.1.1), we formally obtain (remembering the decomposition (8.1.3.3) for L_n)

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n,s)\otimes\phi_{n+1}) &= \int_{N_r(F)U_m(F)V_n(\mathbb{A})\setminus U_n(\mathbb{A})} \phi_{n,s}(h)\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(h)dh \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{B}'(\mathbb{A})\setminus U'(\mathbb{A})} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L}\left(R(h)(\phi_{n,s}\otimes\phi_{n+1})\right)dh. \end{split}$$

To justify this formal computation, it remains to check that the integral

$$\int_{N_r(F)U_m(F)V_n(\mathbb{A})\setminus U_n(\mathbb{A})} \left|\phi_{n,s}(h)\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(h)\right| dh$$

converges for $\Re(s)$ sufficiently large. This can be rewritten as

$$\int_{P'(\mathbb{A})\setminus U'(\mathbb{A})} \int_{[U_m]\times T_r(\mathbb{A})\times [N_r]} \left|\phi_{n,s}(uagh)\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(agh)\right| \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{-1} \delta_{B_r}(a)^{-1} dudadgdh.$$

Thus, as $P'(\mathbb{A})\setminus U'(\mathbb{A})$ is compact, it suffices to check the convergence of

$$\int_{[U_m]\times T_r(\mathbb{A})\times[N_r]} \left|\phi_{n,s}(uag)\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(ag)\right| \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{-1}\delta_{B_r}(a)^{-1}dudadg = \int_{[U_m]\times T_r(\mathbb{A})\times[N_r]} \left|\phi_n(uag)\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(ag)\right| \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{-1}\delta_{B_r}(a)^{-1} |\det a|_{\mathbb{A}_E}^s dudadg.$$

Let us embed $T_r(\mathbb{A})$ into \mathbb{A}_E^r in the natural way. Then, by [BPCZ22, Lemma 2.6.1.1] and since ϕ_{n+1} is cuspidal, for every R > 0, we have

$$\left|\phi_{n+1,N,\psi_N}(ag)\right| \ll_R \|a\|_{A_E^r}^{-R} \|g\|_{U_m}^{-R}, \quad (a,g) \in T_r(\mathbb{A}) \times [U_m].$$
 (8.5.1.3)

Moreover, since ϕ_n is of moderate growth, we can find D > 0 such that

$$|\phi_n(uag)| \ll ||a||^D ||g||_{U_m}^D, \quad (u, a, g) \in [N_r] \times T_r(\mathbb{A}) \times [U_m].$$
 (8.5.1.4)

Combining (8.5.1.3) with (8.5.1.4), we are eventually reduced to the following readily checked property: for every s large enough, there exists R > 0 such that the integral

$$\int_{T_r(\mathbb{A})} ||a||^D ||a||_{\mathbb{A}_E^r}^{-R} \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{-1} \delta_{B_r}(a)^{-1} |\det a|_{\mathbb{A}_E}^s da$$

converges.

8.6. Relations between local periods

8.6.1.

Let v be a place of F and let τ , σ_m , σ_{n+1} be irreducible representations of $G_r(F_v)$, $U_m(F_v)$ and $U_{n+1}(F_v)$, respectively. We set $\sigma = \sigma_m \boxtimes \sigma_{n+1}$ (an irreducible representation of $\mathcal{G}(F_v) = U_m(F_v) \times U_{n+1}(F_v)$). Let

$$\mathcal{L} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}^L(F_{\mathcal{V}})}(\tau \boxtimes \sigma, \psi^L_{\mathcal{B}, \mathcal{V}}).$$

By multiplicity one results [ARS10], [GGP12, Corollary 15.3], [JSZ10], \mathcal{L} factors as $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^W \otimes \mathcal{L}^B$,

where $\mathcal{L}^W \in \operatorname{Hom}_{N_r(F_v)}(\tau, \psi_{-r,v})$ and $\mathcal{L}^B \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}(F_v)}(\sigma, \psi_{\mathcal{B},v})$. For every $s \in \mathbb{C}$, we set $\tau_s = \tau |\det|_{E_v}^s$ and we denote by $I_{Q_n(F_v)}^{U_n(F_v)}(\tau_s \boxtimes \sigma_m)$ the normalized parabolic induction of $\tau_s \boxtimes \sigma_m$ to $U_n(F_v)$.

Proposition 8.6.1.1. There exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the functional

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}:\phi_{n,s}\otimes\phi_{n+1}\in I_{\mathcal{Q}_{n}(F_{v})}^{U_{n}(F_{v})}(\tau_{s}\boxtimes\sigma_{m})\otimes\sigma_{n+1}\mapsto\int_{\mathcal{B}'(F_{v})\setminus U'(F_{v})}\mathcal{L}(\phi_{n,s}(h)\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(h)\phi_{n+1})dh$$

converges absolutely for $s \in \mathcal{H}_{>c}$. If, moreover, both σ and τ are tempered, we may take c = -1/2. Furthermore, for s with sufficiently large real part, the following assertions are equivalent:

- 1. There exist $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$, $\phi_{m} \in \sigma_{m}$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ such that $\mathcal{L}(\phi_{\tau} \otimes \phi_{m} \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \neq 0$; 2. There exist $\phi_{n,s} \in I_{Q_{n}(F_{v})}^{U_{n}(F_{v})}(\tau_{s} \boxtimes \sigma_{m})$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ such that $\mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}(\phi_{n,s} \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \neq 0$.

Proof. Since $P' = T_r \mathcal{B}'$ is a parabolic subgroup of U', it suffices to check the convergence of the integral

$$\int_{T_r(F_v)} \mathcal{L}(\phi_{n,s}(a) \otimes \sigma_{n+1,v}(a)\phi_{n+1})\delta_{P'}(a)^{-1}da =$$

$$\int_{T_r(F_v)} \mathcal{L}((\tau(a) \otimes \sigma(a))\phi_{n,s}(1) \otimes \phi_{n+1})|\det a|_{E_v}^s \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{1/2}\delta_{P'}(a)^{-1}da$$

for $\Re(s) \gg 0$.

Lemma 8.6.1.2. There exists D > 0 such that for every $\phi \in \tau \boxtimes \sigma$ and R > 0, we have

$$|\mathcal{L}((\tau(a) \otimes \sigma(a))\phi)| \ll_R ||a||_{E_v}^{-R} ||a||^D$$
, for $a \in T_r(F_v)$. (8.6.1.1)

If, moreover, σ *and* τ *are tempered, for every* $\phi \in \tau \boxtimes \sigma$ *and* R > 0*, we have*

$$|\mathcal{L}((\tau(a)\otimes\sigma(a))\phi)| \ll_R ||a||_{E_v^r}^{-R}\Xi^{G_{r,v}}(a)\Xi^{U_{n+1,v}}(a), \text{ for } a\in T_r(F_v). \tag{8.6.1.2}$$

Proof. It suffices to prove the lemma when ϕ is a pure tensor (i.e., it is of the form $\phi = \phi_{\tau} \otimes \phi_m \otimes \phi_{n+1}$, where $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$, $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$). Indeed, in the case where v is non-Archimedean, every vector in $\tau \boxtimes \sigma$ is a sum of pure tensors, whereas if v is Archimedean, the claimed inequalities would automatically extend from the algebraic tensor product to the completed tensor product by the Banach-Steinhaus theorem (see, for example, [Trè67, Theorem 34.1]).

Using the equality $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^W \otimes \mathcal{L}^B$, we are therefore reduced to show the existence of D > 0 such that for every R > 0 (resp. that when τ , σ are tempered for every R > 0), we have

$$|\mathcal{L}^{W}(\tau(a)\phi_{\tau})| \ll ||a||^{D} \text{ (resp. } |\mathcal{L}^{W}(\tau(a)\phi_{\tau})| \ll \Xi^{G_{r,\nu}}(a) \text{)}$$
 (8.6.1.3)

and

$$\left| \mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m} \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1}) \right| \ll_{R} \|a\|_{E_{v}^{r}}^{-R} \|a\|^{D}$$
 (8.6.1.4)

(resp.
$$\left| \mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1}) \right| \ll_R \|a\|_{E_v^r}^{-R} \Xi^{U_{n+1,v}}(a)$$
)

for $a \in T_r(F_v)$.

The estimates (8.6.1.3) and (8.6.1.4) can be established along the same lines as Lemma B.2.1 and Lemma 7.3.1 (i) of [BP20], respectively. More precisely, in the tempered case, (8.6.1.3) is a direct application of Lemma B.2.1 of loc.cit. The same inequality for general representations (and for a suitable D) is a consequence of the continuity of \mathcal{L}^W when ν is Archimedean, whereas, for ν non-Archimedean, by the same argument as in [BP20, Lemma B.2.1], we can bound the function $a \in T_r(F_\nu) \mapsto \left| \mathcal{L}^W(\tau(a)\phi_\tau) \right|$ by a matrix coefficient of τ_ν which is in turn essentially bounded by $\|a\|^D$ for some D > 0.

As for (8.6.1.4), we first note that

$$\psi_{\mathcal{B},\nu}(e^{\mathrm{Ad}(a)X})\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1}) = \mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(ae^X)\phi_{n+1}) \tag{8.6.1.5}$$

for every $(a, X) \in T_r(F_v) \times \text{Lie}(\mathcal{B}(F_v))$. Furthermore, when v is Archimedean, differentiating the above identities yields

$$d\psi_{\mathcal{B},\nu}(\mathrm{Ad}(a)X)\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1}) = \mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\sigma_{n+1}(X)\phi_{n+1}), \tag{8.6.1.6}$$

where $d\psi_{\mathcal{B},\nu}: Lie(\mathcal{B}(F_{\nu})) \to \mathbb{C}$ denotes the differential of $\psi_{\mathcal{B},\nu}$ at 1. From (8.6.1.6), we deduce that for every linear form $\lambda: E_{\nu}^r \to F_{\nu}$, there exists $X_{\lambda} \in Lie(\mathcal{B}(F_{\nu}))$ such that

$$\lambda(a)\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1})=\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\sigma_{n+1}(X_\lambda)\phi_{n+1})$$

for every $a \in T_r(F_v)$. Similarly, when v is non-Archimedean, we deduce from (8.6.1.5) and the smoothness of ϕ_{n+1} the existence of C > 0 such that $\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1}) = 0$ unless $||a||_{E_v^r} \leq C$. Combining these two facts, we are now reduced to show the existence of D > 0 such that (resp. that for σ tempered we have)

$$\left|\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1})\right|\ll \|a\|^D \quad \text{(resp. } \left|\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1})\right|\ll \Xi^{U_{n+1,\nu}}(a))$$

for $a \in T_r(F_v)$. The case where σ is tempered is a direct application of [BP20, Lemma 7.3.1(i)], whereas the case of a general representation follows from continuity of \mathcal{L}^B in the Archimedean case or an argument similar to that of loc. cit. to show that $a \mapsto \mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(a)\phi_{n+1})$ is bounded by a matrix coefficient of σ in the non-Archimedean case.

By the lemma, and since there exists d > 0 such that (see [Wal03, Lemme II.1.1])

$$\Xi^{G_{r,v}}(a)\Xi^{U_{n+1,v}}(a) \ll \delta_{B_r}(a)^{1/2}\delta_P(a)^{1/2}\sigma(a)^d$$
, for $a \in T_r(F_v)$,

the convergence part of the proposition reduces to the two following readily checked facts:

• Let D > 0. Then, we can find c > 0 such that for every s > c and for suitable R > 0, the integral

$$\int_{T_r(F_v)} \|a\|^D \|a\|_{E_v^r}^{-R} |\det a|_{E_v}^s \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{1/2} \delta_{P'}(a)^{-1} da$$

converges;

• For every s > -1/2, we can find R > 0 such that the integral

$$\int_{T_r(F_v)} ||a||_{E_v}^{-R} |\det a|_{E_v}^s \delta_{B_r}(a)^{1/2} \delta_P(a)^{1/2} \delta_{Q_n}(a)^{1/2} \delta_{P'}(a)^{-1} \sigma(a)^d da =$$

$$\int_{T_r(F_v)} ||a||_{E_v}^{-R} |\det a|_{E_v}^{s+1/2} \sigma(a)^d da$$

converges.

The implication 2. \Rightarrow 1. is clear from the definition of $\mathcal{L}_s^{U'}$. Let us show the converse. Thus, we assume that \mathcal{L} is not identically zero, and we aim to prove that the same holds for $\mathcal{L}_s^{U'}$ for $\Re(s) \gg 0$. First, by the equality

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}(\phi_{n,s}\otimes\phi_{n+1}) &= \int_{Q_{n}(F_{v})\backslash U_{n}(F_{v})} \int_{N_{r}(F_{v})\backslash G_{r}(F_{v})} \mathcal{L}((\tau(g)\otimes\sigma(gh))\phi_{n,s}(h)\otimes\phi_{n+1}) |\text{det}(g)|_{E_{v}}^{s} \delta_{Q_{n}}(g)^{-1/2} dg dh \end{split}$$

and since the space of $I_{Q_n(F_v)}^{U_n(F_v)}(\tau_s \boxtimes \sigma_m)$ is stable by multiplication by functions in $C^{\infty}(Q_n(F_v) \setminus U_n(F_v))$, it suffices to show the existence $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$, $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ such that

$$\int_{N_r(F_{\nu})\backslash G_r(F_{\nu})} \mathcal{L}(\tau(g)\phi_{\tau}\otimes\phi_m\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(g)\phi_{n+1})|\det(g)|_{E_{\nu}}^s \delta_{Q_n}(g)^{-1/2}dg\neq 0.$$

Let $f \in \mathcal{S}(V_{n+1}(F_v))$, $g \in G_r(F_v)$, $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$. From the equivariance property of \mathcal{L}^B , we deduce

$$\mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m}\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(g)\sigma_{n+1}(f)\phi_{n+1}) = \hat{f}(g^{*}y_{r})\mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m}\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(g)\phi_{n+1}),$$

where for $y \in Y_r(F_v)$, we have set

$$\hat{f}(y) = \int_{V_{n+1}(F_{\nu})} f(u) \psi_{\nu}(h_{n+1}(uv_0, y)) du.$$

By the theory of Fourier transform, $f \mapsto \hat{f}$ induces a surjective map $\mathcal{S}(V_{n+1}(F_v)) \to \mathcal{S}(Y_r(F_v))$, whereas the map $g \mapsto g^*y_r$ induces an embedding $\mathcal{S}(P_r(F_v) \setminus G_r(F_v)) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{S}(Y_r(F_v))$ (where we recall that P_r denotes the mirabolic subgroup of G_r). Consequently, it suffices to prove the existence of $\phi_\tau \in \tau$, $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$, $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ and $f \in \mathcal{S}(P_r(F_v) \setminus G_r(F_v))$ such that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{P_r(F_v)\backslash G_r(F_v)} f(g) \int_{N_r(F_v)\backslash P_r(F_v)} \mathcal{L}^W(\tau(pg)\phi_\tau) \\ &\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(pg)\phi_{n+1}) |\text{det}(pg)|_{E_v}^s \delta_{Q_n}(pg)^{-1/2} |\text{det}(p)|_{E_v}^{-1} dpdg \neq 0 \end{split}$$

or, equivalently, the existence of $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$, $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$, $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ such that

$$\int_{N_{r-1}(F_{\nu})\backslash G_{r-1}(F_{\nu})} \mathcal{L}^{W}(\tau(h)\phi_{\tau})\mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m}\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(h)\phi_{n+1})|\det(h)|_{E_{\nu}}^{s-1}\delta_{Q_{n}}(h)^{-1/2}dh\neq0.$$

By [GK75, Theorem 6] and [Kem15, Theorem 1], for every $f \in C_c^{\infty}(N_{r-1}(F_v) \setminus G_{r-1}(F_v))$, we can find $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$ such that $\mathcal{L}^W(\tau(h)\phi_{\tau}) = f(h)$ for $h \in G_{r-1}(F_v)$, and from this, the claim follows readily from the nonvanishing of \mathcal{L}^B .

8.6.2.

Proposition 8.6.2.1. Assume that σ and τ are tempered. Then, for every ϕ_n , $\phi'_n \in I_{Q_n(F_v)}^{U_n(F_v)}(\tau \boxtimes \sigma_m)$ and ϕ_{n+1} , $\phi'_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{U',v}(\phi_{n} \otimes \phi_{n+1}, \phi'_{n} \otimes \phi'_{n+1})$$

$$= v(G_{r,v})^{-1} \int_{(\mathcal{B}'(F_{v})\setminus U'(F_{v}))^{2}} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L},v}(\phi_{n}(h_{1}) \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(h_{1})\phi_{n+1}, \phi'_{n}(h_{2}) \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(h_{2})\phi'_{n+1}) dh_{1}dh_{2}.$$
(8.6.2.1)

Proof. By definition of the local period $\mathcal{P}_{U',v}$ and of the invariant inner product on $I_{Q_n(F_v)}^{U_n(F_v)}(\tau \boxtimes \sigma_m)$, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{U_{\nu}'}(\phi_{n} \otimes \phi_{n+1}, \phi_{n}' \otimes \phi_{n+1}')$$

$$= \int_{U'(F_{\nu})} \int_{Q_{n}(F_{\nu}) \setminus U_{n}(F_{\nu})} (\phi_{n}(h_{2}h_{1}), \phi_{n}'(h_{2})) dh_{2}(\sigma_{n+1}(h_{1})\phi_{n+1}, \phi_{n+1}') dh_{1}.$$
(8.6.2.2)

The above double integral is absolutely convergent. Indeed, from [CHH88, Theorem 2] and [Wal03, Lemme II.1.6], we have

$$\int_{Q_n(F_v)\setminus U_n(F_v)} \left| (\phi_n(h_2h_1), \phi'_n(h_2)) \right| dh_2 \ll \Xi^{U_{n,v}}(h_1), \quad h_1 \in U_n(F_v),$$

and $(\sigma_{n+1}(h_1)\phi_{n+1}, \phi'_{n+1}) \ll \Xi^{U_{n+1,\nu}}(h_1)$, whereas $\Xi^{U_{\nu}} = \Xi^{U_{n,\nu}}\Xi^{U_{n+1,\nu}}$ is integrable on $U'(F_{\nu})$ ([BP20, Lemme 6.5.1(i)]).

For the next lemma, we set $Q' := Q_n$ that we consider as a subgroup of $G_r \times \mathcal{G} = L_n \times U_{n+1}$ via the product of the natural surjection $Q_n \to L_n$ and inclusion $Q_n \subset U_{n+1}$.

Lemma 8.6.2.2. For every $f \in C^w(G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v))$, we have the identity

$$\int_{Q'(F_{v})} f(q) \delta_{Q'}(q)^{1/2} d_{L}q = \nu(G_{r,v})^{-1} \int_{(N_{r}(F_{v})\backslash G_{r}(F_{v}))^{2}} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L},\nu}(L(g_{1})R(g_{2})f) \delta_{Q_{n}}(g_{1}g_{2})^{-1/2} dg_{1} dg_{2},$$
(8.6.2.3)

where both sides are absolutely convergent.

Indeed, assuming the lemma for the moment, from (8.6.2.2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} &\nu(G_{r,v})\mathcal{P}_{U'_{v}}(\phi_{n}\otimes\phi_{n+1},\phi'_{n}\otimes\phi'_{n+1})\\ &=\nu(G_{r,v})\int_{(Q_{n}(F_{v})\setminus U_{n}(F_{v}))^{2}}\int_{Q_{n}(F_{v})}(\phi_{n}(qh_{1}),\phi'_{n}(h_{2}))(\sigma_{n+1}(qh_{1})\phi_{n+1},\sigma_{n+1}(h_{2})\phi'_{n+1})d_{L}qdh_{1}dh_{2}\\ &=\int_{(Q_{n}(F_{v})\setminus U_{n}(F_{v}))^{2}}\int_{(N_{r}(F_{v})\setminus G_{r}(F_{v}))^{2}}\\ &\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi^{L}_{\mathcal{B}},v}(\phi_{n}(g_{1}h_{1})\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(g_{1}h_{1})\phi_{n+1},\phi'_{n}(g_{2}h_{2})\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(g_{2}h_{2})\phi'_{n+1})\delta_{Q_{n}}(g_{1}g_{2})^{-1}dg_{1}dg_{2}dh_{1}dh_{2}\\ &=\int_{(\mathcal{B}'(F_{v})\setminus U'(F_{v}))^{2}}\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi^{L}_{\mathcal{B}},v}(\phi_{n}(h_{1})\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(h_{1})\phi_{n+1},\phi'_{n}(h_{2})\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(h_{2})\phi'_{n+1})dh_{1}dh_{2}, \end{split}$$

where in the second equality, we have applied the lemma thanks to the fact that the function

$$(g_r, g_m, g_{n+1}) \mapsto ((\tau(g_r) \otimes \sigma_m(g_m))\phi_n(h_1), \phi'_n(h_2)) (\sigma_{n+1}(g_{n+1})\sigma_{n+1}(h_1)\phi_{n+1}, \sigma_{n+1}(h_2)\phi'_{n+1})$$

belongs to $C^w(G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v))$ and the proposition is therefore established.

Proof. (of Lemma 8.6.2.2). First, we check that both sides are convergent and define continuous functionals on $C^w(G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v))$.

For the left-hand side, we can use the identity ([Wal03, Lemme II.1.6])

$$\Xi^{U_{v}}(g) = \int_{K_{v}^{U'}} \Xi^{G_{r,v} \times \mathcal{G}_{v}}(l(kg)) \delta_{Q}(l(kg))^{1/2} dk, \quad \text{for } g \in U(F_{v}),$$

where, for $g \in U(F_v)$, l(g) denotes any element in $L(F_v) = G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v)$ such that $l(g)^{-1}g \in (V_n(F_v) \times 1)K_v^U$, which in turn implies

$$\begin{split} \int_{Q'(F_{v})} \Xi^{G_{r,v} \times \mathcal{G}_{v}}(q) \sigma(q)^{d} \delta_{Q'}(q)^{1/2} d_{L} q &= \int_{U'(F_{v})} \Xi^{G_{r,v} \times \mathcal{G}_{v}}(l(h)) \sigma(l(h))^{d} \delta_{Q}(l(h))^{1/2} dh \\ &\ll \int_{U'(F_{v})} \Xi^{U_{v}}(h) \sigma(h)^{d} dh < \infty \end{split}$$

for every d > 0.

For the right-hand side, as in the proof of Proposition 8.6.1.1, it suffices to show for every d > 0 the existence of d' > 0 as well as a continuous semi-norm v_d on $\mathcal{C}_d^w(G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v))$ such that

$$\left| \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L}, v}(L(a_{1})R(a_{2})f) \right| \ll \Xi^{G_{r,v} \times U_{n+1,v}}(a_{1})\Xi^{G_{r,v} \times U_{n+1,v}}(a_{2})\sigma(a_{1})^{d'}\sigma(a_{2})^{d'}\nu_{d}(f) \qquad (8.6.2.4)$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}_d^w(G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v))$ and $a_1, a_2 \in T_r(F_v)$. Such an inequality can be proved along the same lines as [BP20, Lemma 7.3.1(ii)].

Now that we know that both sides of (8.6.2.3) define continuous functionals on $C^w(G_r(F_v) \times \mathcal{G}(F_v))$, by density it suffices to check the claimed identity for $f = f_1 \otimes f_2 \in C_c^\infty(G_r(F_v)) \otimes C_c^\infty(\mathcal{G}(F_v))$. The subgroup $G_r\mathcal{B}$ of U_{n+1} contains $U_m \ltimes V_n$ as a normal subgroup, and we may define a function $f_3 \in C_c^\infty(G_r(F_v)\mathcal{B}(F_v)/U_m(F_v)V_n(F_v))$ by

$$f_{3}(p) = \delta_{Q_{n}}(p)^{1/2} \int_{U_{m}(F_{v}) \times V_{n}(F_{v})} f_{2}(phu) du dh, \ p \in G_{r}(F_{v}) \mathcal{B}(F_{v}).$$

Moreover, restriction to the susbpace $\langle x_1, \dots, x_{r+1} \rangle$, where we have again set $x_{r+1} = v_0$, induces an identification $G_r \mathcal{B}/U_m V_n \simeq P_{r+1}$. Seeing f_3 as a test function on $P_{r+1}(F_v)$ in this way, the identity of

the lemma becomes

$$\int_{G_r(F_v)} f_1(g) f_3(g) dg = \nu(G_{k,v})^{-1} \int_{(N_r(F_v) \setminus G_r(F_v))^2} W_{f_1}(g_1, g_2) W_{f_3}(g_1, g_2) dg_2 dg_1,$$
(8.6.2.5)

where we have set

$$W_{f_1}(g_1,g_2) = \int_{N_r(F_v)} f_1(g_1^{-1}ug_2)\psi_r(u)^{-1}du, \quad W_{f_3}(g_1,g_2) = \int_{N_{r+1}(F_v)} f_3(g_1^{-1}ug_2)\psi_{r+1}(u)du.$$

But (8.6.2.5) is now a direct consequence of the Fourier inversion formula (8.2.2.1).

8.7. Unramified computation

8.7.1.

We continue with the setting of the previous subsection assuming, moreover, that $v \notin S$ and the representations $\tau, \sigma_m, \sigma_{n+1}$ are unramified in the sense that $\tau^{K_{r,v}} \neq 0$, $\sigma^{K_{m,v}^U}_m \neq 0$ and $\sigma^{K_{n+1,v}^U}_{n+1} \neq 0$. Note that this implies $I^{U_n(F_v)}_{Q_n(F_v)}(\tau_s \boxtimes \sigma_m)^{K_{n,v}^U} \neq 0$ (i.e., $I^{U_n(F_v)}_{Q_n(F_v)}(\tau_s \boxtimes \sigma_m)$ is also unramified).

8.7.2.

Proposition 8.7.2.1. For $\Re(s)$ sufficiently large, $\phi_{n,s}^{\circ} \in I_{Q_n(F_v)}^{U_n(F_v)}(\tau_s \boxtimes \sigma_m)^{K_{n,v}^U}$ and $\phi_{n+1}^{\circ} \in \sigma_{n+1}^{K_{n+1,v}^U}$, we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}(\phi_{n,s}^{\circ}\otimes\phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(K_{n,v}^{U})}{\operatorname{vol}(K_{n,v}^{U}\cap\mathcal{B}'(F_{v}))} \frac{L\left(\frac{1}{2}+s,\tau\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L(1+s,\tau^{c}\times\sigma_{m})L(1+2s,\tau,\operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{m}})} \mathcal{L}(\phi_{n,s}^{\circ}(1)\otimes\phi_{n+1}^{\circ}). \tag{8.7.2.1}$$

Proof. Let $\phi_{\tau}^{\circ} \in \tau^{K_{r,v}}$ and $\phi_{m}^{\circ} \in \sigma_{m}^{K_{m,v}^{U}}$ be such that $\phi_{n}^{\circ}(1) = \phi_{\tau}^{\circ} \otimes \phi_{m}^{\circ}$. Recall the factorization $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{L}^{W} \otimes \mathcal{L}^{B}$. Up to scaling, we may assume, without loss of generality, that

$$\mathcal{L}^{W}(\phi_{\tau}^{\circ}) = 1 \text{ and } \mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m}^{\circ} \otimes \phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = 1.$$

Let $P' = P \cap U' \subset U'$ be the parabolic subgroup stabilizing the flag

$$0 = X_0 \subset X_1 \subset \ldots \subset X_r$$
.

Then, we have $P' = \mathcal{B}' \rtimes T_r$ and from the Iwasawa decomposition $U'(F_v) = P'(F_v)K_{n,v}^U$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}(\phi_{n,s}^{\circ} \otimes \phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = \frac{vol(K_{n,v}^{U})}{vol(K_{n,v}^{U} \cap \mathcal{B}'(F_{v}))} \sum_{t \in \Lambda_{r}} \mathcal{L}(\phi_{n,s}^{\circ}(t) \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(t)\phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) \delta_{P'}(t)^{-1}$$
(8.7.2.2)

$$=\frac{vol(K_{n,v}^U)}{vol(K_{n,v}^U\cap\mathcal{B}'(F_v))}\sum_{t\in\Lambda_r}\mathcal{L}^W(\tau(t)\phi_{\tau}^\circ)\mathcal{L}^B(\phi_m^\circ\otimes\sigma_{n+1}(t)\phi_{n+1}^\circ)|\det t|_{E_v}^s\delta_{Q_n}(t)^{1/2}\delta_{P'}(t)^{-1},$$

where we have set $\Lambda_r = T_r(F_v)/T_r(\mathcal{O}_v)$, which we will identify with the cocharacter lattice $X_*(T_{r,v})$ via the map $\lambda \mapsto \lambda(\varpi_F)$. Let $\Lambda_r^+ \subset \Lambda_r$ be the cone of dominant cocharacters with respect to B_r and $\Lambda_r^{++} \subset \Lambda_r^+$ the subcone of cocharacters that are moreover dominant with respect to B_{r+1} through the embedding $g \in G_r \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} g \\ 1 \end{pmatrix} \in G_{r+1}$. To lighten the computations a bit, we will assume from now on that the local measures at v have been chosen such that $vol(K_{n,v}^U) = vol(K_{n,v}^U \cap \mathcal{B}'(F_v)) = 1$.

Before proceeding, it will be convenient to introduce some notation pertaining to complex dual groups:

• For $\ell \in \{m, m+1, n+1\}$, we identify the dual group \widehat{U}_{ℓ} of U_{ℓ} (resp. \widehat{G}_r of G_r) with $\mathrm{GL}_{\ell}(\mathbb{C})$ (resp. $\mathrm{GL}_r(\mathbb{C}) \times \mathrm{GL}_r(\mathbb{C})$) equipped with its standard pinning. Its L-group can be written

$$^{L}U_{\ell} = \operatorname{GL}_{\ell}(\mathbb{C}) \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$$
 (resp. $^{L}G_{r} = (\operatorname{GL}_{r}(\mathbb{C}) \times \operatorname{GL}_{r}(\mathbb{C})) \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$),

where the Galois action is given by $c(g) = g^*$ (resp. $c(g_1, g_2) = (g_2, g_1)$), where the involution $g \in GL_{\ell}(\mathbb{C}) \mapsto g^*$ is

$$g^{\star} = J_{\ell}^{t} g^{-1} J_{\ell}^{-1}, \quad J_{\ell} = \begin{pmatrix} & & 1 \\ & & \ddots & \\ (-1)^{\ell-1} & & \end{pmatrix}.$$

We will also denote by $S \mapsto S^*$ the automorphism of LG_r which is the identity on Gal(E/F) and given by $(g_1, g_2) \mapsto (g_2^*, g_1^*)$ on \widehat{G}_r .

• We will write $(\widehat{T}_r, \widehat{B}_r)$ for the standard Borel pair in \widehat{G}_r and $(\widehat{T}_\ell^U, \widehat{B}_\ell^U)$ for that in \widehat{U}_ℓ . The corresponding semi-direct products with $\operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ will be denoted

$${}^LT_r = \widehat{T}_r \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F), \ {}^LB_r = \widehat{B}_r \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F), \ {}^LT_\ell^U = \widehat{T}_\ell^U \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F), \ {}^LB_\ell^U = \widehat{B}_\ell^U \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F).$$

• The dual groups of \mathcal{G} , \widetilde{U} are

$$\widehat{\mathcal{G}} = \widehat{U}_m \times \widehat{U}_{m+1}, \ \widehat{\widetilde{U}} = \widehat{U}_m \times \widehat{U}_{m+1},$$

and writing \times_{Γ} for the fibered products over Gal(E/F), their L-groups are

$${}^L\mathcal{G} = {}^LU_m \times_{\Gamma} {}^LU_{n+1}, \ {}^L\widetilde{U} = {}^LU_m \times_{\Gamma} {}^LU_{m+1},$$

respectively. We let $\widehat{B} = \widehat{B}_{m}^{U} \times \widehat{B}_{n+1}^{U}$, $\widehat{T} = \widehat{T}_{m}^{U} \times \widehat{T}_{n+1}^{U}$ (resp. $\widehat{\widetilde{B}} = \widehat{B}_{m}^{U} \times \widehat{B}_{m+1}^{U}$, $\widehat{\widetilde{T}} = \widehat{T}_{m}^{U} \times \widehat{T}_{m+1}^{U}$) be the standard Borel and maximal torus in $\widehat{\mathcal{G}}$ (resp. in $\widehat{\widetilde{U}}$). We also write

$${}^{L}T = \widehat{T} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F), \ {}^{L}\widetilde{T} = \widehat{\widetilde{T}} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F).$$

• The parabolic subgroup $Q_{n+1} \subset U_{n+1}$ stabilizing the isotropic subspace X_r corresponds to a standard parabolic subgroup \widehat{Q}_{n+1} of \widehat{U}_{n+1} with standard Levi

$$\widehat{L}_{n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} \operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{C}) \\ \operatorname{GL}_{m+1}(\mathbb{C}) \\ \operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{C}) \end{pmatrix}.$$

The corresponding L-group ${}^LL_{n+1} = \widehat{L}_{n+1} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ is isomorphic to ${}^LG_r \times_{\Gamma} {}^LU_{m+1}$ via the map which is the identity on $\operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ and

$$\begin{pmatrix} g_r^{(1)} & & \\ & g_{m+1} & \\ & & g_r^{(2)} \end{pmatrix} \mapsto ((g_r^{(1)}, g_r^{(2)\star}), g_{m+1})$$

on \widehat{L}_{n+1} . For $S \in {}^LL_{n+1}$, we denote by $(S^{(r)}, S^{(m+1)}) \in {}^LG_r \times_{\Gamma} {}^LU_{m+1}$ its image by this isomorphism.

• It will also be convenient to use the parabolic subgroup $Q = U_m \times Q_{n+1}$ of \mathcal{G} . We set $\widehat{Q} = \widehat{U}_m \times \widehat{Q}_{n+1}$, $\widehat{\mathcal{L}} = \widehat{U}_m \times \widehat{L}_{n+1}$ and ${}^L \mathcal{L} = \widehat{\mathcal{L}} \rtimes \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$. There are two natural decompositions

$${}^{L}\mathcal{L} = {}^{L}U_{m} \times_{\Gamma} {}^{L}L_{n+1}$$
 and ${}^{L}\mathcal{L} = {}^{L}\widetilde{U} \times_{\Gamma} {}^{L}G_{r}$,

and for $S \in {}^{L}\mathcal{L}$, we will denote by (S_m, S_{n+1}) and $(\widetilde{S}, S_{n+1}^{(r)})$ the corresponding respective decompositions of S.

• For every complex Lie group ${}^L\mathbb{G}$ with a subgroup ${}^L\mathbb{Q}$ and respective identity components $\widehat{\mathbb{G}}$, $\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}$, we set

$$D_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}/\widehat{\mathbb{Q}}}(S) = \det(1 - Ad(S) \mid Lie(\widehat{\mathbb{G}})/Lie(\widehat{\mathbb{Q}})), \text{ for } S \in {}^L\mathbb{Q}.$$

• For $\mathbb{G} \in \{G_r, U_\ell, \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{L}, L_{n+1}, T_r, T_\ell^U, T\}$, we denote by ${}^L\mathbb{G}_v$ the L-group of $\mathbb{G}_v = \mathbb{G} \times_F F_v$ that is

$${}^{L}\mathbb{G}_{v} = \begin{cases} {}^{L}\mathbb{G} & \text{if } v \text{ is inert in } E; \\ \widehat{\mathbb{G}} & \text{if } v \text{ splits in } E. \end{cases}$$

Also, for $\mathbb{G} \in \{G_r, U_\ell, \mathcal{G}, \mathcal{L}, L_{n+1}\}$, we write $W(\mathbb{G}_v)$ for the Weyl group $Norm_{\widehat{\mathbb{G}}}(^L\mathbb{T}_v)/\widehat{\mathbb{T}}$, where $\widehat{\mathbb{T}} \subset \widehat{\mathbb{G}}$ is the standard maximal torus.

- The choice of the Borel pair (T_r, B_r) allows to identify Λ_r with the group of characters of ${}^LT_{r,v}$ that are trivial on Gal(E/F), and we will denote by $\Lambda_r \ni t \mapsto \chi_t$ this identification. For $t \in \Lambda_r^+$, we write ch_t for the character of the irreducible representation of LG_r with highest weight χ_t (see Appendix A).
- For $k, \ell \in \mathbb{N}$, we define the representation

$${}^{L}(G_{k} \times G_{\ell}) = {}^{L}G_{k} \times_{\Gamma} {}^{L}G_{\ell} \to GL(\mathbb{C}^{k} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{\ell} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{k} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{\ell})$$
$$(S_{k}, S_{\ell}) \mapsto S_{k} \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} S_{\ell},$$

which sends $((g_k^{(1)},g_k^{(2)}),(g_\ell^{(1)},g_\ell^{(2)})) \in \widehat{G_k} \times \widehat{G_\ell}$ to $g_k^{(1)} \otimes g_\ell^{(1)} \oplus g_k^{(2)} \otimes g_\ell^{(2)}$ and $c \in \operatorname{Gal}(E/F)$ to the operator ι that swaps the two copies of $\mathbb{C}^k \otimes \mathbb{C}^\ell$.

• Composing this representation with the embeddings ${}^LU_i \to {}^LG_i, g \in \widehat{U}_i \mapsto (g, g^*), (i = k, \ell)$, we obtain representations

$$^{L}(U_{k} \times G_{\ell}) \to \mathrm{GL}(\mathbb{C}^{k} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{\ell} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{k} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{\ell})$$

and

$$L(U_k \times U_\ell) \to GL(\mathbb{C}^k \otimes \mathbb{C}^\ell \oplus \mathbb{C}^k \otimes \mathbb{C}^\ell)$$

that for simplicity we will also denote by the symbol \otimes .

• In particular, we have two representations

$$\mathcal{R}: {}^{L}\mathcal{G} = {}^{L}(U_{m} \times U_{n+1}) \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{C}^{m} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{n+1} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{m} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{n+1}), \ (S_{m}, S_{n+1}) \mapsto S_{m} \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}$$
$$\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}: {}^{L}\widetilde{U} = {}^{L}(U_{m} \times U_{m+1}) \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{C}^{m} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{m+1} \oplus \mathbb{C}^{m} \otimes \mathbb{C}^{m+1}), \ (S_{m}, S_{m+1}) \mapsto S_{m} \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{m+1}$$

that we will denote by $\mathcal R$ and $\mathcal R$, respectively. The subspace

$$\begin{split} V_- := \left\langle (e_i \otimes e_j, 0) \mid {1 \leqslant i \leqslant m \atop 1 \leqslant j \leqslant n+1 \atop i+j > m+r+1} \right\rangle \oplus \left\langle (0, e_i \otimes e_j) \mid {1 \leqslant i \leqslant m \atop 1 \leqslant j \leqslant n+1 \atop i+j > m+r+1} \right\rangle \\ \left(\text{resp. } \widetilde{V}_- := \left\langle (e_i \otimes e_j, 0) \mid {1 \leqslant i \leqslant m \atop 1 \leqslant j \leqslant m+1 \atop i+j > m+1} \right\rangle \oplus \left\langle (0, e_i \otimes e_j) \mid {1 \leqslant i \leqslant m \atop 1 \leqslant j \leqslant m+1 \atop i+j > m+1} \right\rangle, \end{split}$$

where we denote by $(e_i)_{i=1}^k$ the standard basis of \mathbb{C}^k for any k, is stable by LT (resp. by ${}^L\widetilde{T}$), and we set $\mathcal{R}_-(S) := \mathcal{R}(S) |_{V_-}$ (resp. $\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}_-(\widetilde{S}) := \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}(\widetilde{S})_{|\widetilde{V}|}$) for $S \in {}^LT$ (resp. $\widetilde{S} \in {}^L\widetilde{T}$).

• We will also denote by As_m the representation

$$\operatorname{As}_m: {}^LG_r \to \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{C}^r \otimes \mathbb{C}^r)$$

given by $\operatorname{As}_m(g^{(1)},g^{(2)})=g^{(1)}\otimes g^{(2)}$ for $(g^{(1)},g^{(2)})\in \widehat{G}_r$ and $\operatorname{As}_m(c)=(-1)^m s$, where $s:\mathbb{C}^r\otimes\mathbb{C}^r\to\mathbb{C}^r\otimes\mathbb{C}^r$ is defined by $s(u\otimes v)=v\otimes u$ for $u,v\in\mathbb{C}^r$.

• The Satake parameters of the unramified representations τ , σ_m , σ_{n+1} will be denoted by S_τ , S_m and S_{n+1} , respectively. These are semisimple conjugacy classes in LG_r , LU_m and ${}^LU_{n+1}$, and to simplify some arguments, we will choose representatives of them in LT_r , ${}^LT_m^U$ and ${}^LT_{n+1}^U$, respectively. Thus, denoting by $Frob_v \in Gal(E/F)$ the Frobenius at v, we have

$$S_{\tau} \in \widehat{T}_r Frob_{\nu}, \ S_m \in \widehat{T}_m^U Frob_{\nu} \ \text{and} \ S_{n+1} \in \widehat{T}_{n+1}^U Frob_{\nu}.$$

We will also write $S = (S_m, S_{n+1}) \in {}^LT$ for the Satake parameter of $\sigma = \sigma_m \boxtimes \sigma_{n+1}$.

By Shintani and Casselman-Shalika's formula [Shi76] [CS80], we have

$$\mathcal{L}^{W}(\tau(t)\phi_{\tau}^{\circ}) = \begin{cases} \delta_{B_{r}}(t)^{1/2} c h_{t}(S_{\tau}) & \text{if } t \in \Lambda_{r}^{+}, \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(8.7.2.3)

Moreover, according to the formulas given in [Kho08, Theorem 11.4], [Liu16, Proposition 6.4] and [Zha18], when $S \in {}^{L}T$ is regular, we have

$$\mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m}^{\circ} \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(t)\phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = \begin{cases}
(\Delta_{m,v}^{U})^{-1} \sum_{w \in W(\mathcal{G}_{v})} \frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}\mathcal{R}_{-}(wS))}{D_{\widehat{\mathcal{G}}/\widehat{B}}(wS)} \chi_{t}((wS_{n+1})^{(r)}) \delta_{P}(t)^{1/2} & \text{if } t \in \Lambda_{r}^{++} \\
0 & \text{otherwise.}
\end{cases}$$

Moreover, the above sum over $W(\mathcal{G}_{\nu})$ extends to a regular function on LT , and the formula is still valid when we interpret the right-hand side in terms of this extension. We will now prove the formula of the proposition assuming that S is regular but, as it is an identity between rational functions, the extension to the non-regular case will follow.

Lemma 8.7.2.2. For $t \in \Lambda_r^{++}$, we have

$$\mathcal{L}^{B}(\phi_{m}^{\circ} \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(t)\phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = \sum_{w \in W(U_{n+1,v})} \frac{\det(1 - q^{-1/2}S_{m} \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^{U}}(wS_{n+1})} ch_{t}((wS_{n+1})^{(r)})\delta_{P}(t)^{1/2}.$$
(8.7.2.5)

Proof. First, we note that the function

$$S_{n+1} \in \widehat{T}_{n+1}^U Frob_v \mapsto \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_m \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r) \star}) ch_t(S_{n+1}^{(r)})$$

is invariant under the action of $W(L_{n+1,\nu})$. Combining this with the identity (see Corollary A.0.2.2)

$$\sum_{w \in W(I_{n+1}, n)} D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^U}(wS_{n+1})^{-1} = D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(S_{n+1})^{-1},$$

we see that the right-hand side of (8.7.2.5) can be rewritten as

$$\sum_{w \in W(L_{n+1,v}) \backslash W(U_{n+1,v})} \frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_m \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(wS_{n+1})} ch_t((wS_{n+1})^{(r)}) \delta_P(t)^{1/2}.$$

The natural projection $W(\mathcal{G}_{\nu}) \to W(U_{n+1,\nu})$ induces a bijection

$$W(\mathcal{L}_{v})\backslash W(\mathcal{G}_{v})\simeq W(L_{n+1,v})\backslash W(U_{n+1,v}),$$

and thus by (8.7.2.4), we just need to establish, for every regular $S = (S_m, S_{n+1}) \in {}^LT$ and $t \in \Lambda_r$, the identity

$$(\Delta_{m,v}^{U})^{-1} \sum_{w \in W(\mathcal{L}_{v})} \frac{\det(1 - q^{-1/2}\mathcal{R}_{-}(wS))}{D_{\widehat{\mathcal{G}}/\widehat{B}}(wS)} \chi_{t}((wS_{n+1})^{(r)}) = \frac{\det(1 - q^{-1/2}S_{m} \overset{\mathcal{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(S_{n+1})} ch_{t}(S_{n+1}^{(r)}). \tag{8.7.2.6}$$

We have decompositions

$$\begin{split} D_{\widehat{\mathcal{G}}/\widehat{B}}(S) &= D_{\widehat{\mathcal{G}}/\widehat{\mathcal{Q}}}(S) D_{\widehat{\mathcal{L}}/\widehat{B}_{\mathcal{L}}}(S) = D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(S_{n+1}) D_{\widehat{\widetilde{U}}/\widehat{\widetilde{B}}}(\widetilde{S}) D_{\widehat{G}_r/\widehat{B}_r}(S_{n+1}^{(r)}), \\ \mathcal{R}_{-}(S) &= S_m \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star} \oplus \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}_{-}(\widetilde{S}). \end{split}$$

and

$$W(\mathcal{L}_{v}) = W(\widetilde{U}_{v}) \times W(G_{r,v}).$$

This leads to the following expression for the left-hand side of (8.7.2.6):

$$\frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{m} \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(S_{n+1})} \times (\Delta_{m,v}^{U})^{-1} \sum_{\widetilde{w} \in W(\widetilde{U}_{v})} \frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}\widetilde{\mathcal{R}}_{-}(\widetilde{w}\widetilde{S}))}{D_{\widetilde{\widetilde{U}}/\widehat{\widetilde{B}}}(\widetilde{w}\widetilde{S})} \sum_{w_{r} \in W(G_{r,v})} \frac{\chi_{t}(w_{r}S_{n+1}^{(r)})}{D_{\widehat{G_{r}}/\widehat{B_{r}}}(w_{r}S_{n+1}^{(r)})}.$$

Furthermore, Weyl's character formula implies (see Proposition A.0.2.1)

$$\sum_{w_r \in W(G_{r,v})} \frac{\chi_t(w_r S_{n+1}^{(r)})}{D_{\widehat{G_r}/\widehat{B_r}}(w_r S_{n+1}^{(r)})} = ch_t(S_{n+1}^{(r)}),$$

while, according to [Liu16, Proposition 6.4], we have

$$(\Delta_{m,v}^{U})^{-1} \sum_{\widetilde{w} \in W(\widetilde{U}_{v})} \frac{\det(1 - q^{-1/2} \widetilde{\mathcal{R}}_{-}(\widetilde{w}\widetilde{S}))}{D_{\widetilde{\widetilde{U}}/\widetilde{\widetilde{B}}}(\widetilde{w}\widetilde{S})} = 1.$$

This shows the formula (8.7.2.6) and ends the proof of the lemma.

The next lemma is a consequence of the Cauchy identity [Bum04, Theorem 43.3].

Lemma 8.7.2.3. Let $S_1, S_2 \in \widehat{T}_r Frob_{\nu}$. Then, for $\Re(s)$ sufficiently large, we have

$$\sum_{t \in \Lambda^{++}} |\det t|_{E_{\nu}}^{1/2+s} ch_t(S_1) ch_t(S_2) = \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{1,s} \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} S_2)^{-1},$$

where we have set $S_{1,s} := q^{-s}S_1$

Combining the two above lemmas with (8.7.2.2), (8.7.2.3) as well as the identity

$$\delta_P(t)^{1/2}\delta_{B_r}(t)^{1/2}\delta_{Q_n}(t)^{1/2}\delta_{P'}(t)^{-1} = |\det t|_{E_v}^{1/2}, \ t \in \Lambda_r,$$

we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}(\phi_{n,s}^{\circ} \otimes \phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = \sum_{w \in W(U_{n+1,v})} \frac{\det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{m} \overset{I}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^{U}}(w S_{n+1})} \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau,s} \overset{I}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(r)})^{-1}.$$
(8.7.2.7)

For every $w \in W(U_{n+1,\nu})$, we have the identity

$$S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} w S_{n+1} = S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(r)} \oplus S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(m+1)} \otimes S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(r)\star}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{split} L\left(\frac{1}{2},\tau_{s}\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)^{-1} &= \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}S_{n+1}) \\ &= \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}(wS_{n+1})^{(r)})\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}(wS_{n+1})^{(m+1)})\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}(wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star}). \end{split}$$

Thus, (8.7.2.7) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{split} &\mathcal{L}_{s}^{U'}(\phi_{n,s}^{\circ}\otimes\phi_{n+1}^{\circ}) = L\left(\frac{1}{2},\tau_{s}\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)\sum_{w\in W(U_{n+1,v})} \\ &\frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{m}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}(wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^{U}}(wS_{n+1})} \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}(wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star}) \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s}\overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes}(wS_{n+1})^{(m+1)}). \end{split}$$

Since we have

$$L(1, \tau_s^c \times \sigma_m) = \det(1 - q^{-1} S_{\tau, s}^c \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_m)^{-1}, \quad L(1, \tau_s, As^{(-1)^m}) = \det(1 - q^{-1} As_m(S_{\tau, s}))^{-1},$$

we see that the proposition is now reduced to the equality

$$\det(1 - q^{-1}S_{\tau,s}^c \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} S_m) \det(1 - q^{-1}\mathrm{As}_m(S_{\tau,s})) = \sum_{w \in W(U_{n+1,v})} (8.7.2.8)$$

$$\frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_m \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^U}(wS_{n+1})} \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star}) \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(m+1)}).$$

To prove the above identity, we first show that the right-hand side of (8.7.2.8) considered as a function of the regular element $S_{n+1} \in \widehat{T}_{n+1}^U Frob_v$ is constant. For this, we first note that the function

$$\begin{split} S_{n+1} &\in \widehat{T}_{n+1}^{U} Frob_{v} \mapsto \\ \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{m} \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(r) \star}) \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau, s} \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(r) \star}) \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau, s} \overset{\mathrm{I}}{\otimes} (w S_{n+1})^{(m+1)}) \end{split}$$

is (the restriction of) a linear combination of characters of ${}^LT^U_{n+1}$. Thus, by Proposition A.0.2.1, it suffices to check that for every character χ appearing in this linear combination the sum $\rho + \chi \mid_{\widehat{T}^U_{n+1}}$, where $\rho \in X^*(\widehat{T}^U_{n+1})$ stands for the half-sum of positive roots (with respect to \widehat{B}^U_{n+1}), is either singular or conjugate, under the full Weyl group of $(\widehat{U}_{n+1},\widehat{T}^U_{n+1})$, to ρ . Let χ be such a character. Using the natural isomorphism $X^*(\widehat{T}^U_{n+1}) \simeq \mathbb{Z}^{n+1}$, we have $\chi \mid_{\widehat{T}^U_{n+1}} = (\lambda_1,\dots,\lambda_{n+1})$, where the λ_i 's are integers satisfying

$$-m - r \le \lambda_i \le 0 \text{ for } 0 \le i \le r,$$

$$-r \le \lambda_i \le r \text{ for } r + 1 \le i \le r + m + 1,$$

$$0 \le \lambda_i \le m + r \text{ for } r + m + 2 \le i \le n + 1.$$

Furthermore, we have $\rho = (\frac{n}{2}, \frac{n-2}{2}, \dots, -\frac{n}{2})$, and from the above inequality, we see that the coordinates of $\rho + \chi \mid_{\widehat{T}_{n+1}^U}$ are all integers or half-integers between $-\frac{n}{2}$ and $\frac{n}{2}$. The claim about $\chi \mid_{\widehat{T}_{n+1}^U} + \rho$ readily follows, and we therefore deduce that the right-hand side of (8.7.2.8) is indeed independent of S_{n+1} .

Let $A, B \in GL_r(\mathbb{C})$ be such that $S_{\tau,s} = (A, B)Frob_v$. Then, plugging

$$S_{n+1} = \begin{pmatrix} q^{1/2} A^{\star} \\ A_{m+1} \\ q^{-1/2} B \end{pmatrix} Frob_{v} \in \widehat{T}_{n+1}^{U} Frob_{v}$$

in the right-hand side of (8.7.2.8), where the matrix $A_{m+1} \in GL_{m+1}(\mathbb{C})$ is chosen such that S_{n+1} is regular, the term indexed by $w \in W(U_{n+1,v})$ is nonzero only when $w \in W(L_{n+1,v})$. It follows that this sum equals

$$\begin{split} & \sum_{w \in W(L_{n+1,v})} \frac{\det(1-q^{-1/2}S_m \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star})}{D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^U}(wS_{n+1})} \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(r)\star}) \times \\ & \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} (wS_{n+1})^{(m+1)}) \\ & = \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_m \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star}) \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star}) \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(m+1)}) \times \\ & \sum_{w \in W(L_{n+1,v})} D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{B}_{n+1}^U}(wS_{n+1})^{-1} \\ & = \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_m \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star}) \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r)\star}) \times \\ & \det(1-q^{-1/2}S_{\tau,s} \overset{1}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(m+1)}) D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(S_{n+1})^{-1}, \end{split}$$

where the last equality follows from Corollary A.0.2.2. By direct computation, we have

$$\det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_m \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r) \star}) = \det(1 - q^{-1} S_m \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{\tau,s}^c),$$

$$\det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(r) \star}) = \det(1 - q^{-1} S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{\tau,s}^c),$$

$$\det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{n+1}^{(m+1)}) = \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{m+1}^c),$$

$$D_{\widehat{U}_{n+1}/\widehat{Q}_{n+1}}(S_{n+1}) = \det(1 - q^{-1} A s_{m+1}(S_{\tau,s})) \det(1 - q^{-1/2} S_{\tau,s} \overset{\text{I}}{\otimes} S_{m+1}),$$

where we have set $S_{m+1} = A_{m+1} Frob_{\nu} \in \widehat{T}_{m+1}^{U} Frob_{\nu}$. Since $S_{\tau,s} \otimes S_{\tau,s}^{c} = \operatorname{As}_{m}(S_{\tau,s}) \oplus \operatorname{As}_{m+1}(S_{\tau,s})$, this concludes the proof of (8.7.2.8) and therefore of the proposition.

8.8. Reduction to the corank one case

8.8.1.

In this subsection, we let

- σ_m and σ_{n+1} be cuspidal automorphic representations of $U_m(\mathbb{A})$ and $U_{n+1}(\mathbb{A})$, respectively;
- τ be an irreducible automorphic representation of $G_r(\mathbb{A})$ that is induced from a unitary cuspidal representation, meaning that there exist a parabolic subgroup $R = MN_R \subset G_r$ as well as a unitary cuspidal automorphic representation κ of $M(\mathbb{A})$ such that

$$\tau = \{E_R^{G_r}(\phi, 0) \mid \phi \in I_{R(\mathbb{A})}^{G_r(\mathbb{A})}(\kappa)\}.$$

Moreover, we henceforth identify $\mathcal{A}_{Q_n,\tau\boxtimes\sigma_m}(U_n)$ with the parabolic induction $\sigma_n:=I_{Q_n(\mathbb{A})}^{U_n(\mathbb{A})}(\tau\boxtimes\sigma_m)$ so that for $\phi_n\in\sigma_n$ and any $s\in\mathbb{C}$, we have $\phi_{n,s}\in\sigma_{n,s}:=I_{Q_n(\mathbb{A})}^{U_n(\mathbb{A})}(\tau_s\boxtimes\sigma_m)$. Then, by Proposition 8.5.1.1 and Proposition 8.7.2.1, for $\phi_n\in\sigma_n$ and $\phi_{n+1}\in\sigma_{n+1}$, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, s) \otimes \phi_{n+1}) = \frac{\operatorname{vol}(K_n^{U,T})}{\operatorname{vol}(K_n^{U,T} \cap \mathcal{B}'(\mathbb{A}^T))} \frac{L^T\left(\frac{1}{2} + s, \tau \times \sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^T(1 + s, \tau^c \times \sigma_m)L^T(1 + 2s, \tau, \operatorname{As}^{(-1)^m})} \times \int_{\mathcal{B}'(F_T) \setminus U'(F_T)} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L}(\phi_{n,s}(h) \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(h)\phi_{n+1}) dh$$

$$(8.8.1.1)$$

for $\Re(s) \gg 0$ and where $T \supset S$ is any sufficiently large finite set of places such that ϕ_n is $K_n^{U,T}$ -invariant and ϕ_{n+1} is $K_{n+1}^{U,T}$ -invariant.

8.8.2.

Proposition 8.8.2.1. *The following are equivalent:*

- 1. There exist $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ such that $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}}(\phi_m \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \neq 0$;
- 2. There exist $\phi_n \in \sigma_n$, $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ and $s \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, .)$ has no pole at s and $\mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, s) \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \neq 0$.

Proof. First, we remark that since there exists $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$ whose Whittaker period $\int_{[N_r]} \phi_{\tau}(u) \psi_{-r}(u) du$ is nonzero, assertion 1 is equivalent to the nonvanishing of $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L}$ on $\tau \boxtimes \sigma_m \boxtimes \sigma_{n+1}$. Then, the equivalence 2. \Leftrightarrow 1. follows from (8.8.1.1) and the last part of Proposition 8.6.1.1.

8.8.3.

Choose isomorphisms $\tau \simeq \bigotimes_{\nu}' \tau_{\nu}$, $\sigma_{m} \simeq \bigotimes_{\nu}' \sigma_{m,\nu}$ and $\sigma_{n+1} \simeq \bigotimes_{\nu}' \sigma_{n+1,\nu}$. This induces an isomorphism $\sigma_{n} \simeq \bigotimes_{\nu}' \sigma_{n,\nu}$, where $\sigma_{n,\nu} := I_{Q_{n}(F_{\nu})}^{U_{n}(F_{\nu})}(\tau_{\nu} \boxtimes \sigma_{m,\nu})$. We assume henceforth that for every place ν , the representations τ_{ν} , $\sigma_{m,\nu}$ and $\sigma_{n+1,\nu}$ are all tempered. Let $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$, $\phi_{m} \in \sigma_{m}$, $\phi_{n} \in \sigma_{n}$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ be factorizable vectors – that is,

$$\phi_{\tau} = \bigotimes_{v}^{\prime} \phi_{\tau,v}, \ \phi_{m} = \bigotimes_{v}^{\prime} \phi_{m,v}, \ \phi_{n} = \bigotimes_{v}^{\prime} \phi_{n,v}, \ \phi_{n+1} = \bigotimes_{v}^{\prime} \phi_{n+1,v},$$

where $\phi_{\tau,\nu} \in \tau_{\nu}$, $\phi_{m,\nu} \in \sigma_{m,\nu}$, $\phi_{n,\nu} \in \sigma_{n,\nu}$ and $\phi_{n+1,\nu} \in \sigma_{n+1,\nu}$. We equip σ_m , σ_{n+1} , τ and σ_n with invariant inner products as follows:

• We endow σ_m , σ_{n+1} with the Petersson inner products $\langle ., . \rangle_{Pet}$ (i.e., the L^2 inner products with respect to the Tamagawa measures on $[U_m]$ and $[U_{n+1}]$, respectively).

• On τ , we put the inner product defined by

$$\langle E_R^{G_r}(\phi,0), E_R^{G_r}(\phi',0)\rangle_{\tau} = \int_{R(\mathbb{A})\backslash G_r(\mathbb{A})} \int_{[M]^1} \phi(mg) \overline{\phi'(mg)} dm dg$$

for $\phi, \phi' \in I_{R(\mathbb{A})}^{G_r(\mathbb{A})}(\kappa)$.

• σ_n is equipped with the inner product induced from that on $\tau \boxtimes \sigma_m$, here denoted $\langle ., . \rangle_{\tau \boxtimes \sigma_m}$; that is,

$$\langle \phi, \phi' \rangle_{\sigma_n} = \int_{O_n(\mathbb{A}) \backslash U_n(\mathbb{A})} \langle \phi(g), \phi'(g) \rangle_{\tau \boxtimes \sigma_m} dg, \text{ for } \phi, \phi' \in \sigma_n.$$

We also fix factorizations of these inner products on σ_m , σ_{n+1} , τ and σ_n into local invariant inner products. Following Section 8.4, this allows to define, for every place v of F, local periods $\mathcal{P}_{U',v}$, $\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}},v}, \mathcal{P}_{N_r,\psi_{-r},v} \text{ and } \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L,v} \text{ on } \sigma_{n,v} \boxtimes \sigma_{n+1,v}, \sigma_{m,v} \boxtimes \sigma_{n,v}, \tau_v \text{ and } \tau_v \boxtimes \sigma_{m,v} \boxtimes \sigma_{n+1,v}, \text{ respectively.}$ Furthermore, for almost all v, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{U',v}(\phi_{n,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}, \phi_{n,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}) = \Delta_{U_{n+1},v} \frac{L\left(\frac{1}{2}, \sigma_{n,v} \times \sigma_{n+1,v}\right)}{L(1, \sigma_{n,v}, \operatorname{Ad})L(1, \sigma_{n+1,v}, \operatorname{Ad})}$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}},v}(\phi_{m,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}, \phi_{m,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}) = \Delta_{U_{n+1},v} \frac{L\left(\frac{1}{2}, \sigma_{m,v} \times \sigma_{n+1,v}\right)}{L(1, \sigma_{m,v}, \operatorname{Ad})L(1, \sigma_{n+1,v}, \operatorname{Ad})}$$

$$\mathcal{P}_{N_{r},\psi_{-r},v}(\phi_{\tau,v}, \phi_{\tau,v}) = \frac{\Delta_{G_{r},v}}{L(1, \tau_{v}, \operatorname{Ad})},$$

where we have set $\Delta_{U_{n+1},\nu} = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} L(i,\eta_{E/F,\nu}^i)$ and $\Delta_{G_r,\nu} = \prod_{i=1}^r \zeta_{E_\nu}(i)$. Note that the last two equalities above imply that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L,v}(\phi_{\tau,v}\otimes\phi_{m,v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{\tau,v}\otimes\phi_{m,v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v}) = \\ & \frac{L\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_{m,v}\times\sigma_{n+1,v}\right)}{L(1,\sigma_{m,v},\operatorname{Ad})L(1,\sigma_{n+1,v},\operatorname{Ad})L(1,\tau_{v},\operatorname{Ad})} \end{split}$$

for almost all v. Given all these identities, it makes sense to define

$$\begin{split} &\prod_{v}^{\prime} \mathcal{P}_{U^{\prime},v}(\phi_{n,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{n,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}) := \\ &\Delta_{U_{n+1}}^{T} \frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_{n} \times \sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T,*}(1,\sigma_{n},\operatorname{Ad})L^{T}\left(1,\sigma_{n+1},\operatorname{Ad}\right)} \prod_{v \in T} \mathcal{P}_{U^{\prime},v}(\phi_{n,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{n,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}), \\ &\prod_{v}^{\prime} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}},v}(\phi_{m,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{m,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}) := \\ &\Delta_{U_{n+1}}^{T} \frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_{m} \times \sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T}\left(1,\sigma_{m},\operatorname{Ad}\right)L^{T}\left(1,\sigma_{n+1},\operatorname{Ad}\right)} \prod_{v \in T} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}},v}(\phi_{m,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{m,v} \otimes \phi_{n+1,v}), \\ &\prod_{v}^{\prime} \mathcal{P}_{N_{r},\psi_{-r},v}(\phi_{\tau,v},\phi_{\tau,v}) := \frac{\Delta_{G_{r}}^{T,*}}{L^{T,*}(1,\tau,\operatorname{Ad})} \prod_{v \in T} \mathcal{P}_{N_{r},\psi_{-r},v}(\phi_{\tau,v},\phi_{\tau,v}) \end{split}$$

for any sufficiently large finite set T of places where we have set

$$\Delta_{U_{n+1}}^{T} = \prod_{i=1}^{n+1} L^{T}(i, \eta_{E/F}^{i}), \quad \Delta_{G_{r}}^{T,*} = \zeta_{E}^{T,*}(1) \prod_{i=2}^{r} \zeta_{E}^{T}(i)$$

and $L^{T,*}(1,\sigma_n, \mathrm{Ad}), L^{T,*}(1,\tau, \mathrm{Ad})$ stand for the regularized values

$$L^{T,*}(1,\sigma_n, \mathrm{Ad}) := \left((s-1)^a L^T(s,\sigma_n, \mathrm{Ad}) \right)_{s=1}, \quad L^{T,*}(1,\tau, \mathrm{Ad}) := \left((s-1)^a L^T(s,\tau, \mathrm{Ad}) \right)_{s=1}$$

with $a = \dim(A_M)$, respectively. We define similarly

$$\prod_{\nu}' \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L}, \nu}(\phi_{\tau, \nu} \otimes \phi_{m, \nu} \otimes \phi_{n+1, \nu}, \phi_{\tau, \nu} \otimes \phi_{m, \nu} \otimes \phi_{n+1, \nu}).$$

Of course, the previous discussion applies verbatim when we replace τ and σ_n by τ_s and $\sigma_{n,s}$ for every $s \in i\mathbb{R}$.

Proposition 8.8.3.1. Let $c \in \mathbb{C}$ and assume that for every factorizable vectors $\phi_n \in \sigma_n$, $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ and every $s \in i\mathbb{R}$, we have

$$\left|\mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n,s)\otimes\phi_{n+1})\right|^2=c\left[\int\limits_{v}'\mathcal{P}_{U',v}(\phi_{n,s,v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{n,s,v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v})\right]^2$$

Then, for every factorizable vectors $\phi_m \in \sigma_m$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$, we have

$$\left|\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}}(\phi_{m}\otimes\phi_{n+1})\right|^{2}=c\left|\int\limits_{-\infty}^{\infty}\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}},v}(\phi_{m,v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{m,v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v}).$$

Proof. Let $\phi_n \in \sigma_n$ and $\phi_{n+1} \in \sigma_{n+1}$ be factorizable vectors and let T be a finite set of places of F that we will assume throughout to be sufficiently large. By (8.8.1.1), we have

$$\left| \mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_{n}}^{U_{n}}(\phi_{n}, s) \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \right|^{2} = \left| \frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2} + s, \tau \times \sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T}\left(1 + s, \tau^{c} \times \sigma_{m}\right)L^{T}\left(1 + 2s, \tau, As^{(-1)^{m}}\right)} \right|^{2}$$

$$\int_{(\mathcal{B}'(F_{T})\setminus U'(F_{T}))^{2}} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L}}(\phi_{n,s}(h_{1}) \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(h_{1})\phi_{n+1}) \overline{\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L}, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L}}(\phi_{n,s}(h_{2}) \otimes \sigma_{n+1}(h_{2})\phi_{n+1})} dh_{2} dh_{1}$$
(8.8.3.1)

for $s \in i\mathbb{R}$. However, from the hypothesis, Proposition 8.6.2.1 and (8.2.1.1), we obtain

$$\left| \mathcal{P}_{U'}(E_{Q_n}^{U_n}(\phi_n, s) \otimes \phi_{n+1}) \right|^2 = c\Delta_{G_r}^{T,*} \Delta_{U_{n+1}}^T \frac{L^T \left(\frac{1}{2}, \sigma_{n,s} \times \sigma_{n+1} \right)}{L^{T,*} (1, \sigma_{n,s}, \operatorname{Ad}) L^T (1, \sigma_{n+1}, \operatorname{Ad})}$$
(8.8.3.2)

$$\prod_{v \in T} \int_{(\mathcal{B}'(F_v) \setminus U'(F_v))^2} \mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L, \psi_{\mathcal{B}}^L, v}(\phi_{n,s,v}(h_1) \otimes \sigma_{n+1,v}(h_2) \phi_{n+1,v}, \phi_{n,s,v}(h_1) \otimes \sigma_{n+1,v}(h_2) \phi_{n+1,v}) dh_2 dh_1$$

for $s \in i\mathbb{R}$. From (8.8.3.1), (8.8.3.2), the last part of Proposition 8.6.1.1 as well as the identity of partial L-functions for $s \in i\mathbb{R}$

$$\frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_{n,s}\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T,*}(1,\sigma_{n,s},\operatorname{Ad})} = \frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_{m}\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T,*}(1,\tau,\operatorname{Ad})L^{T}(1,\sigma_{m},\operatorname{Ad})} \left| \frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2}+s,\tau\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T}(1+s,\tau^{c}\times\sigma_{m})L^{T}(1+2s,\tau,\operatorname{As}^{(-1)^{m}})} \right|^{2},$$

we deduce the equality

$$\left|\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L}}(\phi\otimes\phi_{n+1})\right|^{2} = c\Delta_{G_{r}}^{T,*}\Delta_{U_{n+1}}^{T}\frac{L^{T}\left(\frac{1}{2},\sigma_{m}\times\sigma_{n+1}\right)}{L^{T,*}(1,\tau,\operatorname{Ad})L^{T}\left(1,\sigma_{m},\operatorname{Ad}\right)L^{T}\left(1,\sigma_{n+1},\operatorname{Ad}\right)}$$

$$\times\prod_{v\in T}\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L},v}(\phi_{v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v})$$

$$= c\prod_{v}'\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}^{L},v}(\phi_{v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v},\phi_{v}\otimes\phi_{n+1,v})$$

$$(8.8.3.3)$$

for every factorizable vector $\phi = \bigotimes_{\nu}' \phi_{\nu} \in \tau \boxtimes \sigma_{m}$. Furthermore, for $\phi_{\tau} \in \tau$ and $\phi_{m} \in \sigma_{m}$ two factorizable vectors, we have

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^L,\psi^L_{\mathcal{B}}}(\phi_{\tau}\otimes\phi_{m}\otimes\phi_{n+1})=\mathcal{P}_{N_r,\psi_{-r}}(\phi_{\tau})\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B}}}(\phi_{m}\otimes\phi_{n+1})$$

and

$$\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B}^{L},\psi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{V}}^{L}}(\phi_{\tau,\nu}\otimes\phi_{m,\nu}\otimes\phi_{n+1,\nu},\phi_{\tau,\nu}\otimes\phi_{m,\nu}\otimes\phi_{n+1,\nu})$$

$$=\mathcal{P}_{N_{r},\psi_{-r},\mathcal{V}}(\phi_{\tau,\nu},\phi_{\tau,\nu})\mathcal{P}_{\mathcal{B},\psi_{\mathcal{B},\mathcal{V}}}(\phi_{m,\nu}\otimes\phi_{n+1,\nu},\phi_{m,\nu}\otimes\phi_{n+1,\nu})$$

for every place v as well as the identity (cf. [FLO12, Eq. (11.3)])

$$\left| \mathcal{P}_{N_r, \psi_{-r}}(\phi_{\tau}) \right|^2 = \prod_{\nu}' \mathcal{P}_{N_r, \psi_{-r}, \nu}(\phi_{\tau, \nu}, \phi_{\tau, \nu}).$$
 (8.8.3.4)

The proposition can now be deduced by dividing the identity (8.8.3.4) by (8.8.3.3). Note that such a deduction is valid as the Whittaker period $\mathcal{P}_{N_r,\psi_{-r}}$ is known to be nonzero on τ .

A. Weyl character formula for non-connected groups

A.0.1.

Let \widehat{G} be a connected complex reductive group, $\widehat{B} \subset \widehat{G}$ be a Borel subgroup and $\widehat{T} \subset \widehat{B}$ be a maximal torus. Let Γ be a *cyclic* finite group acting on \widehat{G} by holomorphic automorphisms preserving the Borel pair $(\widehat{B},\widehat{T})$. Set ${}^LG = \widehat{G} \rtimes \Gamma$, ${}^LT = \widehat{T} \rtimes \Gamma$ and ${}^LB = \widehat{B} \rtimes \Gamma$. We say that an element $S \in {}^LT$ is *regular* if the neutral component of its centralizer is contained in \widehat{T} .

Let $X^*(\widehat{T})$ be the group of algebraic characters of \widehat{T} and $X^*(\widehat{T})^+ \subset X^*(\widehat{T})$ be the subset of dominant elements (with respect to the chosen Borel \widehat{B}). For every $\chi \in X^*(\widehat{T})^+$, we denote by (π_χ, V_χ) an algebraic irreducible representation of \widehat{G} with highest weight χ (it is unique up to isomorphism). Note that the subgroup of Γ -invariant characters $X^*(\widehat{T})^\Gamma$ can be identified with the set of algebraic characters $^LT \to \mathbb{C}^\times$ that are trivial on Γ . Moreover, for every $\chi \in X^*(\widehat{T})^+ \cap X^*(\widehat{T})^\Gamma$, the representation (π_χ, V_χ) can be extended in a unique way to a representation of LG such that Γ acts trivially on the line of highest weight vectors. We shall denote by ch_χ the character of that representation of LG (i.e., $ch_\chi(S) = \mathrm{Tr}\pi_\chi(S)$ for $S \in ^LG$).

A.0.2.

Let $\widehat{W} = \operatorname{Norm}_{\widehat{G}}(\widehat{T})/\widehat{T}$ be the Weyl group of \widehat{T} in \widehat{G} . Then, Γ acts in a natural way on \widehat{W} and the subgroup of fixed points \widehat{W}^{Γ} can be identified with $W = \operatorname{Norm}_{\widehat{G}}(^LT)/\widehat{T}$. Let $\rho \in \frac{1}{2}X^*(\widehat{T})$ be the half-sum of the positive roots with respect to \widehat{B} . The dot action of \widehat{W} on $X^*(\widehat{T})$ is defined by

$$w \cdot \chi = w(\chi + \rho) - \rho, \ (w, \chi) \in \widehat{W} \times X^*(\widehat{T}).$$

For $\chi \in X^*(\widehat{T})$, we recall the following alternative. Either

- $\chi + \rho$ is singular (i.e., there exists a coroot α^{\vee} such that $\langle \alpha^{\vee}, \chi + \rho \rangle = 0$);
- or there exists a unique $w_{\chi} \in \widehat{W}$ such that $w_{\chi} \cdot \chi \in X^*(\widehat{T})^+$.

Note that, by unicity, for $\chi \in X^*(\widehat{T})^{\Gamma}$ such that $\chi + \rho$ is nonsingular, we have $w_{\chi} \in W$. For every standard parabolic subgroup $\widehat{B} \subset \widehat{Q} \subset \widehat{G}$ that is Γ -stable, we set

$$D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{O}}(S) = \det(1 - Ad(S)) \mid Lie(\widehat{G})/Lie(\widehat{Q})$$

for $S \in {}^{L}T$.

Proposition A.0.2.1. *Let* $F \in \Gamma$ *be a generator and* $\chi \in X^*(\widehat{T})^{\Gamma}$ *. Then*

1. If $\chi + \rho$ is singular, we have

$$\sum_{w \in W} \frac{\chi(wS)}{D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{B}}(wS)} = 0$$

for every regular $S \in {}^{L}T$.

2. If $\chi + \rho$ is nonsingular, setting $\chi^+ = w_{\chi} \cdot \chi$, there exists a root of unity $\epsilon_{\chi} \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ such that

$$\sum_{w \in W} \frac{\chi(wS)}{D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{B}}(wS)} = \epsilon_{\chi} c h_{\chi^{+}}(S)$$

for every regular $S \in \widehat{T}F$. Moreover, if χ is dominant, we have $\epsilon_{\chi} = 1$.

Proof. Let $X = \widehat{G}/\widehat{B}$ be the flag variety of \widehat{G} . The action of \widehat{G} on X naturally extends to LG (e.g., because we can also write $X = {}^LG/{}^LB$). Let \mathcal{L}_{χ} be the LG -equivariant line bundle on X such that the action of LB on the fiber above $1 \in X$ is given by χ . Then, by the Borel-Weil-Bott theorem, we have

- If $\chi + \rho$ is singular, $H^i(X, \mathcal{L}_{\chi}) = 0$ for $i \ge 0$,
- otherwise (i.e., if $\chi + \rho$ is nonsingular), there exists a unique $i \ge 0$ such that $H^i(X, \mathcal{L}_\chi) \ne 0$ and, moreover, $H^i(X, \mathcal{L}_\chi) \simeq V_{\chi^+}$ as \widehat{G} -modules.

Let $S \in \widehat{T}F$ be regular. We apply Atiyah-Bott fixed point theorem [AB68, Theorem 4.12] to the action of S on the pair (X, \mathcal{L}_{χ}) . First, note that the set of fixed points of S in X is precisely the image of the natural embedding $W \subset X$. Moreover, for $w \in W$, the action of S on the fiber $(\mathcal{L}_{\chi})_w$ (resp. on the tangent space $T_w X$ identified in a natural way with $Lie(\widehat{G})/Lie(\widehat{B})$) is the multiplication by $\chi(w^{-1}S)$ (resp. the adjoint operator $Ad(w^{-1}S)$). Given this as well as the above description of the cohomology groups of \mathcal{L}_{χ} , the Atiyah-Bott fixed point theorem implies directly the proposition when $\chi + \rho$ is singular, whereas in the nonsingular, case it gives

$$\sum_{w \in W} \frac{\chi(wS)}{D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{B}}(wS)} = \operatorname{Tr}(S \mid H^i(X, \mathcal{L}_\chi)).$$

However, since $H^i(X, \mathcal{L}_{\chi}) \simeq V_{\chi^+}$ as \widehat{G} -modules and V_{χ^+} is irreducible, we see that $H^i(X, \mathcal{L}_{\chi})$ is isomorphic as a LG -representation to a twist of V_{χ^+} by a character of Γ . Denoting by ϵ_{χ} the value of this character on F, we obtain the second formula of the proposition.

Corollary A.0.2.2. Let $\widehat{Q} \subset \widehat{G}$ be a Γ -stable standard parabolic subgroup. Let $\widehat{L} \subset \widehat{Q}$ be the unique Levi component containing \widehat{T} and set $W^L = \operatorname{Norm}_{L_L}(\widehat{T})/\widehat{T} \subset W$, where we have set $L = \widehat{L} \rtimes \Gamma$. Then,

we have

$$\sum_{w \in W^L} D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{B}}(wS)^{-1} = D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{Q}}(S)^{-1}$$

for every regular $S \in {}^LT$.

Proof. Note that

$$D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{B}}(S) = D_{\widehat{G}/\widehat{Q}}(S)D_{\widehat{L}/\widehat{B}_{L}}(S)$$

for $S \in {}^LT$, where we have set $\widehat{B}_L = \widehat{B} \cap \widehat{L}$. The corollary now follows readily from the previous proposition applied to the trivial character and LL instead of LG .

Acknowledgements. We thank Paul Boisseau for pointing out an inaccuracy in the statement of Proposition 8.7.2.1 in a previous version of the paper. The work of first named author was funded by the European Union ERC Consolidator Grant, RELANTRA, project number 101044930. Views and opinions expressed are, however, those of the authors only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Research Council. Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.

The second named author would like to thank Michał Zydor, who was initially part of the project and with whom he has had many fruitful discussions over the last years on some of the topics covered in the article. He also thanks the Institut universitaire de France (IUF) for its support.

Competing interest. The authors have no competing interests to declare.

References

- [AB68] M. Atiyah and R. Bott, 'A Lefschetz fixed point formula for elliptic complexes. II. Applications', Ann. of Math. (2) 88 (1968), 451–491.
- [ARS10] D. Aizenbud, A. Gourevitch, S. Rallis and G. Schiffmann, 'Multiplicity one theorems', Ann. of Math. (2) 172(2) (2010), 1407–1434.
- [Art78] J. Arthur, 'A trace formula for reductive groups I. Terms associated to classes in $G(\mathbb{Q})$ ', Duke Math. J. 45 (1978), 911–952.
- [Art80] J. Arthur, 'A trace formula for reductive groups II', Comp. Math. 40 (1980), 87–121.
- [Art81] J. Arthur, 'The trace formula in invariant form', Ann. of Math. (2) 114(1) (1981), 1–74.
- [Art85] J. Arthur, 'A measure on the unipotent variety', Canad. J. Math. 37(6) (1985), 1237–1274.
- [Beu21] R. Beuzart-Plessis, 'Comparison of local spherical characters and the Ichino-Ikeda conjecture for unitary groups', J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 20(6) (2021), 1803–1854.
- [BLZZ21] R. Beuzart-Plessis, Y. Liu, W. Zhang and X. Zhu, 'Isolation of cuspidal spectrum, with application to the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture', *Ann. of Math.* (2) **194**(2) (2021), 519–584.
 - [BP18] R. Beuzart-Plessis, 'Archimedean theory and ϵ -factors for the Asai Rankin-Selberg integrals', Preprint, 2018, arXiv:1812.00053.
 - [BP20] R. Beuzart-Plessis, 'A local trace formula for the Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups: the Archimedean case', *Astérisque* **418** (2020), ix+305,
 - [BP21] R. Beuzart-Plessis, 'Plancherel formula for $GL_n(F) \setminus GL_n(E)$ and applications to the Ichino-Ikeda and formal degree conjectures for unitary groups', *Invent. Math.* **225**(1) (2021), 159–297.
- [BPCZ22] R. Beuzart-Plessis, P.-H. Chaudouard and M. Zydor, 'The global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups: the endoscopic case', Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 135 (2022), 183–336.
 - [BR10] A. I. Badulescu and D. Renard, 'Unitary dual of GL_n at Archimedean places and global Jacquet-Langlands correspondence', Compos. Math. 146(5) (2010), 1115–1164.
- [Bum04] D. Bump, Lie Groups (Graduate Texts in Mathematics) vol. 225 (Springer-Verlag, New York, 2004).
- [Cha22] P.-H. Chaudouard, 'A spectral expansion for the symmetric space $GL_n(E)/GL_n(F)$ ', Preprint, 2022, arXiv:2204.06069.
- [CHH88] M. Cowling, U. Haagerup and R. Howe, 'Almost L² matrix coefficients', J. Reine Angew. Math. 387 (1988), 97–110.
- [Cog08] J. W. Cogdell, 'Notes on L-functions for GL_n', in School on Automorphic Forms on GL_n, (ICTP Lect. Notes) vol. 21 (Abdus Salam Int. Cent. Theoret. Phys., Trieste, 2008), 75–158.
- [CS80] W. Casselman and J. Shalika, 'The unramified principal series of p-adic groups. II. The Whittaker function', Compos. Math. 41(2) (1980), 207–231.
- [CZ21] P.-H. Chaudouard and M. Zydor, 'Le transfert singulier pour la formule des traces de Jacquet-Rallis', Compos. Math. 157(2) (2021), 303–434.

- [Fli88] Y. Flicker, 'Twisted tensors and Euler products', Bull. Soc. Math. France 116(3) (1988), 295-313.
- [Fli92] Y. Flicker, 'Distinguished representations and a Fourier summation formula', *Bull. Soc. Math. France* **120**(4) (1992), 413–465.
- [FLO12] B. Feigon, E. Lapid and O. Offen, 'On representations distinguished by unitary groups', Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 115 (2012), 185–323.
- [Fra98] J. Franke, 'Harmonic analysis in weighted L_2 -spaces', Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 31(2) (1998), 181–279.
- [GGP12] W. T. Gan, B. Gross and D. Prasad, 'Symplectic local root numbers, central critical L values, and restriction problems in the representation theory of classical groups', Astérisque 346 (2012), 1–109.
- [GK72] I. M. Gelfand and D. A. Každan, 'Representations of the group where GL(n, K) is a local field', Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen. 6(4) (1972), 73–74.
- [GK75] I. M. Gelfand and D. A. Kajdan, 'Representations of the group where GL(n, K) is a local field', in Lie Groups and Their Representations (Proc. Summer School, Bolyai János Math. Soc., Budapest, 1971) (Halsted, New York, 1975), pages 95–118.
- [Gro97] B. Gross, 'On the motive of a reductive group', *Invent. Math.* **130**(2) (1997), 287–313.
- [GRS11] D. Ginzburg, S. Rallis and D. Soudry, The Descent Map from Automorphic Representations of GL(n) to Classical Groups (World Scientific Publishing Co. Pte. Ltd., Hackensack, NJ, 2011).
- [Har14] R. N. Harris, 'The refined Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups', Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2 (2014), 303–389.
 - [III0] A. Ichino and T. Ikeda, 'On the periods of automorphic forms on special orthogonal groups and the Gross-Prasad conjecture', Geom. Funct. Anal. 19(5) (2010), 1378–1425.
- [IY15] A. Ichino and S. Yamana, 'Periods of automorphic forms: the case of $(GL_{n+1} \times GL_n, GL_n)$ ', Compos. Math., 151(4) (2015), 665–712.
- [IY19] A. Ichino and S. Yamana, 'Periods of automorphic forms: the case of $(U_{n+1} \times U_n, U_n)$ ', J. Reine Angew. Math. 746 (2019), 1–38.
- [Jac04] H. Jacquet, 'Integral representation of Whittaker functions', in Contributions to Automorphic Forms, Geometry, and Number Theory (Johns Hopkins Univ. Press, Baltimore, MD, 2004), 373–419.
- [Jac09] H. Jacquet, 'Archimedean Rankin-Selberg integrals', in Automorphic Forms and L-functions II. Local Aspects (Contemp. Math.) vol. 489 (Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009), 57–172.
- [Jac10] H. Jacquet, 'Distinction by the quasi-split unitary group', Israel J. Math. 178 (2010), 269–324.
- [JLR99] H. Jacquet, E. Lapid and J. Rogawski, 'Periods of automorphic forms', J. Amer. Math. Soc. 12(1) (1999), 173-240.
- [JPSS79] H. Jacquet, I. Piatetski-Shapiro and J. Shalika, 'Automorphic forms on', I. Ann. of Math. (2) 109(1) (1979), 169–212.
- [JPSS83] H. Jacquet, I. I. Piatetskii-Shapiro and J. A. Shalika, 'Rankin-Selberg convolutions', Amer. J. Math. 105(2) (1983), 367–464.
 - [JR11] H. Jacquet and S. Rallis, 'On the Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups', in On Certain L -functions (Clay Math. Proc.) vol. 13 (Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2011), 205–264.
- [JS81a] H. Jacquet and J. A. Shalika, 'On Euler products and the classification of automorphic forms II'. Amer. J. Math. 103(4) (1981), 777–815.
- [JS81b] H. Jacquet and J. A. Shalika, 'On Euler products and the classification of automorphic representations. Γ', Amer. J. Math. 103(3) (1981), 499–558.
- [JSZ10] D. Jiang, B. Sun and C.-B. Zhu, 'Uniqueness of Bessel models: the Archimedean case', Geom. Funct. Anal. 20(3) (2010), 690–709.
- [JZ20] D. Jiang and L. Zhang, 'Arthur parameters and cuspidal automorphic modules of classical groups', *Ann. of Math.* (2) 191(3) (2020), 739–827.
- [Kem15] A. Kemarsky, 'A note on the Kirillov model for representations of GL_n (C)', C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 353(7) (2015), 579–582.
- [Kho08] M. Khoury, Jr., 'Multiplicity-one results and explicit formulas for quasi-split p-adic unitary groups', PhD thesis, The Ohio State University, ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 2008.
- [KMSW] T. Kaletha, A. Minguez, S.-W. Shin and P.-J. White, 'Endoscopic classification of representations: Inner forms of unitary groups', Preprint, 2014, arXiv:1409.3731.
- [Lap06] E. Lapid, 'On the fine spectral expansion of Jacquet's relative trace formula', *J. Inst. Math. Jussieu* **5**(2) (2006), 263–308.
- [Lap13] E. Lapid, 'On the Harish-Chandra Schwartz space of $G(F) \setminus G(A)$ ', in *Automorphic Representations and L-functions* (*Tata Inst. Fundam. Res. Stud. Math.*) vol. 22 (Tata Inst. Fund. Res., Mumbai, 2013), 335–377. With an appendix by Farrell Brumley.
- [Liu16] Y. Liu, 'Refined global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for Bessel periods', J. Reine Angew. Math. 717 (2016), 133–194.
- [LM15] E. Lapid and Z. Mao, 'A conjecture on Whittaker-Fourier coefficients of cusp forms', J. Number Theory 146 (2015), 448–505.
- [LR03] E. Lapid and J. Rogawski, 'Periods of Eisenstein series: the Galois case', Duke Math. J. 120(1) (2003), 153–226.
- [LW13] J.-P. Labesse and J.-L. Waldspurger, La formule des traces tordue d'après le Friday Morning Seminar (CRM Monograph Series) vol. 31 (American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2013). With a foreword by Robert Langlands [dual English/French text].

- [Mok15] C. P. Mok, 'Endoscopic classification of representations of quasi-split unitary groups', Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 235(1108) (2015), vi+248.
- [MW94] C. Mæglin and J.-L. Waldspurger, *Décomposition spectrale et séries d'Eisenstein* (Progress in Mathematics) vol. 113 (Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 1994). Une paraphrase de l'Écriture. [A paraphrase of Scripture].
- [Mül98] W. Müller, 'The trace class conjecture in the theory of automorphic forms. II', *Geom. Funct. Anal.* **8**(2) (1998), 315–355.
- [Ram18] D. Ramakrishnan, 'A Theorem on GL(n) à la Tchebotarev', Preprint, 2018, arXiv:1806.08429.
- [Sha81] F. Shahidi, 'On certain L-functions', Amer. J. Math. 103(2) (1981), 297–355.
- [Shi76] T. Shintani, 'On an explicit formula for class-1 "Whittaker functions" on GL_n over P-adic fields', Proc. Japan Acad. 52(4) (1976), 180–182.
- [Tad09] M. Tadić, ' $GL(n, \mathbb{C})$ and $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$ ', in *Automorphic Forms and L-functions II. Local Aspects* (Contemp. Math.) vol. 489 (Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009), 285–313.
- [Trè67] F. Trèves, Topological Vector Spaces, Distributions and Kernels (Academic Press, New York-London, 1967).
- [Wal03] J.-L. Waldspurger, 'La formule de Plancherel pour les groupes *p*-adiques (d'après Harish-Chandra)', *J. Inst. Math. Jussieu* **2**(2) (2003), 235–333.
- [Xue19] H. Xue, 'On the global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups: approximating smooth transfer of Jacquet-Rallis', J. Reine Angew. Math. 756 (2019), 65–100.
- [Zel80] A. Zelevinsky, 'Induced representations of reductive p-adic groups. II. On irreducible representations of GL(n)', Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 13(2) (1980), 165–210.
- [Zha14a] W. Zhang, 'Automorphic period and the central value of Rankin-Selberg *L*-function', *J. Amer. Math. Soc.* **27** (2014), 541–612.
- [Zha14b] W. Zhang, 'Fourier transform and the global Gan-Gross-Prasad conjecture for unitary groups', *Ann. of Math.* (2) **180**(3) (2014), 971–1049.
- [Zha18] L. Zhang, 'Whittaker-Shintani functions for general linear groups over p-adic fields', Sci. China Math. 61(1) (2018), 95–110.
- [Zyd20] M. Zydor, 'Les formules des traces relatives de Jacquet-Rallis grossières', J. Reine Angew. Math. 762 (2020), 195–259.